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CONSOLIDATED INCOME  STATEMENT  
 

 Notes 2007 2006
    
Interest income 14 8 522 115 4 621 577
Interest expense 14 (2 948 369) (1 373 039)
       
    
Net interest income  5 573 746 3 248 538
Allowance for impairment 8 (1 824 476) (664 918)

    
    
Net interest income after allowance for impairment  3 749 270 2 583 620

    
    
Fee and commission income 15 999 438 924 789
Fee and commission expense 15 (223 446) (159 199)
       
    
Net fee and commission income  775 992 765 590

    
    
Net gain on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss  65 076 70 143
Net foreign exchange gain  15 227 210 512
Net translation gain/(loss)  126 199 (89 212)
Gain on acquisition of subsidiaries  28 320 576 -
Other income  45 634 78 684
       
    
Other non-interest income  572 712 270 127
       
    
Operating income  5 097 974 3 619 337

    
    
Salaries and employment benefits 16 (2 808 057) (1 855 422)
Administrative expenses 16 (1 709 294) (1 148 485)
Depreciation and amortization  9 (262 913) (164 835)
Other expenses  (89 362) (147 975)
      
   
Operating expense  (4 869 626) (3 316 717)

   
   
Income before tax  228 348 302 620
Income tax benefit/(expense) 17 142 925 (110 879)
      
   
Net income  371 273 191 741
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 

 Notes 2007 
RR’000

2006
 RR’000

    
Cash flows from operating activities  
Interest and fees and commissions received  8 549 923 5 208 407
Interest and fees and commissions paid  (3 033 055) (1 334 744)
Net (loss)/gain on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss  (4 105) 116 816
Net foreign exchange gain  26 587 213 397
Other income  45 634 107 214
Salaries and employment benefits  (2 672 504) (1 917 133)
Administrative and other expenses  (1 863 471) (1 275 629)
  
Cash flow provided from operating activities before changes in 
operating assets and liabilities  1 049 009 1 118 328
  
Net (increase)/decrease in operating assets:  
Obligatory deposits with the CBR  108 925 (136 317)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  2 447 717 1 109 289
Amounts due from credit institutions  (8 235) -
Available-for-sale assets  (196 369) -
Loans to customers  (12 294 707) (8 900 329)
Held-to-maturity securities  - 8 954
Other assets   (274 073) (37 650)
Net increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:  
Amounts due to credit institutions  3 536 105 (1 723 711)
Amounts due to customers  8 626 230 4 573 171
Other liabilities  108 189 (69 967)
  
Net cash flows provided from/(used in) operating activities before 
income taxes  3 102 791 (4 058 232)
  
Income taxes paid  (105 387) (187 090)
Net cash flows provided from/(used in) operating activities  2 997 404 (4 245 322)
  
Cash flows from investing activities  
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 28 148 267 -
Purchase of tangible fixed assets  9 (1 668 906) (694 114)
Proceeds from sale of tangible fixed assets  9 21 869 19 169
Purchase of  intangible assets   (142 562) (141 555)
Net cash flows used in investing activities  (1 641 332) (816 500)

  
Cash flows from financing activities  
Shareholders’ contributions  3 515 000 -
Distribution to shareholders  (162 800) -
Debt securities issued  6 583 902 2 715 374
Dividends paid  - (135 488)
Net cash flows provided from financing activities  9 936 102 2 579 886
  
Effect of change in exchange rates on cash and cash 
equivalents  

(467 796) (477 612)

  

Net change in cash and cash equivalents  
10 824 378 (2 959 548)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 5 10 371 653 13 331 201

 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 

 
5 21 196 031 10 371 653
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  Share capital

Additional 
paid-in 
capital

Revaluation 
reserve for

property, 
equipment 

and 
intangibles

Revaluation
reserve for 

available-for-
sale assets

Retained 
earnings 

Total 
shareholders’ 

equity
  
Balance as at 31 December 2005 2 896 441 706 013 359 387 - 231 021 4 192 862
         
Net income for the period - - - - 191 741 191 741
  

Revaluation of buildings, net of 
deferred tax of RR 27 839 thousand - - 88 157 -

 
- 88 157

Depreciation of revaluation reserve 
for property, equipment and 
intangibles, net of deferred tax of 
RR 2 578 thousand - - (8 162) - 8 162 -
  

Total recognized income for the 
period - - - - - 279 898
  
Dividends paid - - - - (135 488) (135 488)
  

  
Balance as at 31 December 2006 2 896 441 706 013 439 382 - 295 436 4 337 272
  
Net income for the period - - - - 371 273 371 273
  

Net unrealized losses on available-
for-sale assets, net of deferred tax of 
RR 3 596 thousand   - - - (11 387)

 
- (11 387)

  

Revaluation of buildings, net of 
deferred tax of RR 30 006 thousand - - 95 020 - - 95 020
       

Disposal of buildings, net of deferred 
tax of RR 2 560 thousand - - (8 108) - 8 108 -
  

Depreciation of revaluation reserve 
for property, equipment and 
intangibles, net of deferred tax of 
RR 3 210 thousand - - (10 166) - 10 166 -
Share in investee’s changes in 
retained earnings attributable to the 
Group (Note 28) - - - - 12 698 12 698
  

Revaluation of investee’s intangibles 
attributable to the Group, net of 
deferred tax of RR 22 533 thousand 
(Note 28) - - 71 355 - - 71 355

 

Total recognized income for the 
period - -  - -  - 538 959
  
Shareholders’ contributions, net of 
deferred tax of RR 16 870 thousand 
(Note 13) - 3 568 422 - - - 3 568 422
  

Distribution to shareholders (162 800) (162 800)
  

  
Balance as at 31 December 2007 2 896 441 4 274 435 587 483 (11 387) 534 881 8 281 853
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1.  Principal Activities 
 
These consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of National Bank TRUST and its subsidiaries. The 
Bank and its subsidiaries together are referred to as the “Group”. 
 
National Bank TRUST (the “Bank”) is the leading company in the Group. It was formed on 27 November 1995 as a closed 
joint stock company under the laws of the Russian Federation and was named Bank MENATEP St. Petersburg. On 18 
December 2000 the Bank was re-organized into an open joint stock company. In March 2005 the Bank was re-named to 
National Bank TRUST. The Bank operates under general banking licence № 3279 from the Central Bank of the Russian 
Federation (the “CBR”), issued on 20 October 2006, and a licence for operations with precious metals from the CBR, issued 
on 20 October 2006. The Bank also possesses a licence for operations with securities from the Federal Securities Market 
Commission (the “FSMC”), granted on 27 November 2000, and a licence for custody services from the FSMC, granted on 7 
December 2000. The Bank was accepted into the state deposit insurance scheme in December 2004. The Bank accepts 
deposits from the public and makes loans, transfers payments in Russia and abroad, exchanges currencies and provides other 
banking services to its corporate and retail customers.  
 
The Bank has 60 branches in 54 regions of Russia. The Bank’s registered legal address is: Ulansky Lane, 24/1, Moscow, 
Russia, 107045.   
 
As at 31 December 2007 the Group is ultimately controlled by TIB Holdings Limited (the “ultimate parent company”), 
which in its turn is controlled by three individuals who have the power to direct the transactions of the Bank at their own 
discretion and for their own benefit. Those individuals are Ilya S. Yurov, Sergey L. Belyaev and Nikolay V. Fetisov. At the 
end of 2007 the Bank announced a buyout of the shares of the Bank’s ex-shareholder Artashes A. Terzyan. Terzyan’s entire 
holding was bought out by remaining three individuals. 
 
In November 2007 Merill Lynch bought effective control of 8.86% of the Group.   
 
Other minority shareholders control 0.65% of the Group. 
 
A list of subsidiaries of the Bank is disclosed in Note 27. 
 
 
2.  Operating Environment 
 
The Russian Federation has been experiencing political and economic change which has affected, and may continue to 
affect, the activities of enterprises operating in this environment. Consequently, operations in the Russian Federation involve 
risks, which do not typically exist in other markets. These consolidated financial statements reflect management’s 
assessment of the impact of the Russian Federation business environment on the operations and the financial position of the 
Group. The future business environment may differ from management’s assessment. 
 
 
3.  Basis of Preparation 
 
General 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRSs”). 
  
Basis of measurement 
These consolidated financial statements are prepared on the historical or amortized cost basis except that financial 
instruments at fair value through profit or loss and available-for-sale assets are stated at fair value, and buildings are revalued 
periodically. 
 
Functional and presentation currency 
The national currency of the Russian Federation is the Russian Ruble (“RR”). Management has determined the Group’s 
functional currency to be the RR as it reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances of the 
Group. The RR is also the Group’s presentation currency for the purposes of these consolidated financial statements. These 
consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of Russian Rubles, except per share amounts and unless 
otherwise indicated. 
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Use of estimates and judgments 

ent’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual 
sults ultimately may differ from these estimates. In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty 

 applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements. 
he accounting policies have been consistently applied. Changes in accounting policies as a result of revised accounting 

asis of consolidation 

ffectively commences until the date that control effectively ceases. 

pecial purpose entities  
es (SPEs) for the purpose of raising finance. The Group does not 
tities. These SPEs are controlled by the Group through the 

 obtain the majority of benefits of the SPEs, and retaining the 

nsolidation 
nsactions, and any unrealised gains arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in 

rrencies at the balance sheet date are 
anslated to the functional currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities 

rrencies, which are stated at historical cost, are translated to the functional currency at the foreign 
e date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are stated at fair value and whose 

 value is denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at the foreign exchange rate 

ange rates as at 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006, were 24.5462 Russian Rubles and 

ed to be hyperinflationary with effect from 1 January 2003 and accordingly no adjustments for 
ods subsequent to this date. The hyperinflation-adjusted carrying amounts of the 

on hand, Nostro accounts with the BR, Nostro accounts with other credit institutions and short-
rm deposits with other credit institutions with an original ma rity of less then 90 days to be cash and cash equivalents. The 
bligatory deposits with the CBR are not considered to be a cash equivalent due to restrictions on their withdrawability.  

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts. Although these estimates are based on managem
re
and critical judgments in applying accounting policies are described in the following Notes: 
- Loan impairment estimates – refer to Note 8; 
- Building revaluation estimates – refer to Note 9; 
- Taxation – refer to Note 17; 
- Assets and liabilities of acquired subsidiaries revaluation estimates – refer to Note 28. 
 
 
4.  Summary of Accounting Policies 
 
The following significant accounting policies have been
T
standards which have been applied retrospectively are described at the end of this Note. 
 
B
 
Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are those enterprises controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power, directly or 
indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an enterprise so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The 
financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control 
e
 
S
The Group established a number of special purpose entiti

ave any direct or indirect shareholdings in these enh
predetermination of the activities of SPEs, having rights to

ajority of the residual risks related to the SPEs. m
 
Transactions eliminated in co

tra-group balances and traIn
preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains except 
that they are only eliminated to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment. 
 
Foreign currency transactions 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the appropriate functional currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at 

e date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign cuth
tr
denominated in foreign cu
xchange rate ruling at the

appraised
ruling at the dates the fair values were determined. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the 
consolidated income statement. 
 
The official CBR exch
26.3311 Russian Rubles to 1 US Dollar respectively. 
 
Inflation accounting 

he Russian Federation ceasT
hyperinflation have been made for peri
Group's non-monetary assets, liabilities and equity items as at 31 December 2002 became their carrying amounts as at 1 
January 2003 for the purpose of subsequent accounting. Gains or losses on subsequent disposal are recognized based on the 
restated cost of non-monetary assets and liabilities. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
The Group considers cash C

tute
o
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Financial instruments 

which there is evidence of a 
; 

nated and effective hedging instrument); or, 
nated by the entity as at fair value through profit or loss. 

he Group designates financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition where either: 
the assets or liabilities are managed and evaluated on a fair value basis; 

ignificantly reduces an accounting mismatch which would otherwise arise; or 
the asset or liability contains an embedded derivative that significantly modifies the cash flows that would 

equent to initial recognition. 

 a net receivable position (positive fair value), as well as options purchased, are reported as an asset. 
ll trading derivatives in a net payable position (negative fair value), as well as options written, are reported as a liability. 

 through profit or loss; 
the Group upon initial recognition designates as available-for-sale; or 

ot recover substantially all of its initial investment, other than because of credit deterioration. 

ates as at fair value through profit or loss; 
the Group designates as available-for-sale; or 

ceivables. 

gh profit or loss. 

 incurred on sale or other disposal, except for: 
vables which are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method; 

es not qualify for derecognition, are measured at amortised cost. 
mortised cost is calculated using the effective interest method. Premiums and discounts, including initial transaction costs, 

 amount of the related instrument and amortised based on the effective interest rate of the 

 
Classification 
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets or liabilities that are: 
- acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term; 
- part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for 

recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking
- a derivative (except for a derivative that is a desig
- upon initial recognition, desig
 
T
- 
- the designation eliminates or s
- 
 otherwise be required under the contract.  
  
Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are not reclassified subs
 
All trading derivatives in
A
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market, other than those that: 
- the Group intends to sell immediately or in the near term; 
- the Group upon initial recognition designates as at fair value
- 
- the Group may n
 
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that 
the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity, other than those that: 
- the Group upon initial recognition design
- 
- meet the definition of loans and re
 
Available-for-sale assets are those financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale or are not classified as loans and 
receivables, held-to-maturity investments or financial instruments at fair value throu
 
Recognition 
Financial assets and liabilities are recognized in the consolidated balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases of financial assets are accounted for at the settlement 
date. 
 
Measurement 
A financial asset or liability is initially measured at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset or liability not at fair 
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or 
liability. 
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets, including derivatives that are assets, are measured at their fair values, 
without any deduction of transaction costs that may be
- loans and recei
- held-to-maturity investments which are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method; and 
- investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value 

can not be reliably measured which are measured at cost. 
 
All financial liabilities, other than those designated at fair value through profit or loss and financial liabilities that arise when 
a transfer of a financial asset carried at fair value do
A
are included in the carrying
instrument. 
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Fair value measurement principles 
he fair value of financial instruments is based on their quoted market prices at the balance sheet date without any deduction 

osts. If a quoted market price is not available, the fair value of the instrument is estimated using pricing 

here d
the disco t date for an instrument with similar terms and conditions. Where 

icing m

he fair value of derivatives that are not exchange-traded is estimated at the amount that the Group would receive or pay to 
 

editwo

ins an
 gain o e of a financial asset or liability is recognized as follows: 

a gain or loss on a financial instrument classified as at fair value through profit or loss is recognized in the  

a gain or loss on an available-for-sale financial asset is recognized directly in equity through the consolidated 

is 
recognized in the consolidated income statement. Interest in relation to an available-for-sale financial asset is 

r finan ss is recognized in the consolidated income statement 
en the  process. 

recog
 financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or when the 

cial liability is derecognised when 
is extin

purch

ense and is recognized 
 income statement over the term of the repo agreement using the effective interest rate method. 

 of the reverse repo agreement using the effective interest method. 

 the liability simultaneously. 

holder for a loss it 
curs be

financ
bseque  cumulative amortisation or the amount of provision for 

T
of transaction c
models or discounted cash flow techniques. 
 
W iscounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated future cash flows are based on management's best estimates and 

unt rate is a market related rate at the balance shee
pr odels are used, inputs are based on market related measures at the balance sheet date. 
 
T
terminate the contract at the balance sheet date taking into account current market conditions and the current
cr rthiness of the counterparties. 
 
Ga d losses on subsequent measurement 
A r loss arising from a change in the fair valu
- 

consolidated income statement; 
- 

statement of changes in shareholders' equity (except for impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses) 
until the asset is derecognized, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity 

recognized as earned in the consolidated income statement calculated using the effective interest method. 
 
Fo cial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost, a gain or lo
wh  financial asset or liability is derecognized or impaired, and through the amortisation
 
De nition 
A
Group transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset. Any rights or obligations 
created or retained in the transfer are recognized separately as assets or liabilities. A finan
it guished. 
 
Re ase and reverse repurchase agreements 
Securities sold under sale and repurchase agreements (“repo”) are accounted for as secured financing transactions, with the 
securities retained in the consolidated balance sheet and the corresponding liability included in amounts due to credit 
institutions or customers. The difference between the sale and repurchase price represents interest exp
in the consolidated
 
Securities purchased under agreements to resell (“reverse repo”) are recorded as amounts due from credit institutions or 
loans to customers. The differences between the purchase and resale prices are treated as interest income and accrued over 
the term
 
Offsetting 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated  balance sheet when there is a 
legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset 
and settle
 
Financial guarantees 
Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Group to make specified payments to reimburse the 
in cause a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. 
 
A ial guarantee liability is recognised initially at fair value net of associated transaction costs, and is measured 

ntly at the higher of the amount initially recognised lesssu
losses under the guarantee. Provisions for losses under financial guarantees are recognised when losses are considered 
probable and can be measured reliably. 
 
Financial guarantee liabilities are included within other liabilities. 
 

 11



National Bank TRUST   
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2007  
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Property and equipment  
 
Owned assets 
Items of property and equipment are stated at cost or cost adjusted for hyperinflation, where applicable, less accumulated 

epreciation and impairment losses, except for buildings which are stated at revalued amounts as described below. 

lease is stated at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value 
f the minimum lease payments at inception of the lease, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

s of ownership, 
 expe

 
valua

Building
moveme
directly 
statemen  item of 

uildings is recognised in the consolidated income statement except to the extent that it reverses a previous revaluation 

epreciation 
charged to the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the 

 premises 50 

d
 
Where an item of property and equipment comprises major components having different useful lives, they are accounted for 
as separate items of property and equipment. 
 
Leased assets 
Leases under which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. 
Equipment acquired by way of finance 
o
 
Operating leases, under the terms of which the Group does not assume substantially all the risks and reward
are nd over the life of the lease. 

Re tion 
s of the Group are subject to revaluation on a regular basis. The frequency of revaluation depends upon the 
nts in the fair values of the buildings being revalued. A revaluation increase on an item of building is recognised 
in equity except to the extent that it reverses a previous revaluation decrease recognised in the consolidated income 
t, in which case it is recognised in the consolidated income statement. A revaluation decrease on an

b
increase recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised directly in equity. 
 
D
Depreciation is 
individual assets. Depreciation commences on the date of acquisition or, in respect of internally constructed assets, from the 
time an asset is completed and ready for use. Land is not depreciated. The estimated useful lives are as follows: 
 Years 

Buildings and other
Fixtures and equipment 5-7 

Years 

 
Intangible assets 
Intangible assets, which are acquired by the Group, are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 
Amortisation is charged to the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 
intangible assets. The estimated useful lives are as follows: 
 

Software and licenses 1-10 
Customer relationships 5 

 
Intangible assets under development are not amortised. Amortisation of these assets will begin when the related assets are 

rvice.  

inancial assets carried at amortised cost 
 at amortised cost consist principally of loans, other receivables and unquoted available-for-sale debt 

vents) 

 issuer will enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market for a security, 
lating to a group of assets such as adverse changes in the 
hat correlate with defaults in the group. 

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for loans and receivables that are 
individually significant, and individually or collectively for loans and receivables that are not individually significant. If the 

placed in se
 
Impairment 
 
F
Financial assets carried
securities (“loans and receivables”). The Group reviews its loans and receivables, to assess impairment on a regular basis. A 
loan or receivable is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as 
 result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the loan or receivable and that event (or ea

has had an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the loan that can be reliably estimated. 
 
Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a borrower, breach of loan 
covenants or conditions, restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not otherwise 
onsider, indications that a borrower orc

deterioration in the value of collateral, or other observable data re
ayment status of borrowers in the group, or economic conditions tp
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2007  
(Thousands of Russian Rubles except otherwise stated) 

Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed loan or receivable, whether 
gnificant or not, it includes the loan in a group of loans and receivables with similar credit risk characteristics and 

pairment. This assessment has been made based upon historical patterns of losses in each 

oss is or 
ontinues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment. 

ent loss on a loan or receivable has been incurred, the amount of the loss is 
easured as the difference between the carrying amount of the loan or receivable and the present value of estimated future 

luding amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral discounted at the loan or receivable's original 

 some cases the observable data required to estimate the amount of an impairment loss on a loan or receivable may be 

 data relating to similar borrowers. In such cases, the Group uses its experience and 
dgment to estimate the amount of any impairment loss. 

t determines that the loans are 

mpaired, the 
pairment loss is calculated as the difference betwe ing amount of the investment and the present value of the 

e iscounted at the current mar rate of return for a similar financial asset. 
 

ll impairment losses in respect of these investments are recognized in the consolidated income statement and can not be 

ssed at each reporting date for any indications of impairment. 
he recoverable amount of non financial assets is t ater of their fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In 

a , the estimated future cash flows scounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
r assessments of the time value of m ey and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not 

enerate cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-

t exceeds its recoverable amount. 

t losses in respect of non financial assets are recognized in the consolidated income statement and reversed 
as been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. Any impairment loss reversed is 

ount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 

t is material, provisions are 
etermined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the 

d excluding 
ture restructuring) of the acquired business at fair value. Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair values of the 

si
collectively assesses them for im
component, the credit rating assigned to the borrowers, and reflect the current economic environment in which the borrowers 
operate. Loans and receivables that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment l
c
 
If there is objective evidence that an impairm
m
cash flows inc
effective interest rate. Contractual cash flows and historical loss experience adjusted on the basis of relevant observable data 
that reflect current economic conditions provide the basis for estimating expected cash flows. 
 
In
limited or no longer fully relevant to current circumstances. This may be the case when a borrower is in financial difficulties 
and there is little available historical
ju
 
All impairment losses in respect of loans and receivables are recognized in the consolidated income statement and are only 
reversed if a subsequent increase in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
loss was recognized. 
 
When a loan is uncollectable, it is written off against the related allowance for loan impairment. The Group writes off a loan 
balance (and any related allowances for loan losses) when the Group’s managemen

ncollectible and when all necessary steps to collect the loan are completed.  u
 
Financial assets carried at cost 
Financial assets carried at cost include unquoted equity instruments included in other assets that are not carried at fair value 
because their fair value can not be reliably measured. If there is objective evidence that such investments are i
im en the carry
stimated future cash flows d ket 

A
reversed. 
 
Non financial assets 
Other non financial assets, other than deferred taxes, are asse
T he gre
ssessing value in use  are di
eflects current market on

g
generating unit to which the asset belongs. An impairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount of an asset or its 
cash-generating uni
 
All impairmen

nly if there ho
only reversed to the extent that the asset's carrying am
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 
 
Provisions 
A provision is recognized when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable 
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effec
d
time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 
 
Business combinations 
Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. This involves recognising identifiable 
assets (including previously unrecognised intangible assets) and liabilities (including contingent liabilities an
fu
identifiable net assets acquired is recognized as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair values of the 
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National Bank TRUST   
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2007  
(Thousands of Russian Rubles except otherwise stated) 

identifiable net assets acquired, the discount on acquisition is recognized directly in the consolidated income statement in the 
year of acquisition. 
 
Share capital and dividends  
Share capital of the Group is accounted at cost adjusted for hyperinflation. The ability of the Group to declare and pay 
dividends is subject to the rules and regulations of the Russian legislation. Dividends in relation to ordinary shares are 

flected as an appropriation of retained earnings in the period when they are declared. Dividends that are declared after the 

ncelled or disposed of. Where 
ch shares are subsequently disposed or reissued, any consideration received is included in shareholders’ equity. 

in which case it is recognised in equity. 

eferred tax is provided, using the balance sheet liability method, for temporary differences between the carrying amounts 

d to investments in subsidiaries, branches and 
ssociates where the parent is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the 

erse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected 

hich the temporary differences, unused tax losses and credits can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent 

xpenses recognition 
nancial assets at fair value through profit or loss, interest income and expenses are recognized in the 

d and amortized to the interest income over the estimated life of the 

come from investments in companies where the Group does not have control or significant influence is 

re
balance sheet date are treated as a subsequent event and disclosed accordingly.  
 
Treasury shares  
Where the Bank or its subsidiaries purchase the Bank’s shares, the consideration paid including any attributable incremental 
external costs is deducted from total shareholders’ equity as treasury shares until they are ca
su
 
Taxation 
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the consolidated income statement except to the 
extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, 
 
Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period, using tax rates enacted or substantially 
enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous periods. 
 
D
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary 
differences are not provided for: goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that 
affect neither accounting nor taxable profit and temporary differences relate
a
temporary difference will not rev
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantially 
enacted at the balance sheet date. 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
w
that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 
 

come and eIn
With the exception of fi
consolidated income statement as they accrue, taking into account the effective interest rate of the asset/liability or an 
applicable floating rate. Interest income on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprises coupon interest 
only. Interest income and expenses on the financial instruments other than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
include the amortisation of any discount or premium or other differences between the initial carrying amount of an interest 
bearing instrument and its amount at maturity calculated on an effective interest rate basis. 
 
Loan origination fees, loan servicing fees and other fees that are considered to be integral to the overall profitability of a 

an, together with the related direct costs, are deferrelo
financial instrument using the effective interest rate method. 
 
Commission and other income are recognized when the corresponding service is provided. 
 

ividend income D
Dividend in
recognised in the consolidated income statement on the date that the dividend is declared. 
 
Staff costs and related contributions 
The Group’s contributions to State pension and social insurance funds in respect of its employees are expensed as incurred 
nd included into salaries and employment benefits. a

 
Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements unless it is probable that an outflow of 
resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. A contingent asset is not recognized in 
the consolidated  financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 
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National Bank TRUST   
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2007  
(Thousands of Russian Rubles except otherwise stated) 

Segment reporting 
The Group has elected to early adopt definitions and requirements included in IFRS 8 “Operating Segments”. 

 of a Group:  

e, and 
discrete financial information is available. 

sed disclosures in respect 

he amendment to IAS 1 

not yet analysed the likely impact of these new standards on its financial statements. 

ancial statements, and introduces certain other 
on of information in the financial statements. 

 
An operating segment is a component
-  that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses (including revenues and 

expenses relating to transactions with other components of the same Group), 
- whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the Group's chief operating decision maker to make decisions 

about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performanc
- for which 
An operating segment may engage in business activities for which it has yet to earn revenues, for example, start-up 
operations may be operating segments before earning revenues. Based of analysts of the requirements listed above the 
Management of the Group came to a consultation that it operates in one main reportable business segment (2006: one main 
eportable business segment). r

 
Changes in accounting policies 
As of January 1, 2007 the Group adopted IFRIC 9 “Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives” and IFRIC 10 “Consolidated 

inancial Reporting and Impairment”. Application of these Interpretations had not required increaF
of the Group’s financial instruments and the nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments. 
 

s at 1 January 2007, the Group adopted IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” and tA
“Presentation of Financial Statements - Capital Disclosures”. Application of the Standard and the amendment results in 
increased disclosures in respect of the Group’s financial instruments and the nature and extent of risks arising from financial 
instruments and increased disclosure in respect of the Group’s capital. 
 
New Standards and Interpretations not yet adopted 
A number of new Standards, amendments to Standards and Interpretations are not yet effective as at 31 December 2007, and 
have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. Of these pronouncements, potentially the 
following will have an impact on the Group’s operations. The Group plans to adopt these pronouncements when they 

ecome effective. The Group has b
 
International Financial Reporting Standard IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” (Revised), which is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009, specifies how an entity should present changes in equity not resulting 

om transactions with owners and other changes in equity in its finfr
requirements in respect of presentati
 
 

(Intentionally blank) 
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National Bank TRUST   
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2007  
(Thousands of Russian Rubles except otherwise stated) 

5.  Cash and Cash Equivalents 

ash and cash equivalents comprise: 
 
C
 

  31 December 2007  31 December 2006
   
Cash on hand 1 967 632 1 319 588
 
Nostro accounts with the CBR 4 780 421 3 579 753

52 164 53 889
ated A- to A+ 277 565 3 422

140 221 99 798

577
ot rated 272 606 96 029

278 661 676 415
ated A- to A+ 330 056 -

12 714 803 4 171 033

 
Nostro accounts with other credit institutions: 
Rated AAA 372 583 363 073
Rated from AA- to AA+ 
R
Rated BBB 
Rated from BB- to BB+ - 429
Rated B+ 4 753 7 647
Rated below B+ 212
N
Total current accounts with other credit institutions  1 120 104 624 864
 
Short-term deposits with other credit institutions: 
Rated from AA- to AA+ 
R
Rated BBB 
Not rated 4 354 -
Total short-term deposits with other credit institutions 13 327 874 4 847 448

    
 

Cash and cash equivalents 21 196 031 10 371 653

 
 
As at 31 December 2007 the Group had two borrowers (31 December 2006: two borrowers) with aggregated balances of 
short-term deposits above 10% of shareholder’s equity each. The aggregate amount of these short-term deposits was 

R 12 714 803 thousand (31 December 2006: RR 4 847 448 thousand).  

Interest rate, maturity, currency and geographical ash equivalents are disclosed in Notes 21-24. The 
estimated fair value of cash and cash equivalents is disclosed in Note 25. Information on related party balances is disclosed in 
Note 26. 
 

(Intentionally blank) 

R
 

analyses of cash and c
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National Bank TRUST   
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2007  
(Thousands of Russian Rubles except otherwise stated) 

6.  Financial Instruments at Fair Value through Profit or Loss 

alue through profit or loss comprise: 
 
Financial assets and liabilities at fair v
 
  
 

31 December 2007
 

31 December 2006
 

Assets 
Unpledged 
Debt and other fixed-income instr
  Government and municipal bo

uments 
nds 

1 307 715 4 635 915

e Russian Federation bonds 

Federal loan bonds (OFZ) 
Regional authorities and municipal bonds 8 717

-
666 953

490Ministry of Finance of th
    
 
Total government and m
 

unicipal bonds 1 5 3 316 432 03 358

 
  Corpora
Rated fro

te bonds 

- 214 562

m A- to A+ 
Rated from BB- to BB+ 

-
-

1
363 620
01 446

Rated B+ 
Not rated 558 676 163 945

    
 
Total corporate bonds 558 676 843 573
 
 
Equity investments 

ents 
oreign currency contracts 551 25

  

Corporate shares 
Derivative financial instrum

13 424 2 616

F
  
 
Total unpledged financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1 889 083 6 149 572
 
   
Pledged under sale and repurchase agreements   
Debt and other fixed-income instruments   
  Government and municipal bonds   

 bonds (OFZ) 1 353 214 112
Regional authorities and municipal bonds 449 631 -

      
   

Federal loan

Total government and municipal bonds 1 802 845 112
      
   
Total pledged financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1 802 845 112
      
   
Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 3 691 928 6 149 684
   
   
Liabilities   
Derivative financial instruments   
Foreign currency contracts (14 304) (2 087)

   
Total financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (14 304) (2 087)
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National Bank TRUST   
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2007  
(Thousands of Russian Rubles except otherwise stated) 

Federal loan bonds (OFZ) are Ruble denominated government securities issued and guaranteed by the Ministry of Finance of 
e Russian Federation, with maturities between 2010 and 2036 (2006: between 2007 and 2036). The annual coupon rates on 

egional authorities and municipal bonds are Rouble denominated securities iss f  Yama
ature in 2008 (2006: bonds of the city of St. Petersburg, the regions of  Yamalo-Nenetsk and Sakha-Yakutiya, with maturities 

n 2007 and 2014). The annual coupon rate on these bonds was 10% (2006: range from 9% to 13%). 

ederation bonds were US Dollar denominated bearer securities, which carried the 
of the Russian Federation, with maturity in 2007. The annual coupon rate on those 

b
 
C r denominated non-quoted bonds of a foreign company (2006: corpor

nds of large Russian companies), with maturity in 2009 (2006: with maturities between 2008 and 2018). The annual
06: 8% to 10%).  

orporate shares are mainly represented by marketable shares of a foreign company.  

y, currency and geographical analyses of financial instruments at fair valu through profit or l
d . The estimated fair value of financial instruments at fair value through t or loss is discl
N  related party balances is disclosed in Note 26. 
 
D financial instruments 

oreign exchange derivative financial instruments are generally traded in an over-the-counter market with professiona
on standardised contractual terms and conditions. 

he principal amounts of certain types of financial instruments provide a basis for comparison with instruments recorded on 
lance sheet but do not necessarily indicate the amounts of future cash flows involved or the current fair 
ments and, therefore, do not indicate the Group’s exposure to cred rice risks. The derivative 

vorable (assets) or unfavorable (liabilities) conditions as a result of fluctuations in market 
lative to their terms. The extent to which instruments have favorable nfavorable conditions an

us the aggregate fair values of derivative financial assets and liabilities can fluctuate significantly from time to time. 

(Intentionally blank) 

th
these bonds range from 6% to 10% (2006: 6% to 10%). 
 
R ued by the region o lo-Nenetsk which 
m
betwee
 
Ministry of Finance of the Russian F
guarantee of the Ministry of Finance 

onds was 3%. 

orporate bonds are represented by US Dolla ate 
bo  
coupon rate on these bonds was 8% (20
 
C
 
Interest rate, maturit

isclosed in Notes 21
e 

 profi
oss are 
osed in -24

formation onote 25. In

erivative 
F l 
market counterparties 
 
T
the consolidated ba

ruvalue of the inst it or p
instruments have potentially fa
foreign exchange rates re or u d, 
th
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2007  
(Thousands of Russian Rubles except otherwise stated) 

The principal agreed amounts and fair values of outstanding derivative financial instruments are set out in the following 
tables. These tables reflect the gross position before netting of any counterparty position by types of instruments. 
 
The outstanding deals with derivative financial instruments are as follows: 

 

 
 31 December 2007   
   
 Notional principal Fair values 
 Buy Sell 

Average 
rate Asset Liability

  
  Foreign exchange contracts    
    

 Euro 
 
251 532 thousand RR 

 
35.93 - -

US Dollars 

 
1.47 - (5 199)

  Spot deals - domestic conterparties 152 000 thousand 
US Dollars 

3 739 577 thousand RR  
24.60 551 (9 105)

   
  Spot deals - domestic conterparties 

 
7 000 thousand

   
  Spot deals - foreign conterparties 

 
31 500 thousand Euro 

 
46 325 thousand 

   
         
  Derivative financial instruments   551 (14 304)
       

31 December 2006 
  

Notional principal Fair values 
 Buy Sell 

Average
rate Asset Liability

Foreign exchange contracts      
 
Forwards - foreign conterparties 

 
121 806 thousand RR  4 625 thousand 

US Dollars 26.34 - (97)
 
Spot deals - domestic conterparties 

 
66 120 thousand  
US Dollars 

1 743 003 thousand 
RR 

 
26.36 - (1 990)

  
27 000 thousand EUR 35 577 thousand 

US Dollars 
 

1.32 25 -
 
Spot deals - foreign  conterparties 

 
46 000 thousand  
US Dollars 

1 211 231 thousand 
RR 26.33 - -

    
    
Derivative financial instruments    25 (2 087)
      

 
All the above contracts mature within 1 month (2006: 1 month) from the balance sheet date. 
 
The fair value of the Group’s position on derivatives was calculated as follows: 
 
• Forward foreign exchange contracts – based on the estimated RR/USD forward rates. 
• Spot foreign exchange contracts – based on the estimated RR/USD, RR/EUR and EUR/USD spot rates effective as 

at 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006. 
 
Information on Group’s exposure to risks associated with financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss is 
disclosed in Note 18. 
 

(Intentionally blank) 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2007  
(Thousands of Russian Rubles except otherwise stated) 

7.  Available-for-sale Assets 
 
Available-for-sale assets comprise: 

31 December 2007 31 December 2006
   

 
  

Corporate bonds   
Rated B+ 185 675 -

    
   

  

T 185 675 -
   

otal corporate bonds 

 
A lable-for-sale assets comprise US Dolla  eurobonds of Trust Investment Bank with maturity in 2009. The 
an  9.25%. 
 
In nd geogra assets are disclo  Notes 21-24
estimated fair value of available-for-sale assets is disclosed in he information o ted part a
di losed in Note 26. 
 
 
 

(In
 
 
 
 

vai r denominated
nual coupon rate on these bonds is

terest rate, maturity, currency a phical analyses of available-for-sale 
Note 25. T

sed in
n rela

. The 
nces is y bal

sc

tentionally blank) 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2007  
(Thousands of Russian Rubles except otherwise stated) 

8.  Loans to Customers 
 
Loans to customers comprise: 

 31 December 2007 31 December 2006
   

Commercial loans  
orates 5 263 466 10 193 213

eceivables  833
Loans to small and medium companies 3 009 618 543 820
     

 

Loans to large corp
Factoring r 4 060 -

 
Total commercial loans 12 333 917 10 737 033

     
  
Loans to individuals  

1 235 411 472 712
ortgage loans 614 263 32 190
ther loans to individuals 319 109 510 108

 

Consumer loans 13 806 444 6 794 461
Auto loans 6 788 581 5 668 245
Micro loans 3 257 990 1 719 427

redit cards C
M
O
    

  
Total loans to individuals 26 021 798 15 197 143

    
  

 
  
Loans to customers 38 355 715 25 934 176
Allowance for impairment  (2 266 142) (1 087 024)
  
   
Loans to customers (net of allowance for impairment) 36 089 573 24 847 152
      

 

Movements in the loan impairment allowance for the year ended 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006 are as follows: 

 2007 2006
 
Balance at the beginning of the year 1 087 024 883 179
Net charge for the year 1 824 476 664 918
Write-offs (784 063) (461 073)
Amounts recovered on loans previously written off 12 667 -
Acquisition of IFC TRUST 126  038 -
 
 
Balance at the end of the year 2 266 142 1 087 024
 

 

(Intentionally blank) 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2007  
(Thousands of Russian Rubles except otherwise stated) 

 

Gross amounts of impaired lo
overdue portions of loans. Con

ans provided in the tables below represent amortized cost and include not yet contractually 
tractually overdue balance f loans (net o pairment) are 

2.  

e provides information on the credit qual ommercial loans as at 31 December 2007. 

 Gross loans Imp Net loans Impairment to 
gross loans (%

    

s o f allowance for im disclosed in Note 
2

The following tabl ity of c

 

airment
)

 
Commercial loans individually assessed for impairment   

   
ans to large corporates         

ual impairment has been identified:         
4 402 646 (23 201) 4 379 445 0.5%

which no individual impairment has been
4 402 64

  
  

Lo
Loans for which no individ
 - Not past due 
Total loans for 
identified 6 (23 201) 4 379 445

 loans:       
e 645 632 ( 519 947

an 90 days 32 196 28 705
ys 182 992 (13 45 825
 loans 860 820 (26 594 47

0.5%
Individually impaired   
 - Not past du 125 685) 19.5%
 - Overdue less th (3 491) 10.8%
 - Overdue more then 90 da

otal individually  impaired
7 167)
6 343)

75.0%
T 7 30.9%
Total loans to large corporates 5 263 466 (289 544) 4 973 922 5.5%

      
ely assessed for impairment    

    
ctoring receivables         

2 924 866 2 834 085 
 722 651 700 222 

Overdue more then 90 days 413 316 (12 828) 400 488 3.1%
otal factoring receivables 4 060 833 (126 038) 3 934 795 3.1%

      
ans to small and medium companies         

e 2 951 427 (13 374) 2 938 053 0.5%
 Overdue less than 90 days 44 776 (6 882) 37 894 15.4%

 

    
 Commercial loans collectiv

 
Fa
 - Not past due (90 781) 3.1%
 - Overdue less than 90 days (22 429) 3.1%
 - 
T
    
Lo
 - Not past du
 -
 - Overdue more then 90 days 13 415 (6 305) 7 110 47.0%
Total loans to small and medium companies 3 009 618 (26 561) 2 983 057 0.9%

 
Total commercial loans 12 333 917 11 891 774(442 143) 3.6%
 
 

 
 
 

(Intentionally blank) 
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The following table provides information on the credit quality of commercial loans as at 31 December 2006:  

    

 Gross loans Impairment Net loans Impairment to 
gross loans (%)

 
Commercial loans individually assessed for impairment         
     

oans to large corporates     
Loans for which no individual impairment has been identified:
 - Not past due 

otal loans for which no individual impairment has been
9 839 970 (48 248) 9 791 722 0.5%

58 479 (25 816) 32 663 44.1%
42 802 (41 250) 1 552 96.4%

( 7
(

L
        

9 839 970 (48 248) 9 791 722 0.5%
T
identified 

dividually impaired loans: In         
 - Not past due 
 - Overdue less than 90 days 

 then 90 days  - Overdue more 251 962
353 243

186 730)
253 796)

65 232
99 44

4.1%
Total individually  impaired loans 7 71.8%

1 (

ly assessed for impairment 
  

ompanies   

tal loans to small and medium companies 

Total loans to large corporates 0 193 213 302 044) 9 891 169 3.0%
 

ans collective
 
 

   
Commercial lo       
        
Loans to small and medium c       
 - Not past due 527 146 (5 262) 521 884 1.0%
 - Overdue less than 90 days 16 674

543 820
(176)

(5 438)
16 498

538 382
1.1%
1.0%To

 
 
Total commercial loans 10 737 033 (307 482) 10 429 551 2.9%
 
 

The Group has estimated 
ans and based on its pa

loan impairment for commercial loans  an ana e future ws for imp
st loss experience for portf ios of which tions ent have 

ment allowance for the loan port lio for which no specific impa ment has been 
me lag of 1 mon  to ide ent after the loss trig

are secured by equipment, inventories, m hicles, real estate and other ral. 

impairment provision ple, to the extent that t sent value 
ne percent, the l ent allowance for co as at 31 

ecember 2007 would be RR 118 918 thousand lower/higher (31 December 2006: RR 104 295 thousand). 

 impairment allowance by classes of co ans fo ended ber 2007 a
ecember 2006 are as follows: 

 
Loans to large

corporates Factoring
Loans to small and 
medium companies Total

       

 
 loans fo

based on l
 no indi
ysis of th cash flo aired 

lo ol r ca of impairm been 
identified. In determining the impair

agement has assumed a ti
fo
airm

ir
.  identified, man th ntity imp ger event

Most of commercial loans otor ve  collate

Changes in estimates could effect the loan 
stimated cash flows differs by plus/minus o

. For exam
oan impairm

he net pre
mmercial loans 

of the 
e
D

Movements in the loan mmercial lo r the year  31 Decem nd 31 
D

31 December 2
(R

005 745 - - 745 346
ecovery of)/allowance for 
pairment (101 125) - 5 438 (95 687)
rite-offs (342 177) - - (342 177)

   
1 December 2006 302 044 - 5 438 307 482

Allowance for impairment 32 055 - 21 123 53 178
Write-offs (55 987) - - (55 987)
Amounts recovered on loans
previously written off 11 432 - - 11 432
Acquisition of IFC TRUST - 126 038 - 126 038
         
        

 346

im
W
 
3

31 December 2007 289 544 126 038 26 561 442 143
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Gross amounts of impaired loans provided in the tables below represent amortized cost and include not yet contractually 
overdue portions of loans. Contractually overdue balances of f allo pairm isc
22.  

 quality of loans to dividuals as at 31 December 2007:  
 Gross loans Impairment Net loans Impairment to 

gross loans (%)
      

 loans (net o wance for im ent) are d losed in Note 

The following table provides information on the credit  in

    
Loans to individuals collectively assessed for impairment  

11 4 (2 11
1 002 009 (126 331) 875 678 12.6%

 then 90 days 1 316 (61 7
13 806 (7 13 03

  
  

5 5
289 980 (38 932) 251 048 13.4%

1 291 869 (737 497) 554 372 57.1%
6 788 581 (808 804) 5 979 777 11.9%

    
  

3 050 (13 3 0
9 (22

 Overdue more then 90 days 108 341 (50 920) 57 421 47.0%
3 257 990 (86 736)

  
redit cards         
 Not past due 982 081 (35 436) 946 645 3.6%

1.0%

 - Not past due 313 142 (2 044) 311 098 0.7%
 - Overdue less than 90 days 250 171 31.6%
 - Overdue more then 90 days 5 71 (

otal other loans to individuals 319 109 (5 081) 314 028 1.6%
    
    

      
Consumer loans   
 - Not past

  
87 613

  
8 214)

  
 459 399 due 

 - Overdue less than 90 days 
0.2%

 - Overdue more  822 5 468) 01 354 46.7%
Total consumer loans  444 7

  
0 013) 6

  
 431 5.6%

    
Auto loans       
 - Not past due  206 732 (32 375)  174 357 0.6%
 - Overdue less than 90 days 
 - Overdue more then 90 days 
Total auto loans 
 
Micro loans        
 - Not past due  878  2

 520)
96) 37 582 0.4%

 - Overdue less than 90 days 8 771 76 251 22.8%
 -
Total micro loans 
  

3 171 254
  

2.7%
    

C
 -
 - Overdue less than 90 days 119 501 (23 764) 95 737 19.9%
 - Overdue more then 90 days 133 829 (87 499) 46 330 65.4%
Total credit cards 1 235 411 (146 699) 1 088 712 11.9%
          
Mortgage loans         
 - Not past due 608 393 (6 079) 602 314
 - Overdue less than 90 days 5 870 (587) 5 283 10.0%
Total mortgage loans 614 263 (6 666) 607 597 1.1%
          
Loans to individuals individually assessed for impairment        
     
Other loans to individuals         

(79)
2 958) 2 7597 51.7%

T
  
  
Total loans to individuals 26 021 798  823 999)  799

      
(1 24 197 7.0%

    
 

(Intentionally blank) 
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The following table provides information on the credit quality of loans to individuals as at 31 December 2006:  

 Gross loans Impairment Net loans Impairment to 
Gross loans (%)

          
Loans to individuals collectively assessed for impairment        
  
Consumer loans         

Not past due 5 933 910 (42 773) 5 891 137 0.7%
301 03 (46 343) 254 687 15.4%

en 90 days 559 521 (214 577) 344 944 38.4%
 loans (

 
  

Overdue less than 90 days 362 695 (46 784) 315 911 12.9%
ore then 90 days 910 079 (339 550) 570 529 37.3%

s (
 
  

 Overdue less than 90 days 8 954 (90) 8 864 1.0%
re then 90 days 3 843 (38) 3 805 1.0%

ns 
  
  

Overdue less than 90 days 23 857 (12 167) 11 690 51.0%
rds 472 712 (28 978) 443 734 6.1%

  
  

ns 

als individually assessed for impairm t      
  
  

Overdue less than 90 days 314 (212) 102 67.5%
4 16 (2 807) 1 358 67.4%

otal other loans to individuals 510 108 (7 349) 502 759 1.4%
 

        

 - 
 - Overdue less than 90 days 0
 - Overdue more th
Total consumer 6 794 461 303 693) 6 490 768 4.5%
    
Auto loans       
 - Not past due 4 395 471 (35 672) 4 359 799 0.8%
 - 
 - Overdue m
Total auto loan 5 668 245 422 006) 5 246 239 7.4%
    
Micro loans       
 - Not past due 1 706 630 (17 066) 1 689 564 1.0%
 -
 - Overdue mo
Total micro loa 1 719 427 (17 194) 1 702 233 1.0%
        
Credit cards       
 - Not past due 448 855 (16 811) 432 044 3.7%
 - 
Total credit ca
        
Mortgage loans       
 - Not past due 32 190 (322) 31 868 1.0%
Total mortgage loa 32 190 (322) 31 868 1.0%
          
Loans to individu en   
        
Other loans to individuals       
 - Not past due 505 629 (4 330) 501 299 0.9%
 - 
 - Overdue more then 90 days 5
T
     

      
Total loans to customers 15 19 (7 14 41

  
7

  
 143 79 

  
542) 7

  
 601 5.1%

  
 

The Group has estimated loan impairment for loans to individuals collectively ass  for impairment and loans to 
ssessed for impairment for which n ns of im as bee  based on it
on these types of loans, based on the ass h ed a loss after 6 

onths have past since the last installment due date. For impaired loans to individ als the Group has estimated loan 
pairment based on an analysis of the future cash f

hanges in estimates could effect the loan impairment provision. For example, to the extent that the net present value of the 
stimated cash flows differs by plus/minus one percent, the loan impairment allowance for loans to individuals as at 31 

December 2007 would be RR 241 978 thousand lower/higher (31 December 2006: RR 144 176 thousand). 

Mortgage loans are secured by underlying housing real estate. Auto loans are secured by underlying cars. Most micro loans 
are secured by equipment, motor vehicles and other collateral. Consumer loans, credit cards and other loans to individuals 
are not secured. 

 

essed
individuals individually a

storical loss experience 
o indicatio

um
pairment h
at overdue loans a

n identified
re consid

s past 
hi ption t er
m
im

u
lows.  

C
e
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Movements in the loan impairment allowance by classes of loans to individuals for the year ended 31 Decem
31 December 2006 are as follows: 

ber 2007 and 

 
Consumer 

loans Auto loans Micro loans redit cards
Mortgage 

loans 
Other loans 

individuals Total
       

C
to 

       
31 December 2005 

mp
50 927 79 617 - - - 7 289 137 833

airment 252 766 342 389 28 9 322 56 76
- - - 96) (11
       
       

Allowance for i 17 194 78 118 9 0 605
Write-offs - - (118 8 8 896)
  
 
31 December 2006 303 693 422 006 17 194 28 978 322 7 349 779 542

r impairment 931 111 648 848 69 542 117 721 6 344 (2 268) 1 771 298
(465 244) (262 832) - - (72

 
453 782 - -

         
             

Allowance fo
Write-offs - - 8 076)
Amounts recovered on loans
previously written off - - 1 235
      
 

31 December 2007 770 013 808 804 146 6 6 666 81 1 82
           

86 736
 

99 5 0 3 999
 
 

In December 2007, the Bank transferred loans to individuals, including auto loa  1 153 5 nd (31 Dece
06: nil) and consumer loans of RR 4 907 970 tho and (31 December 2006: nil), to its subsidiary RSCC No 1 S.A. (refer 

These loans are pledged by the Group under secured loan participation notes issued by RSCC No 1 S.A. As at 
 the carrying amount of the notes was RR 3  thousand ember 20 efer to Not

ued primarily to customers located he Russia tion, who  in the foll

31 December 2 7 1 December 2006
  

ns of RR 35 thousa mber 
20 us
to Note 27). 
31 December 2007, 694 202  (31 Dec 06: nil). R e 12. 

Loans to custome
onomic sectors: 

rs are iss within t n Federa  operate owing 
ec

00 3
 
Individuals 26 021 798 15 19

6 237 793 3 352 708
2 252 614 1 319 246

ssing 775 489 1 543 987
1 49

pharmaceuticals 05 4
35
47 72

nancial intermediaries 114 202 1 695 83
her 1 166 511 1 056 83

  

7 143
Trading enterprises 
Manufacturing 
Engineering and metal proce
Oil and gas 645 92 7 286
Chemical, petrochemical and 623 9 52 916
Transport 374 3 96 710
Construction 143 1 1 510
Fi 6
Ot 4

  
Loans to customers 38 355 715 25 934 176

llowance for impairment  (2 266 142) (1 087 024)A
  
   
Loans to customers (net of allowance for impairment) 36 089 573 24 847 152
      
 

As at 31 December 2007 and 2006 the Group did not have borrowers or groups of related borrowers with aggregated loan 
balances above 10% of shareholder’s equity each. 
 

As at 31 December 2007 the Group accrued RR 502 222 thousand of interest on impaired loans, before allowance for 

ended 31 December 2007 the Group did not obtain any assets by taking control of collateral accepted as 
curity for commercial loans (31 December 2006: nil). 

Interest rate, maturity, currency and geographical analyses of loans to customers are disclosed in Notes 21-24. The estimated 
fair value of loans to customers is disclosed in Note 25. Information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 26. 

impairment, (31 December 2007: RR 270 069 thousand). 
 

During the year 
se
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9.  Property, Equipment and Intangibles 
 
The movements of property, equipment and intangibles during the year ended 31 December 2007 were as follows: 
 

 
Buildings

d
other p mises

t
e ipment

Softwa
 and licenses lationships Total

Lan  and Fix
re

ure and 
qu

re Customer 
re

 
Cost/Revalued amount 

er 2006 31 Decemb
Additions 

1 008 995 270 844
534 540

939 503 299 820
622 522 511 844 142 562

cquisition of IFK TRUST - - 4 903 44 605 455 705 505 213
isposals (11 921) (809) (56 460) (20 527) - (89 717)

 257 -
on 

ildings  816) -
     

-
-

2 519 162
1 811 468

A
D
Revaluation 116 - - - 116 257
Elimination of depreciation 
revalued bu (21 - - - (21 816)

   
 
31 December 2007 1 714 037 4 575 399 790 466 460 455 705 4 840 567

      
80 1 

  
 
A
a

ccumulated depreciation and 
mortization 
1 December 2006 - 1 141 464 385 88 594 - 554 1203

Depreciation and amortization 
charge 22 035 521 176 937 63 420 - 262 913
Disposals (219) (55) (47 045) (20 527) - (67 846)
Elimination of depreciation on 
revalued buildings (21 816) - - - - (21 816)
        
 
31 December 2007 - 1 607 594

      
 277 131 487 - 727 371

  
 
Net book value 
31 December 2006 1 008 995 269 703 475 118 -

1 714 037 802 968 805 513 455 705
      

211 226 1 965 042
31 December 2007 334 973 4 113 196
  
 

(Intentionally blank) 
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The movements of property, equipment and intangibles during the year ended 31 December 2006 were as follows: 

Buildings Land and other Fixtures and 
t 

Software  
ces 

   

 
 

premises equipmen and licen Total 

   
Cost/Revalued amount      

648 392 61 765 763 323 166 973 1 640 453
3 064  557 41 555 835 66
- 85)  377) 56 07

 115 996
 

ldings 6) - - -  

  
  

31 December 2005 
Additions 261 49 219 213 1 9
Disposals (9 9 (37 (8 708) ( 0)
Revaluation 

n of depreciation on
115 996 

Eliminatio
revalued bui (16 88  (16 886)

 
 
31 December 2006 1 008 995 270 844 939 503 99 820 519 162

       
  

2 2 
 
 
Accumulated depreciation and 

ation   
- 1 516 364 257 71 871 437 644

16 886 299  647 20 003 164 835
- (3 280) (31 473)

uildings 6) - - - 
  
  

amortiz
31 December 2005 
Depreciation and amortization 
charge 127

(27 519)Disposals 
Elimination of depreciation on 

(674)

revalued b (16 88 (16 886)
 
 
31 December 2006 - 141 464 385 88 594 554 120

       
  

1 
 
 
Net book value   

r 2005 648 392 60 249 399 066 95 102 1 202 809
1 008 995 269 703 475 118 211 226 1 965 042

     

31 Decembe
31 December 2006 
 

 
As at 31 December 2007 land and other prem ses included assets under cons uction in the amount of RR 7 179 thousand

1 December 2006: RR 259 725 thousand).  
 
As at 31 December 2007 the gross carrying amount of fully depreciated fixtures and equipment that is still in use by the 
Group was RR 184 882 thousand (31 December 2006: RR 152 364 thousand). 
 
At 31 December 2007 buildings were revalued by the management of the Group based on the results of an independent 
appraisal performed by LLC “Bureau of independent appraisals “INDEX”. 
 
The bases used for the appraisal were the market approach and the income capitalization approach. The market approach was 
based upon an analysis of comparable sales of similar buildings. The following key assumptions were used for the income 
capitalization approach: 
 
• cash flows were based on a 1 year detailed projection, extended to the remaining useful life of the asset and using 

zero growth rate; 
• the net cash flows were capitalised using the rates ranging from 12% to 21% depending on the type of property and 

location of the building. 
 
The values assigned to the key assumptions represent management’s assessment of future trends in the business and are 
based on both external and internal sources of information. 
 
As at 31 December 2007 the carrying value of buildings, if the buildings would not have been revalued, would be 
RR 1 043 689 thousand (31 December 2006: RR 430 860 thousand).  
 
 

i tr 72  
(3
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10.  Amounts Due to Credit Institutions 

mounts due to credit institutions comprise: 

 31 December 007 31 Decem er 2006
 

 
A
 

 2 b
  

Vostro accounts 525 894 631 219
 029 494 610

eements  797 110
    
  

Term deposits 2 382
Repurchase agr 1 711

  
 

Amounts due to credit institutions 4 619 720
      

1 125 939

 
As at 31 December 2007 the Group h unterpart  aggrega nces abo of shar equity 

The aggregate amount of these deposits was RR 2 848 314 t ousand (31 December 2006: no s  counterpartie . 

nd geographical analyses of amounts due to credit institutions are sclosed in Notes 21-24. 
 value of amounts due to c dit institutions isclosed te 25. Th n on  party 

26. 

ers 

ounts due to customers comprise: 
 

mber 2007 31 December 2006
 

ad two co ies with ted bala ve 10% eholder’s 
each. h uch s)
 
Interest rate, maturity, currency a
The estimated

di
 fair

balances is disclose
re is d  in No e informatio  related

d in Note 
 
 
11.  Amounts Due to Custom
 
Am

  31 Dece
  
Current accounts and demand deposits 

3 728 038 3 440 689
 - Corpor 12 055 424

6 677 43 314 219
 - Corporate 9 204 995 6 432 081

 - Individuals 
ate 16 565 901

Term deposits 
 Individuals  - 1 0 8 

Subordinated debt 1 372 980 115 086
    
 
Amounts due to customers 43 038 867 34 867 976
      
 
Subordinated debt represents deposits of a foreign company with an aggregate nominal amount of USD 55 000 thousand 
(RR 1 350 041 thousand) (31 December 2006: RR 115 000 thousand) with interest rates ranging from 11% to 11.5% (31 
December 2006: 2.5%) and maturities between September 2012 and December 2012 (31 December 2006: April 2013). In 

he total amount of current accounts of a restricted nature included in amounts due to customers 

6 customer accounts included current accounts of companies affiliated with JSC “Oil Company 

ber 2007, the above mentioned companies were sold to state owned company “Rosneft” as 
 result of bankruptcy proceedings. 

ecember 2006: six customers) which are not affiliated with JSC 
Oil Company “YUKOS” with aggregate balances above 10% of shareholders’ equity each. The aggregate amount of these 

 

case of the Bank’s bankruptcy, liabilities under the deposits are repaid after settlement of all other liabilities of the Bank. 
According to the terms of deposit agreements, the creditors may not demand repayment of deposits before maturity.  
 
As at 31 December 2007 t
was RR 5 612 426 thousand (31 December 2006: RR 5 112 173 thousand).  
 
As at 31 December 200
“YUKOS” of RR 7 314 632 thousand, out of which RR 1 663 425 thousand were current accounts of a restricted nature. 
During the year ended 31 Decem
a
 
As at 31 December 2007 the Group had five customers (31 D
“
accounts was RR 6 848 014 thousand (31 December 2006: 6 701 075 thousand). 
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Amounts due to customers include accounts of the following types of customers: 

31 December 2007 31 December 2006
 
  
 
Private companies 22 38

20 40
3 973

Individuals 5 468
and local authorities 

  

22 853 543
11 754 908

State companies 
  

249 426 259 525

 
Amounts due to customers 8 867 34 867
    

43 03  976
  

 
Interest rate, maturity, currency and geographica yses of amounts due t  are disclosed in Notes 21
stimate air value of amounts due to customers is disclosed in Note 25. Information  related party balances is disclosed 

2.  Debt Securities Issued 

31 December 2007 31 December 2006

l anal o customers
 on

-24. The 
e d f
in Note 26. 
 
 
1
 
Debt securities issued comprise: 
 
 
 
Eurobonds 4 385 751 -

otes secured by the pool of auto and consumer loans 3 694 202 -
1 124 173 2 639 783

romissory notes and certificates of deposit 906 081 1 073 682

N
Credit linked notes 
P
 
 
Debt securities issued 10 110 207 3 713 465
 
 
In May 2007 the Group issued Eurobonds with a nominal value of USD 200 000 th n interest rate of 9.37

9 May 2010. 

roup issued notes (secured by the pool of auto and consumer loan ominal value of RR 3 6
ousand and interest rate MOSPRIME+2.75% with maturity on 12 November 2012. Refer t Note 8. 

ssued credit linked notes with a nominal value of USD usand and interest r
ith maturity on 19 October 2008. 

osed in 

3.  Share Capital 

s at 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006 the Bank had 294 538 047 ordinary shares issued, outstanding and fully 

 its shareholders which were recognized as 
dditional paid-in capital as follows: 

- a grant in the form of money contribution of RR 3 515 000 thousand; and  
- in the form of granting a loan to the Group at rates below market, resulting in a gain on origination of RR 70 292 

thousand net of deferred tax of RR 16 870 thousand. 

ousand at a 5% with 
maturity on 2
 
During 2007 the G s) with a n 99 000 
th o 
 
In April 2007 the Group i  50 000 tho ate of 9% 
w
 
In December 2006 the Group issued credit linked notes with a nominal value of USD 100 000 thousand and interest rate of 
9.25% with maturity on 21 December 2008, which were redeemed before maturity date, on 21 June 2007. 
 
Interest rate, maturity, currency and geographical analyses of debt securities issued are disclosed in Notes 21-24. The 
estimated fair value of debt securities issued is disclosed in Note 25. Information on related party balances is discl
Note 26. Information on covenants associated with issued debt is disclosed in Note 19. 
 
 
1
 
The share capital of the Bank has been contributed by shareholders in Rubles. Shareholders are entitled to dividends and 
capital distributions in Rubles.  
 
A
paid by shareholders and no preferred stock issued. 
 
During the year ended 31 December 2007 the Group received contributions from
a
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Dividends payable are restricted to the maximum retained earnings of the Group, which are determined according to the 

gislation in the Russian Federation.  

Income and Interest Expense 

2007 2006

le
 
 
14.  Interest 
 
 
 
Interest income 
Loans to customers 7 349 7 3 621 854

mounts due from credit institutions 796 032 320 558
50

A
Debt securities 376 333 679 165
 
 
Total interest income 8 522 115 4 621 577
 
 
Interest expense 

mounts due to customers A 2 020 377 1 247 203
ebt securities issued 8
mounts due to credit institutions 4

D
A

782 02
145 96

98 860
26 976

 
 
Total interest expense 2 948 369 1 373 039
 
 
Net interest income 5 573 746 3 248 538
 
 
 

(Intentionally blank) 
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15.  Fee and Commission Income and Fee and Commission Expense 

2007 2006
 
 
 
Fee and commission income 

740 706 755 862
ontractual penalties from customers 88 281 11 576
ental fees 4 43 
gency fees 40 640 69 141

agent functions 36 489 29 008

Settlement operations 
C
R 5 636 076
A
Currency control 
Guarantees issued 15 158 7 986
Other 32 528 8 140
 
 
Fee and commission income 999 438 924 789
 
 
Fee and commission expense 

182 236 150 079Settlements operations 
Agency fees 22 660 1 167
Guarantees received 6 659 11
Other 11 891 7 942
 
 
Fee and commission expense 223 446 159 199
 
 
Net fee and commission income 775 992 765 590
 
 
 
16.  Salaries and Employment Benefits and Adm
 
 2007 2006
 

inistrative Expenses 

Salaries and other compensations 2 372 115 1 557 448
Social security costs 416 548 287 641
Other 19 394 10 333
 
 
Salaries and employment benefits 2 808 057 1 855 422
 
 
Business development 418 451 328 703
Rent 366 968 274 442
Operating taxes 239 188 157 032
Communication 217 640 116 486
Stationary and inventory 99 060 67 119
Security 94 452 79 551
State deposit insurance scheme 76 798 52 938
Utilities 72 876 45 791
Other 123 861 26 423
 
 
Administrative expenses 1 709 294 1 148 485
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17.  Taxation 
 
Income tax (benefit)/expense comprises: 

2007 2006
 
 
 
Current tax (benefit)/expense  (8 5

provided last year )
(5 8

6 834) 125 54
Current tax over - (15 534
Deferred tax movement 
 

6 091) 86

 
Income tax (benefit)/expense  (14 92 925) 110 87
 
 

ussian legal entities must fiR le individual tax declarations. The tax rate for banks for p her than interest in
tate securities was 24% for 2007 and 2006. The tax rate for interest income on state securities is 15%. The tax rates for the 

aries range from 4.25% to 24% based on the jurisdiction in which they are located.  

 tax rate differs from the statutory income tax rate. A reconcilia  the theoretical in  
 rate with the actual income tax expense is as follows: 

rofits ot come on 
s
Group's consolidated subsidi
 

e incomeThe effectiv tion of come tax
expense at statutory
 
 2007 2006
 
Income before taxation 

tatutory tax rate 
228 348

24%
302 62

24%
0

S
 
 
Theoretical income tax expense at statutory rate 54 803 72 628
 
 
Tax effect of items taxed in different jurisdictions 

ax effect of acquisition of subsidiaries 
724 7 116

(76 938) -
tate securities income taxed at 15% (27 (42 964)
on-deductible expenditures, net of non-taxable income 31 587 

 -
5

T
S  377)
N 52 894
Release of provision for tax claims

rences 
(133 000)

Other permanent diffe 7 276 21 20
 
 
Income tax (benefit)/expense (142 925) 110 879
 
 

(Intentionally blank) 
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Deferred tax assets are the amounts of income taxes recoverable in future periods in respect of deductible temporary 
ifferences. Deferred tax liabilities are the amounts of profit taxes payable in future periods in respect of taxable temporary 

ties comprise: 

31 
cember 

Recognized
in consolidated

income 
statement

Recognized
in equity

31 
December 

2006

Recognized
in consolidated 

inco
statem

gnized 
 equity 

Acquisition
o

d
differences. Deferred tax assets and liabili
 

fDe
2005

me 
ent

Reco
in subsidiaries

31 
er 
07

Decemb
20

  
Tax effect of deductible 

mporary differences  
llowance for 

37 293 (24 228) - 13 065 (13 - - -
terest income accrued 34 341 (30 509) - 3 832 32 072 - - 35 904
xpenses accrued 36 000 (6 167) - 29 833 47 273 - - 77 106

33
80

ailable-for-sale assets - - - - - 3 596 - 3 596
9

 
  

te
A
impairment 065)
In
E
Adjustments to fair value - 574 - 574 2 859 - - 3 4
Tax loss carry-forwards - - - - 82 380 - - 82 3
Net unrealized losses on 
av
Other 29 500 (14 735) - 14 765 4 294 - (13 920) 5 13
 
 
Deferred tax asset 137 134 (75 065) - 62 069 155 813 3 596 (13 920)

      
 

207 558
   
 
Tax effect of taxable 

mporary differences  

- - - (72 84 - - 43)
evaluation of buildings (113 491) 2 578 (27 839) (138 752) 5 770 (30 006) - (162 988)

- (34 849) (23 596) - 15)

17 210 - (34 144) (9 0 - (118 595) 92)
 
 

te
Allowance for 
mpairment -i 3) (72 8

R
Adjustments to fair value (89 258) 54 409 (16 870) (75 3
Property, equipment and 

4)intangibles (51 35 53) (161 7
 
 
Deferred tax liability (254 103) 74 197 (27 839) (207 745) (99 722) 6 876) (118 595) 38)

       
 

(4 (472 9
  
 
Net deferred tax 
liability (116 969) (868) (27 839) (145 676) 56 091 (43 280) (132 515) (265 380)

                 

 
Tax assets and liabilities consist of the following: 
 
 31 December 2007 31 December 2006
Current tax assets 160 028 89 252
Tax assets 160 028 89 252
Current tax liabilities 199 667 305 921
Deferred tax liabilities 265 380 145 676
Tax liabilities 465 047 451 597
 
The Russian Federation currently has a number of laws related to various taxes imposed by both federal and regional 
governmental authorities. Applicable taxes include value added tax, profit tax, a number of turnover based taxes and social 
tax, together with others. Implementing regulations are often unclear or nonexistent and few precedents have been 
established. Often, different opinions regarding legal interpretation exist both among and within government ministries and 
organizations (like the Ministry of Taxes and Levies and its various inspectorates); thus creating uncertainties and areas of 
conflict. Tax declarations, together with other legal compliance areas (as examples, customs and currency control matters) 
are subject to review and investigation by a number of authorities, which are enabled by law to impose extremely severe 
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fines, penalties and interest charges. These facts create tax risks in Russia substantially more significant than typically found 
in countries with more developed tax systems. 
 
Management believes that the Group is in full compliance with the tax laws affecting its operations; however, the risk 
remains that relevant authorities could ng positions with regard t e issues and the effect could be 
significant.  
 

 particular, recently tax auth s cha eth  app y ban ct ses to 
e examined by courts and if tax authorities are successful in th dings, there 

r claims to be made to the Bank, in which case the Bank might not be able to e deferred tax 
osses carried forward recognized in this consolidated financial statements 

04 the  was e  litigation roc  with t thorities related to claims ag
ional ta d corres  fines for e t ount of R  249 thous d as the result o

o 2000, 20  2002. The Bank ppealed t aims in co . As at 31 em
tential tax liabilities of 5 749 th sand lation to t ms was recorded. D  2
 made by the tax authorities related  the 2002 tax peri R 216 000 ousand, RR 84

pired due t he claims lim ation peri , and RR 8 518 thou nd wa ut by th Group
t of these claims. 

he year ended 31 December 2006, RR 24 716 thousand of the above claims were paid out by the Group. No 
dditional provisions for potential tax liabilities were recorded in the consolidated financial statemen  the total 

tial tax li as at 3 ber 2006 c pr  315 015 thousand. 

uring the year ended 31 December 2007, RR 133 000 thousand of the above claims expired and RR 0 435 thousand were 
p. No additional provisions for potential tax liabilities were recorded in the consolidated financial 
lt the total provision for potential tax liabilities as at 31 December 2007 co prised RR 171 580 

ch represents the full amount of outstanding tax claims as a Dec 07. Management belie s th
im ntial tax  

  

anagement of risk is fundamental to Group’s business and is an essential element of Group’s opera ons. The major risks 
re tho  to mark wh d terest r urre , , li

 and operational risk. 

nt policies es  

e Group manages ri  through a t of policies and procedur  tailored to the Group’s risk profile and risk takin  activity. 
hese policies and procedures are aimed to identify, analyze and manage Group’s risk exposures, to set appropriate risk 

risk levels and adherence to the limits. Risk management policies and 
n the Group’s strategy, products and services offered, and emerging 

est practice.  

he Management Committee has overall responsibility for the oversight of t nt framewo
 risks and reviewing policies and procedures as well as approving si tly large exposures. 

ent Committee is responsible for monitoring and implementation of risk on measures and makin
ates within the established risk parameters. The Chief Risk Offi sponsible for the over

pliance functions, ensuring the implementation of common pri and methods for iden
naging and reporting both financial and non-financial risks. He reports  to the President of th

nd to the Management Committee. 

 take differi o interpretiv

In
c

oritie llenged m odologies lied b ks in respe of calculation tax los be 
arried forward. Currently this issues ar

is a possibility of simila
rom tax l

eir procee
utilize th

asset arising f
 
As at 31 December 20

addit
 Group ngaged in  p eedings he tax au ainst 

the Bank to pay xes an
ds o

ponding
01

th otal am
h

R 726
h

an f tax 
audits of the income tax peri
2004 a provision for po

f  and
RR 43

as a
in re

ese cl
hese clai

urt  Dec
uring

ber 
05, ou 0

 000 additional claims were
thousand of claims ex

to od of R  th
o t it od  51 sa s paid o e  in 

respec
 
During t
a ts. As a result
provision for poten abilities 1 Decem om ised RR
 
D  1
paid out by the Grou
statements. As a resu m
thousand, whi t 31 ember 20 ve at this 
provision is the best est ate of pote losses.
 
 
18.  Risk Management
 

M ti
faced by the Group a se related et risk, ich inclu e price, in ate and c ncy risks credit risk quidity 
risk,

 
Risk manageme and procedur

Th sk se es g
T
controls and limits, and to continuously monitor 
procedures are reviewed regularly to reflect changes i
b

T he risk manageme rk, overseeing the 
management of key gnifican

The Managem  mitigati g sure 
that the Group oper cer is re all risk 
management and com nciples tifying, 
measuring, ma  directly e Bank 
a

Credit, market and liquidity risks both at portfolio and transaction levels are managed and controlled through a system of 
Credit Committees and Asset and Liability Committee. In order to facilitate efficient decision-making, the Group has 
established a hierarchy of credit committees depending on the type and amount of the exposure. 
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Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that movements in market prices, including foreign exchange rates, interest rates, credit spreads and 

eptable range, while ensuring proper return on risk. 

ivity of the Group’s net income for the year and equity to changes in the market interest rate based 

equity prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its portfolios. Market risk arises from open positions in interest 
rate, currency, equity, and derivative financial instruments, which are exposed to market movements and changes in the level 
of volatility of market prices. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures 
within an acc

Overall authority for market risk is vested in the Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO), chaired by the President of the 
Bank. Market risk limits are approved by ALCO based on recommendations of the Risk Department. The Group manages its 
market risk by setting limits on risk measures in relation to financial instruments and portfolio size. 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that movements in interest rates will affect the Group’s income or the value of its portfolios of 
financial instruments. Interest rate risk arises when the actual or forecasted assets of a given maturity period are either greater 
or less than the actual or forecasted liabilities in that maturity period.  

The Group is exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on its financial position 
and cash flows. Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes but may also reduce or create losses in the event 
that unexpected movements arise.  

n analysis of the sensitA
on a simplified scenario of a 100 basis point (bp) symmetrical rise or fall in all yield curves and positions of interest-bearing 
assets and liabilities existing as at 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006 is as follows: 

 

 
31 December 2007 

 
31 December 2006 

 
 Net income Equity Net income Equity

  
100 bp parallel rise 35 348 35 348 32 189 32 189

(35 348)100 bp parallel fall (35 348) (32 189) (32 189)

  

 

Currency risk 

The Group has assets and liabilities denominated in several foreign currencies. Foreign currency risk arises when the actual 
or forecasted assets in a foreign currency are either greater or less than the liabilities in that currency.  

n analysis of the sensitivity of the Group’s net income for the year and equity to changes in the foreign currency exchange 
ember 2007 and 2006 and a simplified scenario of a 5% change in USD and 

Net income Equity Net income Equity 

A
rates based on positions existing as at 31 Dec
Euro to Russian Rouble exchange rates is as follows: 

 

 31 December 2007 
 

31 December 2006 
 

 

5% appreciation of USD against RUR (2 789) (2 789) 15 782 15 782 
5% depreciation of USD against RUR 2 789 2 789 (15 782) (15 782) 
5% appreciation of EUR against RUR (5 204) (5 204) (358) (358) 
5% depreciation of EUR against RUR 5 204 5 204 358 358 
 

For further information on the Group’s exposure to currency risk at year end refer to Notes 6 and 23. 

s in market prices, whether 
ose changes are caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or factors affecting all instruments traded in the 
arket. Price risk arises when the Group takes a long or short position in a financial instrument.  

 
Price risk 

Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of change
th
m
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Value-at-Risk (VAR) estimates 

g the Group’s results. The Group’s VaR model allows it to 

 respect of the Group’s 
al instruments at fair value through profit or loss as at 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006 is as 

  

In the assessment of market risk, the Group focuses on historic, as well as potential future volatility. The Group employs 
Value-at-Risk modelling for quantitative measurement of market risk and compliments that with stress and scenario testing. 
A VaR model estimates maximum potential loss that could occur within a certain timeframe with a specified confidence 
level. Like any model, VaR uses numerous and significant assumptions that differ from company to company. The Group 
regularly assess the relevance of these assumptions by backtestin
continuously monitor the Group’s overall, as well as specific levels of market risk exposure and its concentrations. Limit 
adherence is continuously monitored, and all excesses are communicated to senior management for review. 

A summary of the VaR estimates with a 99% confidence level over a 10-day holding period in
portfolio of financi
follows: 

31 December 2007 31 December 2006
 

Fixed income securities interest rate risk 24 368 33 293
Diversification (1 889) (12 141)
 
Total VaR 24 710 33 941

   

 

Although VaR is a valuable tool in measuring mark it has a number of limit  less liquid 
markets: 

 The use of historical data as a bas or deter re events may ompass al enarios, parti
those which are of an extreme nature. 

y holding period assumes that al ons can be l d or hedged that period. T
be a realistic assumption in almost all cases but may n case in situa hich there i

market illiquidity for a prolonged period. 

 The use of a 99% confidence level does not take into account losses that may occur beyond this level. There is a one 
ability that the loss could exceed the VaR.  

s in its market risk measurement due to inherent risk of usage of VaR 
escribed above. The limitations of the VaR methodology are recognised by supplementing VaR limits with other 

osition and sensitivity limit structures, including limits to address potential concentration risks within each trading 
portfolio, and gap analysis.  

ry nature of VaR model suggests losses that can exceed estim e Group stress teste  its market expos  
ith respect to exceptional market scenarios. sts provide an assessment of l uld arise in  

rtfolio weaknesses and protect against he results o testing are r  
ommittee. 

ss occurring as a fault by a bo r or counterparty heir obligation t  
oup. The Group manages credit risk based on the risk profile of the borrower or counterparty, their repayment sources, 

re to on balance sheet 

manages credit risk through a set of policies that define its standards for borrower evaluation, limits to allowed 
nd collection procedures. Apart from individual customer analysis, the credit portfolios are assessed by 

 Procedures for review and approval of loan/credit applications; 

et risk exposures, ations, especially in

is f mining futu  not enc l possible sc cularly 

 A 1 or 10-da l positi iquidate within his is 
considered to ot be the tions in w s severe 

percent prob

 VaR is only calculated on the end-of-day bases and does not necessarily reflect exposures that may arise on positions 
during the trading day. 

 The VaR measure is dependent upon the Group’s position and the volatility of market prices. The VaR of an unchanged 
position reduces if market volatility declines and vice versa.  

The Group does not solely rely on its VaR calculation
as d
p

Because the ve
w

ates, th s ure
extremeThe stress te osses that co

conditions, allowing it identify po  them. T f stress egularly
communicated to the Management C

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial lo result of de rrowe  on t o the
Gr
nature of collateral and guarantees, and other relevant information. The Group’s maximum exposu
credit risk is reflected in the carrying amounts of financial assets on the balance sheet.  

The Group 
exposure, a
Independent Risk with regard to their performance, economic capital, and risk concentrations.  

The Group’s credit policy establishes: 

•
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• Methodology for the credit assessment of borrowers (large corporates, SME and retail); 

sk Management for the Group Retail loans portfolio begins with initial underwriting and continues throughout 
borrower’s credit cycle. Retail credit applications are processed using scoring models based on statistical data accumulated 
by the Group. These models are essential to the Group’s business and are us ng, portfo
risk control, and allowances for l an impairment. The models are regularly reviewed against underlying ass mptions, and 

ta. 

nd Corporate Portfolio Credit Risk  

e commercial as well as Small and Medium Enterprise loans origination is based on analysis of an applicant’s financial 
As part of the overall credit risk evaluation each commercial exposure is as a risk rating followin

Group’s approved risk standards. These standards vary by product type, and inc de credit rules, and busin ss modelling 
ased on an entity’s financial statements.  

 scenario testing. Our VaR models estimate the maximum potential loss that could occur within a one year time 
i

cred

e

− r determining probability of future events may not encompass all possible 

le to raise sufficient funds allowing it to stay afloat and 

sure is dependent upon the Bank’s position and the prevailing level of volatility in financial 

 The stress tests provide an assessment of losses that could arise in extreme 
llowing it identify portfolio weaknesses and protect against them. The results of stress testing are regularly 
d to the Management Committee. 

t its financial commitments. Liquidity 

certain term and of different 
ly enhances profitability, but can also increase the risk of losses. 

• Methodology for the credit assessment of counterparties, issuers and insurance companies; 

• Methodology for the evaluation of collateral; 

• Credit documentation requirements; 

• Procedures for the ongoing monitoring of loans and other credit exposures. 

 

Retail Portfolio Credit Risk  

Credit Ri

ed in decision maki lio management, 
o u

tuned to more recent accumulated da

Commercial a

Larg
standing. signed g the 

lu e
b

 

The Group employs Value-at-Risk (VaR) modelling for quantitative measurement of credit risk and compliments that with 
stress and
hor zon with a 99% confidence level. The VaR model allows to monitor the Group’s overall, as well as specific levels of 

it risk exposure and concentrations. 

Lik  any model, VaR uses numerous and significant assumptions that differ from company to company: 

Use of historical data as a basis fo
scenarios, particularly those which are of an extreme nature. 

− A one year time horizon assumes that the Group is ab
continue its operations. This assumption is considered to be realistic in almost all cases, but may be violated by a 
prolonged and severe market illiquidity scenario. 

− The use of a 99% confidence level does not take into account losses that may occur beyond this level. There is a one 
percent probability that the loss could exceed the VaR. The Group accounts for this possibility by complimenting 
VaR calculations with the conditional VaR (CVaR). 

− The VaR is calculated on monthly basis and does not necessarily reflect particular exposures that may arise inside 
the reporting period. 

− The credit VaR mea
markets, particularly, the volatility of interest rates. The VaR of an unchanged position reduces as overall volatility 
level declines and vice versa. 

Because the very nature of VaR model suggests losses that can exceed estimates, the Group stress testes it credit exposure 
with respect to exceptional economic scenarios.
conditions, a
communicate

 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in raising funds to mee
risk exists when the maturities of assets and liabilities do not match. The matching and/or controlled mismatching of the 
maturities and interest rates of assets and liabilities is fundamental to the management of the Group. It is unusual for 
financial institutions ever to be completely matched since business transacted is often of an un
types. An unmatched position potential
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The Group’s Treasury Department maintains liquidity management with the objective of ensuring that funds will be 
ailable at all times at acceptable rates to honour all cash flow obligations as they become due. The Group’s liquidity policy 

 stable funding base comprising debt securities in issue, long-term and 
orporate and retail customer deposits, accompanied by diversified portfolios of 

respond quickly and smoothly to unforeseen liquidity requirements.  

 projecting cash flows by major currencies and maintaining the level of necessary liquid assets;  

ge of funding sources; 

rketable assets that can easily be liquidated as protection against any interruption to 

nd managed by the Treasury Department. Under the normal market conditions, 
iquidity reports covering the liquidity position of the Group are presented to senior management on a weekly basis. 
ecisions on the Group’s liquidity management are made by the Asset and Liability Committee and implemented by the 

asis of their earliest 
unted cash flow on 

ths to 1 year 5 years nominal amount

  

av
is reviewed and approved by the Committee and ALCO. 

The Group seeks to actively support a diversified and
short-term loans from other banks, core c
highly liquid assets, in order to be able to 

The liquidity management policy of the Group requires: 

•

• maintaining a diverse ran

• managing the concentration and profile of debts; 

• maintaining debt financing plans; 

• maintaining a portfolio of highly ma
cash flow; 

• maintaining liquidity and funding contingency plans; 

• monitoring balance sheet liquidity ratios against regulatory requirements.  

The daily liquidity position is monitored a
l
D
Treasury Department. 

The Group also calculates mandatory liquidity ratios on a daily basis in accordance with the requirement of the CBR. The 
Group was in compliance with these ratios during the one-year period ended 31 December 2007. 

The following tables show the undiscounted cash flows on the Group’s financial liabilities on the b
possible contractual maturity. The gross nominal outflow disclosed in the table is the contractual, undisco
the financial liability or commitment. The Group’s expected cash flows on these financial liabilities vary significantly from 
this analysis. 

The position of the Group as at 31 December 2007 was as follows: 

 Less than 
1 month

1 to 3 
months

3 to 6
mon

6 months 1 to 5 years More than Total gross Carrying 

outflow/
(inflow)

     

Non-derivative liabilities         
Amounts due to credit 
institutions 2 867 765 194 502 1 584 860 73 594 - - 4 720 721 4 619 720

nflow (4 862 919) - - - - - (4 862 919) (551)
4 876 672 - - - - - 4 876 672 14 304

Amounts due to customers 22 808 796 6 244 288 5 060 246 8 061 245 2 665 557 6 177 44 846 309 43 038 867
Debt securities issued 99 835 8 202 274 561 1 772 773 10 735 004 1 130 12 891 505 10 110 207

Current tax liabilities - - 199 667 - - - 199 667 199 667

Other liabilities 125 831 52 593 34 718 201 210 3 - 414 355 414 355

Derivative financial 
instruments 
-i
-outflow 

Total  25 915 980 6 499 585 7 154 052 10 108 822 13 400 564 7 307 63 086 310 58 396 569
 
 
 
Credit related 
commitments 5 568 890 - - - - - 5 568 890 5 568 890

 39



National Bank TRUST   
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2007  
(Thousands of Russian Rubles except otherwise stated) 

 

The position of the Group as at 31 December 2006 was as follows: 

)

 Less than 
1 month

1 to 3 
months

3 to 6 
months

6 months
to 1 year

1 to 5 years More than 
5 years

Total gross 
nominal 
outflow/
(inflow

Carrying 
amount

       
Non-derivative liabilities       

Amounts due to credit 
institutions 746 826 7 069
Amounts due to customers 22 894 825 3 151 976

- 398 552 - - 1 152 447 1 125 939
4 243 124 4 546 781 428 225 989 967 36 254 898 34 867 976

215 626 41 011 193 791 3 621 817 1 700 4 278 018 3 713 465

42 575 118 490 - 1 117 8 982 - 171 164 171 164

- - (4 010 855) (25)

Debt securities issued 204 073
Current tax liabilities - - 305 921 - - - 305 921 305 921
Other liabilities 

Derivative financial 
instruments 
-inflow (4 010 855) - - -
-outflow 4 012 917 - - - - - 4 012 917 2 087

 

Total 23 890 361 3 493 161 4 590 056 5 140 241 4 059 024 991 667 42 164 510 40 186 527
 
 
Credit related 
commitments 6 153 336 - - - - - 6 153 336 6 153 336

 

 
The total outstanding contractual amount of credit related commitments does not necessarily represent future cash 

t being funded. Consequently commitments listed above 
should not be treated as xp outflo

For further information on th exp  liqu k a  refer to Note 22.

Operational risk 
perational risk is the risk of loss resulting fro  inadequat or failed internal processes, people and systems, including 

ntegration, and external nts. The Group’s goal in operati  risk management is to keep that 
orresponding to the Group’s financial strength, characteristics of its businesses, markets in which 

petitiv latory en iron

p sk p m a s com ve pol n
a sound ll-cont  ope t. hieved ly  
arency of information, and effic rnal contr l. Addressing the scale of t p n
tends to branch  and includ s op  their ty xpenses rol, and gal r

ement 

 sets and monitors uirements for the Bank he lead operating entity of the Grou

The Group defines as capital those items defined by statutory regulation as capital. Under the current capital requirements set 
CBR banks have to  ra ita e s  capital ratio”

inimum level. As at 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006, this minimum level is 10%. The Group was in compliance 
ith the statutory capital ratio during the years ended 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006. 

he Group also monitors its capital adequacy levels calculated in accordance with the requirements of the Basle Accord, as 
ernation gence of Capital Measurement and Capital Standards (u dat 1

 the Capital Acco corporate market risks (updated November 200 , commonl kn

requirements, as these commitments may expire or terminate withou
 e ected cash ws. 

osure toe Group’s idity ris t year end   

O m e 
system conversions and i
risk at acceptable levels,

 eve onal
 c

it operates, and the com
 

e and regu v ment.  

To monitor and control o erational ri , the Grou aintains ystem of prehensi icies a d a control framework 
designed to provide and we rolled rational environmen  This is ac  main  by sound operations 
support base, transp
operations control ex

 
e

ient inte
erations by

o
pe, e

he Grou
isks. 

etwork, 
es cont le

 

19.  Capital Manag
 

The CBR  capital req , t p. 

by the  maintain a tio of cap l to risk w ighted asset  (“statutory ) above the prescribed 
m
w

T
defined in the Int
Amendment to

al Conver
rd to in

p
y 

ed April 
own as Basel I

998) and 
.  7)
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T
th

he following table shows the composition of the Group’s capital position calculated in accordance with the requirements of 
e Basle Accord, as at 31 December 2007: 

31 December 2007 31 December 2006
 
 

  
Tier 1 capital: 
Share capital 2 896 441 2 896 441
Additional paid-in capital 4 274 435 706 013
Retained earnings 534 881 295 436

  

 
 
Total tier 1 capital 7 705 757 3 897 890

   
   
Tier 2 capital:   
Asset revaluation reserves 576

mortised portion) 1 350 041
 096 439 382

Subordinated debt (una
 

115 000

 
Total tier 2 capital 
 

1 926 137 554 382

   
Total capital 9 631 894 4 45
      

  

2 272

 
Risk-we
Bankin

ighted assets:   
g book 45 3

rading book 2 505 214 4 714 834
80 197 29 690 026

T
 
 
Total risk-weighted assets 47 885 411 3
      

  

4 404 860

 
Total tier 1 capital expressed as a percentage of risk-weighted assets    
 (tier 1 capital ratio) 16.1 11.3
 
Total capital expressed as a percentage of risk-weighted assets   
 (total capital ratio) 20.1 12.9

      
 

The risk-weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of risk weights classified according to the nature of – and 
reflecting an estimate of credit, market and other risks associated with – each asset and counterparty, taking into account any 
eligible collateral or guarantees. A similar treatment is adopted for off-balance sheet exposure, with some adjustments to 

flect the more contingent nature of the potential losses. 

ntingencies 

re

The Group is subject to minimum capital adequacy requirements calculated in accordance with the Basle Accord established 
by covenants under liabilities incurred by the Group. The Group have complied with all externally imposed capital 
requirements during the years ended 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006. According to Eurobond issue covenants, the 
ratio of Tier 1 Capital to Risk Weighted assets should be not less than 8%.  

 

20.  Commitments and Co
 
Legal 
In the ordinary course of business, the Group is subject to legal actions and complaints. In addition, as at 31 December 2007 
the Group was engaged in litigation proceedings with tax authorities as described in Note 17. Management believes that it 
has made adequate provision in respect of these matters. 
 
Insurance 
The Group does not have full coverage for its premises and equipment, business interruption, or third party liability in 
respect of property or environmental damage arising from accidents on Group property or relating to the Group’s operations. 
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Until the Group obtains adequate insurance coverage, there is a risk that the loss or destruction of certain assets could have a 
material adverse effect on the Group’s operations and financial position. 

redit related commitments 
 commitments ensure that funds are available to a custome quired. In the norm l course of business, the 
commitments to grant loans at a specified rate of interest during a fixed pe e. Substantially

 that set out certain conditions including changes in market rates,  the interest rat
r the possibility to draw the loan could be cancelled. Therefore such undr  commitments w

eated as options issued by the Group to borrowers to obtain loans at specified interest rates. 

ndby letters of credit, which represent irrevocable assurances that the ll make payme
vent that a customer cannot meet its obligations to third parties, carry the same credit risk as umentary and 
ommercial letters of credit, which are written undertakings by the Group on behalf of a customer a horizing a third party to 

p up to a stipulated amount under specific terms onditions, are collateralised by the underlying 
ich they relate and therefore carry less risk than direct loan.  

he credit related commitments comprise: 
 

 31 Dece 31 Decemb

 
C
Undrawn loan r as re a
Group makes riod of tim  all such 
contracts contain clauses under which e could 
be reconsidered o awn loan ere not 
tr
 
Guarantees and sta Group wi nts in the 
e loans. Doc
c ut
draw drafts on the Grou
shipments of goods to wh

and c

 
T

mber 2007 er 2006
 
Undrawn loan

uarantees 
 commitments 

tters of credit 111 42 105 327

4 457 97
999 48

6 4 827 123
1 220 886G

Le
6
8

 
 
Total credit r
  

elated commitments, net of cash security held 5 568 890
  

6 153 336

 
The total outstanding co

quirements, as these com
ntractual amount of credit related commitments does not  represent future cash 
mitments may expire or terminate without bein  funded. Cons mmitments li

ould not be treated as expected cash outflows. 

of business, the Group enters into operating lease agreements for office eq nd premises. After
ents under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 

31 December 2 31 December 2
  

 necessarily
equently cre

h
g o sted above 

s
 

mitments Operating lease com
 the normal course In uipment a  

31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006 future minimum paym
 

  007 006
 
Non later than 1 year 198 287 205 417
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 330 416 339 919
Later than 5 years 139 993 130 421

    
 
Total 668 696 675 757
    
 
During the current year RR 366 968 thousand was recognised as an expense in the consolidated income statement in respect 

f operating leases (2006: RR 274 442 thousand). 

(Intentionally blank) 

o
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 42



National Bank TRUST   
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2007  
(Thousands of Russian Rubles except otherwise stated) 

21.  Average Effective Interest Rates 

he table below displays the Group’s average effective interest rates T on its interest bearing assets and liabilities as at 
cember 2006. These interest rates are an approximation of the yields to maturity of financial 31 December 2007 and 31 De

assets and liabilities.  

               31 December 2007             31 December 2006 
 

Rubles 
Freely 

convertible Rubles 
Freely 

convertible 
     
Cash and cash equivalents/Short-term deposits with credit institutions 9.3% 9.0% 7.0% 5.5% 

5.8% 6.0% 4.6% 
customers/Term deposits 10.4% 8.8% 10.3% 8.4% 

- 11.2% 2.5% - 
Debt securities issued 10.3% 9.7% 8.3% 9.2% 
   

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 6.2% 9.0% 6.7% 5.6% 
Amounts due from credit institutions - 3.9% - - 
Available-for-sale assets - 9.3% - - 
Loans to customers 24.2% 16.2% 23.5% 12.5% 
    
Amounts due to credit institutions/Term deposits 9.1%
Amounts due to 
Amounts due to customers/Subordinated debt 

  

 

(Intentionally blank) 
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22.  Maturity Analysis 
 
The following table show assets and liabilities of the Group by their remaining contractual maturity as at 31 December 2007, 
with the exception of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, which are shown in the category “Less than 1 
month” based on the fact that the Group’s management believes that all of these financial instruments at fair value through 

ofit or loss could be liquidated within one month in normal cou
 

Less than 1 to 3 3 months
to 1 ye

1 to 5
years

Over 5
years

e/
No stated 

 Total
    

pr rse of business. 

 On demand 1 month months ar

Overdu

maturity
    
Assets  

7 868 156 11 522 189 1 805 686 - - - 21 196 031
ith 

- 447 041 187 718 31 577 83 - 666 419

- - - 24 3 691 928

- - - 13 5 9 676  
le-for-sale assets - - - - 185 675 - - 185 675

oans to customers  3 871 166 5 211 902 10 460 820 14 010 966 741 264 1 793 455 36 089 573
Tax assets - - - - - 160 028
Property, equipment and 

tangibles - - - - - - 4 113 196 4 113 196
ther assets 1 218 566 447 112 556 112 600 14 607 9 608 1 244 818 280

  
     

Cash and cash equivalents -
O
the CBR 

bligatory deposits w
- 

Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss - 3 678 504
Amounts due from credit 

- 13 4

institutions 47 23 223
Availab
L

- 160 028

in
O
 
 
Total assets 7 869 374 19 638 306 7 577 185 10 934 713 14 252 501 750 955 5 921 319 66 944 353

               
  

  
 
Liabilities   

inancial liabilities at fair 
 profit or loss 14 304 - - - - - - 14 304

mounts due to credit 
institutions 525 893 2 316 877 158 800 1 618 150 - - - 4 619 720
Amounts due to customers 15 783 462 6 948 203 6 139 270 12 123 234 2 039 331 5 367 43 038 867
Debt securities issued 55 869 42 773 8 111 1 907 686 8 095 362 406 - 10 110 207
Tax liabilities - - - 199 667 - - 265 380 465 047
Other liabilities 29 217 96 614 52 593 235 928 3 - - 414 355
         
      

F
value through
A

Total liabilities 16 408 745 9 404 467 6 358 774 16 084 665 10 134 696 5 773 265 380 58 662 500
            
   
Net position (8 539 371) 10 233 839 1 218 411 (5 149 952) 4 117 805 745 182 5 655 939 8 281 853
            
   
Accumulated liquidity 
gap (8 539 371) 1 694 468 2 912 879 (2 237 073) 1 880 732 2 625 914 8 281 853 -
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The following table shows assets and liabilities by remaining contractual maturity dates as at 31 December 2006: 

 

 

 On demand
Less than 

1 month
1 to 3 

months
3 months
to 1 year

1 to 5
years

Over 5 
years 

Overdue/ 
No stated 
maturity Total

Assets 
   
Cash and cash equivalents 5 524 205 10 371 653
Obligatory deposits with 

e CBR 77
al assets at fair 

2 616

- 1 422 080 3 794 851 11 181 448 7 554 862 299 868 594 043 24 847 152
89 252

- 1 965 042 1 9
252 84 83 649 94 986 3 776 8 985

4 847 448

-

-

577 454

-

185 015

-

5 782

- 
 

7 093 

-

-th
F

 
- 5 344

inanci
value through profit or 
loss  

 
- 6 147 068 - - -

 
- 6 149 684

Amounts due from credit 
institutions 
Loans to customers 
Tax assets 

 
- - - 5 312 9 676 - - 14 988

- - - - - - 89 252
Property, equipment and 
intangible - - - - - 65 042
Other assets - 2 12 147  456 385
       
       
Total assets 
 

5 524 205 12 669 438 4 455 954 11 556 013 7 582 467 310 737 2 570 686 44 669 500
      

       
Liabilities     

inancial liabilities at fair 
 profit or loss 
 to credit 

ions 631 219 115 395 7 000 372 325 - - - 1 125 939
e to customers 19 979 300 2 909 629 3 079 754 8 320 290 260 031 318 972 - 34 867 976

59 551 144 048 212 632 224 463 3 072 011 760 - 3 713 465
- - 305 921 - - 145 676 451 597

40 851 118 490 1 117 8 982 1

  
F
value through

mounts due

 
- 2 087 - - -

 
- - 2 087

A
institut
A

  

mounts du
Debt securit

 
ies issued 

Tax liabilities 
Other liabilities 

 
- 

1 724 
 

- - 71 164
 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

Total liabilities 20 671 794 3 212 010 3 417 876 9 224 116 3 341 024 31 145 6769 732 40 332 228
       
      
Net position (15 14 9 4 1 0 2 4 241 44 (8 995 2 425 010 4 

  

7 589) 57 428 38 078 331 897 3 ) 337 272
      

    
Accumulated liq
ap 

uidity 
(1 (5 (4 ( 1 91 4 g

 
5 147 589)  690 161)  652 083) 2 320 186) 1 921 257 2 262 

 
337 272 - 

 
Due to the fact that substantially all the finan ial instrum s of the roup are fi ed rated c tracts, these remaining 
ontractual maturity dates also represent the contractual interest rate repricing dates (refer to Note 1

amounts in the tables ese g f nd do no
clude future interest payments. 

(Intentionally blank) 

c ent G x on
c 8).  

The  above repr nt carryin amounts o  the assets and liabilities as at the reporting date a t 
in
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The following table shows remaining contractual maturity of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of the Group 
s at 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006: 

 

ecemb ecembe
  

a

  31 D er 2007 31 D r 2006
 
On demand 

5

4
1 934 32 1 805 062
1 285 2

13 424

- -
Less than 1 month 51 25
1 to 3 months 
3 months 

- -
to 1 year 

1 to 5 years 
Over 5 years 

58 348 5 488
8

77 4 336 493
2 616No maturity 

    
 
Financial assets at fair v
  

alue through profit or loss 3 691 9 6 28 149 684
  

 
 

(In ally b
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

tention lank)  
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23.  Currency Analysis 

The following table shows the currency structure of assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2007: 

Rubles
 

Foreign currencies Total
   
Assets 
Cash and cas

 
13 895 900 7 300 21 196 0

 with the CBR 666 419 666 4
 at fair value through profit or loss  3 119 278 572 65 3 691 92

redit institutions 9 676 2
r-sale assets -

mers 35 127 631 3
ts 4 870 442 2 5 09

    
  

  
h equivalents 

Obligatory deposits
13

-
1 3

19
1

Financial assets 0 8
Amounts due from c 13 547 3 223
Available-fo 185 675 185 675
Loans to custo 961 942 6 089 573
All other asse 21 062 1 504
  
 

 

Total assets 57 689 346 9 255 007 66 944 353
    
  

    
  
Liabilities    

inancial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  9 105 5 199 14 304
mounts due to credit institutions 2 1 068 768 4 619 720

Amounts due to customers 9 6 871 768 43 038 867
Debt securities issued 4 600 283 5 509 924 10 110 207
All other liabilities 837 142 42 260 879 402
 
    

F
A 3 550 95

36 167 09

Total liabilities 45 164 581 13 497 919 58 662 500
       
    

Net balance sheet position 12 524 765 (4 242 912) 8 281 853
Less: derivatives financial assets - (551) (551)
Add: derivatives financial liabilities 9 105 5 199 14 304

    
    

Net balance sheet position (net of derivatives) 12 533 870 (4 238 264) 8 295 606
    
    

Net off-balance sheet position (3 991 109) 3 977 356 (13 753)
 
 

Total position 8 542 761 (260 908) 8 281 853
 

 

(Intentionally blank) 
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The following table shows the currency structure of assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2006: 

cies Total
  

 
Rubles Foreign curren

 
Assets  

cash equivalents 3 967 581 10 371 653
- 

loss   147 110 74 
14 988 - 

 180 408 44 24
 424 585 94 2 5

  
  

 
Cash and 6 404 072
Obligatory deposits with the CBR 
Financial assets at fair valu

775 344 775 344
6 149 684e through profit or 

Amounts due from credit institutio
6 2 5

ns 
Loans to customers 

14 988
23 1 666 7  847 152

All other assets 2 86 0 10 679

  
  
Total assets 38 946 507 5 722 993 44 669 500

   
  

 
  
Liabilities    

liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 1 990 97 2 087
ue to credit institutions 704 419 1 125 939

 267 457 19 34 86
 026 871 94 3
610 144 17 

  
  

Financial 
Amounts d 421 520
Amounts due to customers 30 4 600 5 7 976
Debt securities issued 1 2 686 5  713 465
All other liabilities 12 6 622 761
  
  
Total liabilities 32 327 982 8 004 246 40 332 228

   
  

 
  
Net balance sheet position 6 618 525 (2 281 253) 4 337 272

ss: derivatives financial assets - (25)
abilities 1 990 97 

  
 

Le (25) 
Add: derivatives financial li 2 087

  
 
Net balance sheet position (net of derivatives) (2 281 181) 4 339 334

  
 

6 620 515
  

 
Net off-balance sheet position (2 832 428) 2 830 366 (2 062)
    

    
Total position 3 788 088 549 184 4 337 272
    

 
 

(Intentionally blank) 
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24.  Geographical Concentration 
 
The geographical concentration of the Group’s assets and liabilities as at 31 Decem

Russia
CIS** and other

  

ber 2007 is set out below: 
 
 

OECD* 
 

countries Total 
  

Assets  
7 036 912 13 8 266 92 21 1

ith the CBR 666 419
t fair value through profit or loss  3 678 504

Amounts due from credit institutions 9 676 13 547 23 223
le-for-sale assets 185 675 185 67

35 588 983
s 4 919 890

  

   
Cash and cash equivalents 92 197 2 96 031
Obligatory deposits w - - 666 419
Financial assets a 13 424 - 3 691 928

- 
- Availab - 5

Loans to customers 
All other asset

- 500 590 
171 614 

36 089 57
5 091 504

3
-

    
Total assets 52 086 059 13 919 16 939 126 66 944 358 3
  
  
Liabilities 

ir va
 

Financial liabilities at fa
it in

lue through profit or loss 14 304
stitutions 2 296 900

mers 39 001 180 1 2 3 43
ities issued 179 038 9 205 50 725 660 10 110 20

879 402

-
2 

- 14 304
4 Amounts due to cred

mounts due to custo
322 721

 650 25
99 

87 428 
619 720

 038 86A 9 7
Debt secur
All oth

9
-

7
2er liabilities - 879 40

 
 

 
 

Total liabilities 42 370 824 1 5
 

3 178 489 3 113 187 8 662 500
     
  
Net osition  p 9 715 235 74 (2 174 0 8 280 679 61) 1 853

 
 

OECD - Organisation for economic co-ope* ration and developm t. 
 

 CIS - Commonwealth of independent states. 

 
(Intentionally blank) 

en
**
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The geographical concentration of the Group’s assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2006 is set out below: 

Russia OECD* countries Total 
   

 
 CIS** and other 

  
Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 5 066 56 5 304 516 57 10 371 65

ry deposits with the CBR 775 34 775 34
through profit or loss  

s 
2 12 61 2

181 81

    
5 2 3

Obligato 4 - - 4
Financial assets at fair value 6 147 601 2 083 - 6 149 684
Amounts due from credit institution 14 988 - - 14 988
Loans to customers 4 834 537

2 32
- 5 4 847 152

2 5All other assets 8 862 - 7 10 679
     
     
Total assets 3 5 306 59 49 167 897 9 195 004 4 669 500
     
     
Liabilities     
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 2 087 - 2 087

e to credit institutions 749 673 374 249 2 017 1 125 939
33 9 30 17 920 98 34 8

490 5

- 
Amounts du  
Amounts due to customers 16 813 6 7  67 976
Debt securities issued 583 091 2 639 783 91 3 713 465
All other liabilities 622 761 - - 622 761
     
     
Total liabilities 35 874 425 3 044 208 1 413  595 40 332 228

   
 

  
     
Net position 3 293 472 2 262 391 (1

 
 218 591) 4 337 272

 
 
 

5.  Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

d be exchanged in a current transaction between 
h transaction, other than in forced or liquidation sale. As no readily available 

arket exists for a large part of the Group’s financial instrum nts, judgment is necessary in arriving at fair value, based on 
current economic conditions and the specific risks strument. The estimates presented herein are not 
necessarily indicative of the amounts the Group co  exchange from the sale of its full holdings of a 
particular instrument.  
 
The following table summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial assets and liabilities: 
 
        31 December 2007  

 
     31 December 2006 

 Carrying 
amount Fair value 

Carrying 
amount Fair value 

2
 

h the instrument coulFair value is defined as the amount at whic
nowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s lengtk

m e
 attributable to the in
uld realize in a market

     
Cash and cash equivalents 21 196 031 21 196 031 10 371 653 10 371 653 
Obligatory deposits with CBR 666 419 666 419 775 344 775 344 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 3 691 928 3 691 928 6 149 684 6 149 684 
Amounts due from credit institutions 23 223 23 223 14 988 14 988 
Available-for-sale assets 185 675 185 675 - - 
Loans to customers 36 089 573 36 089 573 24 847 152 24 847 152 
     
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss 14 304 14 304 2 087 2 087 
Amounts due to credit institutions 4 619 720 4 619 720 1 125 939 1 125 939 
Amounts due to customers 43 038 867 43 038 867 34 867 976 34 867 976 
Debt securities issued 10 110 207 9 805 612 3 713 465 3 713 465 
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The following methods and assumptions are used by the Group to estimate the fair value of these financial instruments:  

ash and cash equivalents and obligatory deposits with the CBR 
For liquid instruments, the carrying amount is a reasonab ate of fair v ligatory d  the CBR ar

terest bearing and are estimated to mature as the underlying deposits and other balances in respect of which those deposits 
tained mature. 

ugh loss and availa r-sale assets  
ugh pro and available-for-sale assets are stated  fair valu  

ies at fair value fit or loss and av lable-for-sale assets is determ  
tive market. For securities not trad ctive market the fair value is e by using  

of recent arm’s lengt sactions, discount cash flow an d other  
ques commonly used by market participants. 

mounts due from and due to credit institutions  
or assets maturing within one month, the carrying amount approximates fair valu due to the relativel  short-term maturi  

ancial instruments. For longer-term deposits, the in rest rates applicab ect market rates and, consequentl  
  

ans to customers represents the d ount ated future ws expec  
sed on the credit and interest rate char s of the individual loans within each s tor of the p

he estimation of the allowance for loan impairment includes consideration of ris premiums applicab  to various types of 
factors such as the current situation o mic secto  each bo ates, the  
h borrower and guarantees obtained. 

e to customers and credit institutions 
or balances maturing within one month, the carrying amount approximates fair value due to the relatively short-term 
aturity of these financial instruments. For longer-term fixed interest bearing deposits and other borrowings the estimated 
ir value is based on discounted cash flows using interest rates for new debts with similar remaining maturity. 

ebt securities issued 

 
C

le estim alue. Ob eposits with e non-
in
are main
 
Financial assets and liabilities at fair value thro
Financial assets and liabilities at fair value thro

p
fit or loss 

rofit or ble-fo
 at e. The fair

value of financial
 ac

 assets and liabilit through pro
e

ai ined with
 reference to an

chniques which include the use 
d in an a

h tran
stimated 
alysis an

valuation
valuatiote n

techni
 
A
F e y ty
of these fin te le refl y,
the fair value approximates the carrying amounts.
 
Loans to customers 
The fair value o
eceived, and is ba

f lo iscounted am
acterist c

 of estim  cash flo
c

ted to be
ortfoli . r i e o

T k le
loans based on 
ituation of eac

f the econo r in which rrower oper  economic
s
 
Amounts du
F
m
fa
 
D
The estimated fair values of debt securities issued is based on discounted cash flows and discount rates for a similar 
instruments at the balance sheet date, except for Eurobonds and notes secured by the pool of consumer loans and auto loans, 
where fair value was based on quoted market prices.  
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26.  Related Party Transactions 
 
Related parties, as defined by IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”, are:  

e reporting enterprise. (This includes holding companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries); 

a subsidiary nor a joint 

rsons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 

)  enterprises in which a substantial interest in the voting power is owned, directly or indirectly, by any person described 
hich such a person is able to exercise significant influence.  This includes enterprises owned by 

 
(a)  enterprises that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control, or are controlled by, or are under 
common control with, th
 
(b)  associates – enterprises in which the Group has significant influence and which is neither 
venture of the investor; 
 
(c)  individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting power of the Group that gives them significant 
influence over the Group, and anyone expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the 
Group; 
 
(d)  key management personnel, that is, those pe
controlling the activities of the Group, including directors and officers of the Group and close members of the families of 
such individuals; and 
 
(e
in (c) or (d) or over w
directors or major shareholders of the Group and enterprises that have a member of key management in common with the 
Group. 
 
In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, and not 
merely the legal form.  
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(Thousands of Russian Rubles except otherwise stated) 

As at 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006 the Group had the following transactions outstanding with related parties: 

gory

 
31 December 2007 

  
 

Transactions
with 

shareholders

Transactions 
with key 

management

Transactions with 
non-consolidated 

subsidiaries

Transactions 
 with group 

IBT* 
Total

cate
  
Cash nd cash equivalents  

Nostro accounts with oth
a

er credit institutions 
(RR - 0%, FC - 0%) - - - 4 753 1 120 104

 due from credit institutions (RR - 0%) - - - 9 676 23 223
e-for-sale assets (FC - 9.25%) - - - 185 675 185 675

- - 52  2 827 818 280

Financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss (FC - 0%) - - - 162 3 691 928
Amounts

vailablA
Loans to customers (gross amount) (FC - 10%-
15%) 12 709 11 599 - - 38 355 715
Allowance for impairment (78) (69) - - (2 266 142)

ther assets (RR - 0%) O
  
  
Total assets 12 631 11 530 52 200 266 
       
  
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss  (FC - 0%) - - - 5 199 14 304
Amounts due to credit institutions  

Vostro accounts  (RR - 0%, FC - 0%) - - - 34 272 525 894
Repurchase agreements (FC - 5.05%) - - - 11 325 1 711 797

Amounts due to customers  
Current accounts (RR - 0%-0.1%, FC - 0%) 211 784 - -  - 15 783 462
Term deposits (RR - 7.25%-12.1%, FC - 9% ) 2 302 012 16 185 -  - 25 882 425

Debt securities issued (RR - 8.9%)  722 770 - - 182 449 10 110 207
  

  
Total liabilities 3 236 566 16 185 - 344 810 
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31 December 2006 
 Transactions 

with
sh

Transactions 
ey 

Transactions with 
non-consolidated 

Transactions 
with group 

*
Total 

category 
 

ers 
with k

managemearehold nt subsidiaries IBT  
      
Cash and cash equivalents    

Current accounts with other credit 
institutions (RR - 0%, FC - 0%) - - - 7 647 624 864 

ue through profit 
- - - 25 6 149 684 

dit institutions  
- - - 14 988 14 988 

mers (gross amount)  
- 21 11  25 93
- (150 (1 0
- - 622 2 827 456 385 

  

Financial assets at fair val
or loss (FC - 0%) 
Amounts due from cre
(RR - 0%) 
Loans to custo
(RR - 14%, FC - 10%-15%)  3 - - 4 176 
Allowance for impairment ) - - 87 024) 
Other assets (0%) 
      
      
Total assets 
 

- 20 963 6
  

     

22 
 

22 660  
  

 
Financial lia
profit or loss

bilities at fair value through 
 (FC - 0%) 2 087 

credit institutions   
Vostro accounts (RR - 0%,  

- - -    1 729 631 219 
 

,  
362 981 20 0

C - 
332 664 - - 80 029 14 746 300 

115 08
182 44

- - - 77 
Amounts due to    

FC - 0%) 
Amounts due to customers 

Current accounts (RR - 0%-0.1%
    

FC - 0% ) - -  4 402 06 590 
Term deposits (RR - 11.0% - 11.3%, F
4.75%-11.5% ) 
Subordinated debt (RR - 2.5%)  - - - 6 115 086 

Debt securities issued (RR - 9.6%)  440 816 - - 9 3 713 465 
   

 
 
 

  
    

Total liabilities 1 136 461 - - 212 475  
 

 
     

 

 
* group IBT represents companies which are under common control with the Bank: Investment Bank TRUST and its 

bsidiaries. 

he total remuneration of the key management, including pension contributions, and discretionary compensation included in 
laries and employment benefits for 2007 amounted to RR 252 800 thousand (2006: RR 168 309 thousand).  

he existing accounting system of the Group does not accumulate the amounts of income and expenses from related party 
ansactions. Management of the Group believes that the majority of these amounts are proportionate to the average balances 
f the corresponding balance sheet captions. 

su
 
T
sa
 
T
tr
o
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27.  Subsidiaries  
 
As at 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006 the  had n sidi
 

 
Na

Investment 
 as at 31

Dec. 2007 

Investment 
 as at 31 

Dec. 2006 Country 

% Equity 
i t as at 
31 Dec. 2007 

% Equity 
terest as at 

31 Dec. 2006 

 Bank  investments i  the following sub aries: 

me 
 nteres in

T 2 775 2 775 Switzerland 100% 100%
F  Limited 41 Cyprus 100% 
T 556 556 Cyprus 100% 
RSCC No 1 S.A. - Luxemburg 
N - - Ireland - -
M  Cyprus 100% 
Z  company “Trust” 
( 204 934 5

Russian 
Federatio 10

    
 
T sed joint stock company under the laws of Switzerland. T mpany’ pal activity i  
p iding financial and administrative services, consultin  trust activities. 
 
F d joint stock com any under the laws of Cyprus. The company’s p ipal acti  
i ents.  
 
TI l Services Limited is a closed joint stock c any under th aws of Cyprus. T mpany’s principa  
i vestments. 
 
NB .A. are urposes entities established to facilitate the  is  
sec nce, con e Bank. Accordingly, the finan ial statem f th
are financial stateme Group. 
 
M osed joint stock com any under the laws of Cyprus. The company’s p ipal activ  
fi ancial services and investments. 
 
IFC TRUST is a closed joint stock company organised nder the laws o der he comp ncipal 
ctivity is factoring.  

financial statements of the Group as at 31 December 2007 included the accounts of TIB Holdings S.A., 
iennes Investments Limited, TIB Financial Services Limited, RSCC No 1 S.A., NBT Finance Limited, Metcalf Investment 

IB Holding S.A. 
iennes Investments 41 100%
IB Financial Services Limited 100%

-- - 
BT Finance Limited 
etcalf Investment Limited 70 - -

AO “Interregional factoring
IFC TRUST) 70 n 0% 19%

 

IB Holding S.A. is a clo he co s princi s
rov g and

iennes Investments Limited is a close p rinc vity is
nternational trading and investm

B Financia omp e l he co l activity
s financial services and in

T Finance Limited and RSCC No 1 S
urities (refer to Note 12) and, in substa

 special p Group's sue of debt
trolled by th

nts of 
c ents o ese entities 

 included in the consolidated the 

etcalfe Investment Limited is a cl p rinc ity is
n

u f the Russian Fe ation. T any’s pri
a
 
The consolidated 
F
Limited and IFC TRUST. The consolidated financial statements of the Group as at 31 December 2006 included the accounts 
of TIB Holdings S.A., Fiennes Investments Limited and TIB Financial Services Limited. 
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28.  Acquisition of Subsidiaries 

res in IFC TRUST 
e of the acquiree's 

entifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liab he c ition of RR 320 576 as re  
ain on acquisition of subsidiaries. 

reasing its stake in IFC TRUST from 19% he Gr nized i  th eta
from the date of initial investment t ate of in g it R 12 698  throu

n the consolidated statemen hanges in s olde

e, the Group recognized valuation o  TR ible asset pect of th  
This resulted in a gain of RR 71 35 housand, net of defe R 22 533 tho d, which was 

rough the consolidated st ent of changes in shareh equity . 

y 2007 th ncome of t up r would h een RR 443  
etermining these figures it has been hat the f alue  1 Jan 07 would  

een the same as the fair value adjustments that arose on the date of acquisition. 

acquisition date adjustment acquisition

In December 2007 the Group increased its stake in IFC TRUST from 19% to 100% by acquisition of sha
or RR 40 184 thousand, which was settled in cash. The excess of the acquired share in net fair valuf

id ilities over t ost of acquis thousand w

e change in r

corded as a

ined earnings 

g

On inc  to 100%, t oup recog ts share in
of IFC TRUST, o the d

t 
creasin

h
s stake, of R
r’s 

 thousand gh the 
Group’s retained earnings i of c areh equity. 

Further, on increasing its stak the re f IFC UST intang
rred

s in res e 19%
share it already held. 5 t  tax of R usan
recognized directly in equity th atem older’s 

If the acquisition had occurred on 1 Januar
housand. In d

e net i
 assum

he Gro
air 

for the yea
adjustmen

ave b
uary 2

 802
 havet ed t v ts at 0

b

The net assets of IFC TRUST were as follows at the date of acquisition: 

 

 
Carrying value on Fair value 

Fair value
recognised on

    
Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 206 036 - 206 036

8 894 - 8 894

4 060 080 - 4 060 080
ax liabilities 

   
 

Loans to customers 3 934 795 - 3 934 795
Property and equipment 4 903 - 4 903
Intangible assets 6 165 494 145 500 310
Other assets 
 
Liabilities 
Amounts due to customers 
T 28 899 118 595 147 494
Other liabilities 1 981 - 1 981
 
     
Net identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 69 833 375 550 445 383
 
 
Share in net assets acquired 360 760
    
Cost of acquisition (40 184)
 
 
Excess of net fair value over the cost of acquisition 320 576
 
 
Cash inflow on acquisition during the year ended 31 December 2007 was as follows: 
 
 2007
 
Consideration paid (40 184)
Cash acquired, excluding accounts in the Bank 188 451
Net cash inflow 148 267
 
 
At the acquisition date the Group recognized the acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at their fair 
values, based on the results of an independent appraisal performed by American Appraisal (AAR), Inc. 
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The basis used for the appraisal of customer relationships was the income approach. The following key assumptions were 
used for income approach: 
 
• cash flows were based on a 5 year remaining useful life of the asset; 
• the net cash flows were capitalised using the discount rate of 19%. 
 
The basis used for the appraisal of software was cost approach. The cost approach was based upon a management estimate of 
hours required for a typical project team to recreate an asset and the estimated hourly rates for the project team members. 
 
The basis used for the appraisal of property and equipment was the market approach. The market approach was based upon 
an analysis of comparable sales of similar assets. 
 
The values assigned to the key assumptions represent management’s assessment of future trends in the business and are 
based on both external and internal sources of information. 
 

(End) 
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TRUST Investment Bank   
Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2007 
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 

 

4 

Note  December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
    
Interest income 23 2 956 794 2 383 201
Interest expense 23 (1 981 094) (1 438 838)
      
    
Net interest income  975 700 944 363
Recovery of allowance/(allowance) for impairment 10 13 094 (294 989)
      
    
Net interest income after allowance for impairment   988 794 649 374
      
    
Fee and commission income 24 416 171 318 392
Fee and commission expense 24 (43 078) (44 797)
      
    
Net fee and commission income  373 093 273 595
      
    
Net (losses)/gains on operations with securities (483 408) 816 626
Net foreign exchange gains 10 956 18 253
Income on investment property 216 062  -
Dividend income  10 718 11 140
Other income  13 747  14 799
    
Other non interest (loss)/income (231 925) 860 818
   
    
Salaries and employment benefits 25 (877 315) (946 363)
Administrative expenses 25 (488 632) (425 936)
Depreciation and amortization  11, 13 (80 628) (95 207)
Other operating expenses  (39 679) (50 919)
      
    
Operating expenses  (1 486 254) (1 518 425)
      
    
(Loss)/income before tax  (356 292) 265 362
Income tax benefit/(expense) 26 22 799 (87 155)
      
    
Net (loss)/income  (333 493) 178 207
    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

 

5 

 

Note 
Share 

capital
Treasury 

shares
Additional 

paid-in capital 
Retained 
earnings

Total 
shareholders’ 

equity 
    
Balance as at December 31, 2005  3 044 581 (258 270) 2 176 889 1 269 403 6 232 603
       
Net income   - - - 178 207 178 207
Total recognized income for the period  - - -  - 178 207
   
Disposal of treasury shares  - 258 270 - - 258 270
          
   
Balance as at December 31, 2006  3 044 581 - 2 176 889 1 447 610 6 669 080
       
Net loss  - - - (333 493) (333 493)
Total Trecognized loss for the period   - - - - (333 493)
   
Contributions from shareholders, net of 
current income tax of RR 39 072 thousand 21 - - 123 727 - 123 727
   
   
Balance as at December 31, 2007   3 044 581 - 2 300 616 1 114 117 6 459 314
    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 



TRUST Investment Bank   
Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2007 
(Thousands of Russian Roubles except otherwise stated) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

 

6 

 Note  December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006 
Cash flows from operating activities    
Interest and commissions received  3 372 316 2 771 484 
Interest and commissions paid  (2 042 110) (1 379 860) 
Net (losses)/gains on operations with securities  (392 070) 419 406 
Net foreign exchange gains  112 417 213 878 
Income on investment property  14 927 - 
Other income  13 746 14 629 
Dividend income  10 718 10 749 
Salaries and employment benefits  (832 827) (1 038 324) 
Administrative and other operating expenses  (518 905) (399 585) 
Cash flows (used in)/provided from operating activities before 
changes in operating assets and liabilities 

 
(261 788) 612 377 

Net decrease/(increase) in operating assets    
Obligatory reserves with the CBR  81 059 217 957 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss    

- unpledged  970 717 (2 832 240) 
- pledged under repurchase agreements  12 382 044 (16 117 089) 

Amounts due from credit institutions  1 191 630 719 103 
Receivables under reverse repurchase agreements  587 971 518 654 
Financial assets available-for-sale  197 - 
Loans to customers  1 562 286 959 430 
Other assets   (114 196) (105 607) 
Net increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities      
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss   (743 819) 516 634 
Amounts due to credit institutions  (2 302 207) (196 074) 
Payables under repurchase agreements  (11 188 416) 13 906 105 
Amounts due to customers  (2 131 778) 857 200 
Other liabilities   (15 354) (17 781) 
Net cash flows provided from/(used in) operating activities before 
income tax 

 
18 346 (961 331) 

Income tax paid  (80 509) (193 152) 
Net cash flows used in operating activities  (62 163) (1 154 483) 
Cash flows from investing activities      
Acquisition of investment property  - (245 303) 
Net acquisition of property and equipment  (25 291) (5 704) 
Contribution to capital of non-consolidated subsidiary  (10) - 
Acquisition of intangible assets  (32 516)  (9 997) 
Disposal of non-consolidated subsidiary  1 605 - 
Net cash used in investing activities  (56 212) (261 004) 
Cash flows from financing activities      
Contributions from shareholders  162 799 - 
Disposal of treasury shares  - 258 270 
Debt securities (redeemed)/issued  (1 205 594) 2 008 868 
Net cash flows (used in)/provided from financing activities  (1 042 795) 2 267 138 
Effect of change in exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents  (197 499) (350 532) 
Net change in cash and cash equivalents  (1 358 669) 501 119 
 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 

 
 

   
 5 405 277 

  
 4 904 158 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 5 4 046 608 5 405 277 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 



TRUST Investment Bank   
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2007  
(Thousands of Russian Roubles except otherwise stated) 

 

7 

1. Principal Activities 
 
These consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of TRUST Investment Bank (the “Bank”) 
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group”).  
 
TRUST Investment Bank (the “Bank”) was formed on April 1994 as a limited liability company under the laws of 
the Russian Federation under the name of Trust and Investment Bank. In April 1999, the Bank was re-registered as 
an open joint-stock company, and on July 28, 2003, was re-named to TRUST Investment Bank. The Bank possesses 
a license for carrying out banking operations in Roubles and foreign currencies (without the right to attract deposits 
from individuals) from the Central Bank of the Russian Federation (the “CBR”), last updated on September 26, 
2005.  
 
The Bank’s registered legal address is 26/1, Ulansky Lane, Moscow, Russia. Its sole office is located in Moscow.  
 
TRUST Investment Bank is one of the leading Russian investment and corporate banks providing financial services 
to institutional and corporate clients as well as federal and municipal governmental organizations.  
 
Services provided by the Bank include: 
 Investment banking; 
 Securities brokerage and trading; 
 Corporate finance; 
 Lending and asset management; 
 Settlements and other commercial banking services. 

 
In May 2004 management of the Bank completed a buyout of a controlling stake in the Bank from its previous 
owners and as a result received full control over the Bank.  
 
As at 31 December 2007 the Group is ultimately controlled by TIB Holdings Limited (the “ultimate parent 
company”), which in its turn is controlled by three individuals who have the power to direct the transactions of the 
Bank at their own discretion and for their own benefit. Those individuals are Ilya S. Yurov, Sergey L. Belyaev and 
Nikolay V. Fetisov. At the end of 2007 the Bank announced a buyout of the shares of the Bank’s ex-shareholder 
Artashes A. Terzyan. Terzyan’s entire holding was bought out by remaining three individuals. 
 
In November 2007 Merrill Lynch bought effective control of 6.1% of the Group. 
 
Other minority shareholders control 8.47% of the Group. 
 
The principal subsidiaries of the Bank are as follows: 
    
Name Country of 

incorporation 
Principal Activities Ownership % 

2007                     2006 

T&IB Equities Limited Cyprus Trading in equity and 
debt securities 

100.0% 100.0% 

TIB Finance p.l.c.* Ireland Raising finance - - 

“Doverie Capital” Management Company Russia Trading in equity and 
debt securities 

100.0% 100.0% 

 
*The Bank does not have any direct or indirect shareholdings in this company. However, this company was 
established under the terms that impose strict limits on the decision-making powers of its management. In addition, 
the benefits related to its operations and net assets are presently attributable to the Bank via a number of 
agreements. 
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2. Operating Environment 
 
The Russian Federation has been experiencing political and economic change which has affected, and may continue 
to affect, the activities of enterprises operating in this environment. Consequently, operations in the Russian 
Federation involve risks which do not typically exist in other markets. The accompanying consolidated financial 
statements reflect management’s assessment of the impact of the Russian business environment on the operations 
and the financial position of the Group. The future business environment may differ from management’s 
assessment. 
 
 

3. Basis of Preparation 
 
General 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRSs”).  
 
Basis of measurement 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical or amortized cost basis as detailed in 
Note 4 except for the following: 
 financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value; 
 available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value; 
 investment property is measured at fair value. 

 
Functional currency and presentation currency 
The national currency of the Russian Federation is the Russian Rouble (“RR”). Management have determined the 
functional currency of the Bank and its subsidiaries to be the RR as it reflects the economic substance of the 
underlying events and circumstances of the Bank and its subsidiaries. The RR is also the Group’s presentation 
currency for the purposes of these consolidated financial statements. These consolidated financial statements are 
presented in thousands of Russian Roubles, unless otherwise indicated. 
 
The official CBR exchange rates as at 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006, were 24.5462 Russian 
Rubles and 26.3311 Russian Rubles to 1 US Dollar respectively. 
 
Use of estimates and judgments 
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and 
actions, actual results ultimately may differ from these estimates. In particular, information about significant areas of 
estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying accounting policies are described in the following Notes: 
 Loan impairment estimates – refer to Note 10; 
 Investment property estimates – refer to Note 12; 
 Commitments and contingencies estimates – refer to Note 22. 

 
 

4. Summary of Accounting Policies  
 
The following significant accounting policies have been applied in the preparation of these financial statements. The 
accounting policies have been consistently applied. Changes in accounting policies as a result of revised accounting 
standards which have been applied retrospectively are described at the end of this Note. 
 
Inflation accounting  
As the characteristics of the economic environment of the Russian Federation indicate that hyperinflation has 
ceased, effective from January 1, 2003 the Group no longer applies the provisions of IAS 29 “Financial Reporting 
in Hyperinflationary Economies” to current periods and only recognizes the cumulative impact of inflation indexing 
through December 31, 2002, on non-monetary elements of the consolidated financial statements.  
 
Non-monetary assets and liabilities acquired prior to December 31, 2002, and share capital contributions occurring 
before December 31, 2002, have been restated by applying the relevant conversion factors to the historical cost 
(“restated cost”) through December 31, 2002. Gains or losses on subsequent disposal are recognized based on the 
restated cost of non-monetary assets and liabilities. 
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Basis of consolidation 
 
Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are those enterprises controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power, directly or 
indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an enterprise so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 
The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that 
control effectively commences until the date that control effectively ceases. 
 
Special purpose entities  
The Group established a special purpose entity (SPE) for the purpose of raising finance. The Group does not have 
any direct or indirect shareholdings in this entity. This SPE is controlled by the Group through the predetermination 
of the activities of the SPE, having rights to obtain the majority of benefits of the SPE, and retaining the majority of 
the residual risks related to the SPE. 
 
Transactions eliminated in consolidation 
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised gains arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated 
in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised 
gains except that they are only eliminated to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment. 
 
Foreign currency transactions 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the 
date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date 
are translated to the functional currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Non-monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, which are stated at historical cost, are translated to the functional 
currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that 
are stated at fair value and whose appraised value is denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the 
functional currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the dates the fair values were determined. Foreign 
exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the consolidated income statement.  
 
The official CBR exchange rates as at 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006, were 24.5462 Russian Rubles and 
26.3311 Russian Rubles to 1 US Dollar respectively. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
The Group considers cash on hand, nostro accounts with the CBR, nostro accounts with other credit institutions and 
short-term deposits with credit institutions with original maturity of less then ninety days to be cash and cash 
equivalents. The obligatory reserve deposits with the CBR are not considered to be a cash equivalent due to 
restrictions on their withdrawability. 
 
Financial instruments 
 
Classification 
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets or liabilities that are: 
 acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term; 
 part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence 

of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; 
 a derivative (except for a derivative that is a designated and effective hedging instrument); or, 
 upon initial recognition, designated by the Group as at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
The Group designates financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition 
where either:  
 the assets or liabilities are managed and evaluated on a fair value basis;  
 the designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch which would otherwise arise; or 
 the asset or liability contains an embedded derivative that significantly modifies the cash flows that would 

otherwise be required under the contract. 
 
Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are not reclassified subsequent to initial 
recognition. 
 
All trading derivatives in a net receivable position (positive fair value), as well as options purchased, are reported as 
an asset. All trading derivatives in a net payable position (negative fair value), as well as options written, are 
reported as a liability. 
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Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market, other than those that: 
 the Group intends to sell immediately or in the near term; 
 the Group upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through profit or loss; 
 the Group upon initial recognition designates as available-for-sale; or 
 the Group may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other than because of credit deterioration. 

 
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed 
maturity that the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity, other than those that: 
 the Group upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through profit or loss; 
 the Group designates as available-for-sale; or 
 meet the definition of loans and receivables. 

 
Available-for-sale assets are those financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale or are not classified as 
loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments or financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
Recognition 
Financial assets and liabilities are recognized in the consolidated balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases of financial assets are accounted for at the 
settlement date. 
 
Measurement 
A financial asset or liability is initially measured at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset or liability not 
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the 
financial asset or liability. 
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets, including derivatives that are assets, are measured at their fair 
values, without any deduction for transaction costs that may be incurred on sale or other disposal, except for: 
 loans and receivables which are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method; 
 held-to-maturity investments which are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method; and 
 investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair 

value cannot be reliably measured which are measured at cost. 
 
All financial liabilities, other than those designated at fair value through profit or loss and financial liabilities that 
arise when a transfer of a financial asset carried at fair value does not qualify for derecognition, are measured at 
amortised cost. Amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest method. Premiums and discounts, including 
initial transaction costs, are included in the carrying amount of the related instrument and amortised based on the 
effective interest rate of the instrument. 
 
Fair value measurement principles 
The fair value of financial instruments is based on their quoted market price at the balance sheet date without any 
deduction for transaction costs. If a quoted market price is not available, the fair value of the instrument is estimated 
using pricing models or discounted cash flow techniques. 
 
Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated future cash flows are based on management's best 
estimates and the discount rate is a market related rate at the balance sheet date for an instrument with similar terms 
and conditions. Where pricing models are used, inputs are based on market related measures at the balance sheet 
date. 
 
The fair value of derivatives that are not exchange-traded is estimated at the amount that the Group would receive or 
pay to terminate the contract at the balance sheet date taking into account current market conditions and the current 
creditworthiness of the counterparties. 
 
Gains and losses on subsequent measurement 
A gain or loss arising from a change in the fair value of a financial asset or liability is recognized as follows: 
 a gain or loss on a financial instrument classified as at fair value through profit or loss is recognized in the 

consolidated income statement; 
 a gain or loss on an available-for-sale financial asset is recognized directly in equity through the consolidated 

statement of changes in shareholders' equity (except for impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and 
losses) until the asset is derecognized, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in 
equity is recognized in the consolidated income statement. Interest in relation to an available-for-sale financial 
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asset is recognized as earned in the consolidated income statement calculated using the effective interest 
method. 

 
For financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost, a gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated income 
statement when the financial asset or liability is derecognized or impaired, and through the amortization process. 
 
Derecognition 
A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or 
when the Group transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset. Any rights or 
obligations created or retained in the transfer are recognized separately as assets or liabilities. A financial liability is 
derecognised when it is extinguished. 
 
Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements 
Securities sold under sale and repurchase agreements (“repo”) are accounted for as secured financing transactions, 
with the securities retained in the balance sheet and the corresponding liability included in amounts payable under 
repurchase agreement. The difference between the sale and repurchase price represents interest expense and is 
recognized in the consolidated income statement over the term of the repo agreement using the effective interest rate 
method. 
 
Securities purchased under agreements to resell (“reverse repo”) are recorded as amounts receivable under reverse 
repurchase agreement. The differences between the purchase and resale prices are treated as interest income and 
accrued over the term of the reverse repo agreement using the effective interest method. 
 
If securities purchased under agreement to resell are sold to third parties, the obligation to return them is recorded at 
fair value as a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss relating to transactions with securities. 
 
Financial guarantees 
Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Group to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a 
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt 
instrument. 
 
A financial guarantee liability is recognised initially at fair value net of associated transaction costs, and is measured 
subsequently at the higher of the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation or the amount of 
provision for losses under the guarantee. Provisions for losses under financial guarantees are recognised when losses 
are considered probable and can be measured reliably. 
 
Financial guarantee liabilities are included within other liabilities. 
 
Property and equipment 
Property and equipment are carried at cost or restated cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
Depreciation is charged to the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives 
of the individual assets. Depreciation on assets under construction and those not placed in service commences from 
the date the assets are ready for their intended use. The estimated useful lives are as follows:  

 Years 
Furniture and fixtures 7 
Motor vehicles 5 
Computers and equipment 4-6 
Other fixed assets 5 

 
Expenses related to repairs and renewals are charged to the consolidated income statement when incurred and 
included in the consolidated income statement as other administrative and operating expenses unless they qualify for 
capitalization. 
 
Investment property 
Investment property is property held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both. Investment 
property is measured at fair value with any change therein recognized in the consolidated income statement. 
 
Intangible assets 
Intangible assets include licenses and computer software.  
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Licenses are stated at cost net of accumulated amortization. Amortization is provided so as to write down the cost of 
an asset on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful economic life. The useful life is 10 years. 
 
Computer software development costs are recognized as assets at cost and are amortized using the straight-line 
method over their useful lives, but not exceeding a period of 10 years. Acquired computer software is accounted for 
under the same policies. 
Intangible assets under development are not amortized. Amortization of these assets will begin when the related 
assets are placed in service.  
 
Impairment 
 
Financial assets carried at amortized cost 
Financial assets carried at amortized cost consist principally of loans, other receivables and unquoted available-for-
sale debt securities (“loans and receivables”). The Group reviews its loans and receivables, to assess impairment on 
a regular basis. A loan or receivable is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the loan or 
receivable and that event (or events) has had an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the loan that can be 
reliably estimated. 
 
Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a borrower, breach of 
loan covenants or conditions, restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not 
otherwise consider, indications that a borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active 
market for a security, deterioration in the value of collateral, or other observable data relating to a group of assets 
such as adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the group, or economic conditions that correlate with 
defaults in the group. 
 
The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for loans and receivables that 
are individually significant, and individually or collectively for loans and receivables that are not individually 
significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed 
loan or receivable, whether significant or not, it includes the loan in a group of loans and receivables with similar 
credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Loans and receivables that are individually 
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in a 
collective assessment of impairment. 
 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on a loan or receivable has been incurred, the amount of the 
loss is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the loan or receivable and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows including amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral discounted at the loan or 
receivable's original effective interest rate. Contractual cash flows and historical loss experience adjusted on the 
basis of relevant observable data that reflect current economic conditions provide the basis for estimating expected 
cash flows. 
 
In some cases the observable data required to estimate the amount of an impairment loss on a loan or receivable may 
be limited or no longer fully relevant to current circumstances. This may be the case when a borrower is in financial 
difficulties and there is little available historical data relating to similar borrowers. In such cases, the Group uses its 
experience and judgment to estimate the amount of any impairment loss. 
 
All impairment losses in respect of loans and receivables are recognized in the consolidated income statement and 
are only reversed if a subsequent increase in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment loss was recognised. 
 
When a loan is uncollectable, it is written off against the related allowance for loan impairment. The Group writes 
off a loan balance (and any related allowances for loan losses) when the Group’s management determines that the 
loans are uncollectible and when all necessary steps to collect the loan are completed.  
 
Financial assets carried at cost 
Financial assets carried at cost include unquoted equity instruments included in other assets that are not carried at 
fair value because their fair value can not be reliably measured. If there is objective evidence that such investments 
are impaired, the impairment loss is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the investment and 
the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar 
financial asset. 
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All impairment losses in respect of these investments are recognized in the consolidated income statement and 
cannot be reversed. 
 
Non financial assets 
Other non financial assets, other than deferred taxes, are assessed at each reporting date for any indications of 
impairment. The recoverable amount of non financial assets is the greater of their fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset. For an asset that does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the 
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. An impairment loss is 
recognised when the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. 
 
All impairment losses in respect of non financial assets are recognized in the consolidated income statement and 
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. Any impairment 
loss reversed is only reversed to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 
 
Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, 
and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation 
and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made. 
 
Share capital and dividends  
Share capital is recognized at restated cost. The ability of the Group to declare and pay dividends is subject to the 
rules and regulations of the Russian legislation. Dividends in relation to ordinary shares are reflected as an 
appropriation of retained earnings in the period when they are declared. Dividends that are declared after the balance 
sheet date are treated as a subsequent event and disclosed accordingly.  
 
Treasury shares  
Where the Bank or its subsidiaries purchase the Bank’s shares, the consideration paid including any attributable 
incremental external costs is deducted from total shareholders’ equity as treasury shares until they are cancelled or 
disposed of. Where such shares are subsequently disposed or reissued, any consideration received is included in 
shareholders’ equity. 
 
Offsetting 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated balance sheet when there is 
a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or 
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
Taxation 
Income tax on the income or loss for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the 
consolidated income statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly to equity, in which 
case it is recognised in equity. 
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period, using tax rates enacted or substantially 
enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous periods. 
 
Deferred tax is provided, using the balance sheet liability method, for temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.  The 
following temporary differences are not provided for: goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial 
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit and temporary differences related 
to investments in subsidiaries, branches and associates where the parent is able to control the timing of the reversal 
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.  
The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted at the balance sheet date. 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which the temporary differences, unused tax losses and credits can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 
 



TRUST Investment Bank   
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2007  
(Thousands of Russian Roubles except otherwise stated) 

 

14 

Income and expense recognition   
With the exception of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, interest income and expense are recognized 
on an accrual basis calculated using the effective interest method. Interest income on financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss comprises coupon interest only. Interest income and expenses on the financial instruments 
other than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and available-for-sale financial assets include the 
amortisation of any discount or premium or other differences between the initial carrying amount of an interest 
bearing instrument and its amount at maturity calculated on an effective interest rate basis.  
Commissions and other income are recognized when the correspondence services are provided. Loan origination 
fees, loan servicing fees and other fees that are considered to be integral to the overall profitability of a loan, 
together with the related direct costs, when significant, are deferred and recognized as an adjustment to the loan’s 
effective yield.  
 
Dividend income from investments in companies where the Group does not have control or significant influence is 
recognised in the consolidated income statement on the date that the dividend is declared. 
 
Other income and expense are recognized at the time the transaction occurs. 
 
Staff costs and related contributions 
The Group’s contributions to State pension and social insurance funds in respect of its employees are expensed as 
incurred and included into salaries and employment benefits. 
 
Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements unless it is probable that an outflow 
of resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. A contingent asset is not 
recognized in the consolidated financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 
 
Trust activities 
Assets held in trust or in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and, accordingly, are not included 
in these consolidated financial statements. 
 
Segment reporting 
The Group operates in one business and geographical segment. Therefore separate segment reporting is not 
presented. 
 
Changes in accounting policies 
As of January 1, 2007 the Group adopted IFRIC 9 “Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives” and IFRIC 10 
“Consolidated Financial Reporting and Impairment”. Application of these Interpretations had not required 
increased disclosures in respect of the Group’s financial instruments and the nature and extent of risks arising from 
financial instruments. 
 
As of January 1, 2007 the Group adopted IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” and the amendment to IAS 
1 “Presentation of Financial Statements - Capital Disclosures”. Application of the Standard and the amendment 
results in increased disclosures in respect of the Group’s financial instruments and the nature and extent of risks 
arising from financial instruments and increased disclosure in respect of the Group’s capital.  
 
Comparative information 
Comparative information has been reclassified to conform to changes in presentation in the current year. These 
changes were made for the purposes of better and more clear presentation of financial information in the 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
The following reclassification was made to the comparative information:  
 current income tax payable of RR 16 426 thousand was reclassified from “Other liabilities” to “Tax liabilities”. 

  
New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 
A number of new Standards, amendments to Standards and Interpretations are not yet effective as at 
31 December 2007, and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. Of these 
pronouncements, potentially the following will have an impact on the Group’s operations. The Group plans to adopt 
these pronouncements when they become effective. The Group has not yet analysed the likely impact of these new 
standards on its financial statements. 
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IFRS 8 “Operating Segments”, which is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009, specifies 
how an entity should report information about its operating segments and sets out requirements for related 
disclosures about products and services, geographical areas and major customers. Operating segments are 
components of an entity about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the 
chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. Financial 
information is required to be reported on the same basis as is used internally for evaluating operating segment 
performance and deciding how to allocate resources to operating segments. IFRS 8 “Operating Segments” will 
replace International Financial Reporting Standard IAS 14 “Segment Reporting”. 
 
International Financial Reporting Standard IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” (Revised), which is 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009, specifies how an entity should present changes in 
equity not resulting from transactions with owners and other changes in equity in its financial statements, and 
introduces certain other requirements in respect of presentation of information in the financial statements. 
 

 
 

(Intentionally blank) 
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5.  Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise: 
 December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006 
   
Cash on hand 26 274 25 579
  
Nostro accounts with the CBR 145 327 322 358
  
Nostro accounts with other credit institutions 505 065 371 146
With credit rating from AA- to AA+ 131 880 59 835
With credit rating from A- to A+ 266 053 298 028
With credit rating from BBB+ to BBB- 9 909 799
With credit rating from BB- to BB+ 28 160 308
With credit rating lower than B+ 54 415 1 834
Without credit rating 14 648 10 342
  
Short-term deposits with other credit institutions 3 369 942 4 686 194
With credit rating from AA- to AA+ 173 014 87 804
With credit rating from A- to A+ 3 196 717 4 299 133
With credit rating from BBB+ to BBB- - 49 007
With credit rating from BB- to BB+ - 200 030
With credit rating lower than B+ 211 50 220
    
   
Cash and cash equivalents 4 046 608 5 405 277
     

 
Nostro accounts with other credit institutions as of December 31, 2007 included RR 143 927 thousand variation 
margin on US Treasury notes futures contracts (December 31, 2006 - RR 61 389 thousand). The fair value of the 
Group’s position in futures contracts was calculated based on quoted market rates as of the period end. 
 
As of December 31, 2007 the Group had deposits with one counterparty with aggregated balances above 10% of 
shareholders’ equity. The aggregated amount of these deposits was RR 2 779 272 thousand or 82.5% of short-term 
deposits with other credit institutions.  
 
As of December 31, 2006 the Group had deposits with one counterparty with aggregated balances above 10% of 
shareholders’ equity. The aggregated amount of these deposits was RR 4 299 490 thousand or 91.7% of short-term 
deposits with other credit institutions.  
 
Interest rates, geographical, currency and maturity analyses of cash and cash equivalents are disclosed in Note 28. 
The estimated fair value of cash and cash equivalents is disclosed in Note 29. Information on related party balances 
is disclosed in Note 30. 
 
 
 

(Intentionally blank) 
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6. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprise: 
 
Unpledged financial assets at fair value through profit or loss December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006 
   
Trading securities   
Corporate bonds 4 774 617 4 504 805
With credit rating from A- to A+ 215 331 91 575
With credit rating from BBB+ to BBB- 26 174 618 626
With credit rating from BB- to BB+ 906 938 1 090 630
With credit rating lower than B+ 709 761 520 269
Without credit rating 2 916 413 2 183 705
  
Government and municipal bonds 1 345 750 2 457 600
With credit rating from A- to A+ 83 049 1 747 444
With credit rating from BBB+ to BBB- 25 12 345
With credit rating from BB- to BB+ 400 905 74 573
With credit rating lower than B+ 593 045 86 929
Without credit rating 268 726 536 309
  
Marketable equity securities   842 774 1 104 483
With credit rating from A- to A+ 124 643 369 446
With credit rating from BBB+ to BBB- 55 417 430 912
With credit rating from BB- to BB+ 107 317 102 385
With credit rating lower than B+ 153 221 23 880
Without credit rating 402 176 177 860
  
 6 963 141 8 066 888
  
Assets designated at fair value through profit or loss  
Shares in mutual and hedge funds 1 557 484    1 525 127
Without credit rating 1 557 484 1 525 127
  
Federal loan bonds of the Russian Federation (OFZ) 538 360 274 921
With credit rating from A- to A+ 538 360 274 921
  
 2 095 844 1 800 048
   
Derivative financial assets 30 085 14 506
  
   
Total unpledged financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  9 089 070 9 881 442
   

 
Trading securities 
 
Corporate bonds represent bonds of large Russian companies and banks denominated in Roubles, US Dollars, and 
Euros, with maturities between 2008 and 2036 (December 31, 2006 –  between 2007 and 2036). The annual coupon 
rates on these bonds range from 5.7% to 27.6% (December 31, 2006 – from 4.6% to 13.8%). 
 
Government and municipal bonds include Federal loan bonds of the Russian Federation, regional and local 
authorities bonds and the Ministry of Finance of the Russian Federation bonds. 
 
Federal loan bonds of the Russian Federation (OFZ) are Rouble denominated government securities issued and 
guaranteed by the Ministry of Finance of the Russian Federation, with maturities between 2010 and 2019 
(December 31, 2006 – between 2008 and 2036). The annual coupon rates on these bonds range from 0.0% to 9.0% 
(December 31, 2006 – from 0.0% to 9.0%). 
 
Regional and local authorities bonds are Rouble denominated securities issued by the city of Moscow, region of 
Moscow and other regional authorities, with maturities between 2008 and 2014 (December 31, 2006 – between 2007 
and 2013). The annual coupon rates on these bonds range from 7.0% to 9.9% (December 31, 2006 – 7.0% to 
12.0%). 



TRUST Investment Bank   
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2007  
(Thousands of Russian Roubles except otherwise stated) 

 

18 

The Ministry of Finance of the Russian Federation bonds are US Dollar denominated securities, which carry the 
guarantee of the Ministry of Finance of the Russian Federation, with maturity in 2008 (December 31, 2006 – in 
2008). The bonds carry an annual coupon of 3.0% (December 31, 2006 – 3.0%). 
 
Marketable equity securities consist of shares of large Russian companies.  
 
Assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 
 
Shares in mutual and hedge funds are investments in Trust Hedge Fund and PIF “Trust Perviy”. The Group 
designates shares in mutual and hedge funds at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition as these 
investments are managed and evaluated on a fair value basis. 
 
Federal loan bonds of the Russian Federation (OFZ) are Rouble denominated government securities issued and 
guaranteed by the Ministry of Finance of the Russian Federation, with maturity between 2010 and 2018 (December 
31, 2006 – in 2018). The annual coupon rates on these bonds are between 7.4% and 9.0% (December 31, 2006 – 
9.0%). These bonds are pledged with the CBR for the right to participate in the CBR’s auctions on securities and 
foreign currency. The CBR does not have the right to sell or repledge these bonds. 
 
Derivative financial instruments 
 
Derivative financial instruments include swap, forward, futures, spot transactions and options in interest rate, foreign 
exchange, precious metals and stock markets, and any combinations of these instruments. 

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured at fair value. All derivatives are carried as assets when their fair value is positive and as 
liabilities when their fair value is negative. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognised in the 
consolidated income statement. 

Derivatives may be embedded in another contractual arrangement (a “host contract”). An embedded derivative is 
separated from the host contract and it is accounted for as a derivative if, and only if the economic characteristics 
and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host 
contract, a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a 
derivative; and the combined instrument is not measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the 
consolidated income statement. Derivatives embedded in financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss are not separated. 

Although the Group trades in derivative instruments for risk hedging purposes, these instruments do not qualify for 
hedge accounting. 

 
 
 

(Intentionally blank) 
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Outstanding deals with derivative financial instruments are as follows: 
 
December 31, 2007  

 Notional principal Average Fair values 
  Buy   Sell rate Asset Liability 

      

Foreign exchange contracts     
Forwards – foreign    55 000 thousand EUR 79 922 thousand USD 1.45 22 018 7 479 
counterparties 22 215 thousand USD 15 784 thousand EUR 1.41 - 21 853 
 1 601 thousand USD 800 thousand GBP 2.00 101 - 
 48 870 thousand RR 2 000 thousand USD 24.44 - 222 

 
     

          22 119 29 554 
 

Securities  contracts      
Options – foreign 
counterparties 

23 000 equity securities 1 162 thousand USD 0.05 240 - 

16 210 194 equity securities 6 917 thousand USD 0.0004 5 729 1 626 Forwards – foreign 
counterparties  12 625 thousand USD 6 258 117 equity securities 0.002 871 8 555 
 800 corporate eurobonds 29 859 thousand USD 37.32 877 5 618 
 30 256 thousand USD 539 corporate eurobonds 56.13 - 6 247 
      

431 721 equity securities 455 thousand USD 0.001 - 602 Forwards – domestic 
counterparties  1 020 thousand USD 1 356 031 equity securities 0.0008 226 70 
 2 685  thousand RR 1 500 000 equity securities 0.0018 23 - 
 1 967  thousand USD 2 000 corporate eurobonds 0.98 - 212 

      
        7 966 22 930 
      
            

Derivative financial instruments  30 085 52 484 
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December 31, 2006 
 Notional principal Average Fair values 

  Buy   Sell rate Asset Liability 

      
Foreign exchange contracts     
Forwards – foreign    36 330 thousand EUR 47 397 thousand USD 1.30 12 500  - 
counterparties 10 000 thousand USD 7 884 thousand EUR 1.27  -  10 223 
      
Forwards – domestic  158 064 thousand RR 6 000 thousand USD 26.34 77 - 
counterparties 6 000 thousand USD 158 075 thousand RR 26.34  - 88 

  
35 577 thousand USD 27 000 thousand EUR 1.32  -  25 

          12 577 10 336 
 
Securities  contracts      

210 720 equity securities 546 thousand USD 0.003 552  - Forwards – foreign 
counterparties  3 601 thousand USD 1 280 957 equity securities 0.003 547 5 638 

 1 301 corporate eurobonds 31 646 thousand USD 24.32 436  19 187 

 3 141 thousand USD 3 000 corporate eurobonds 1.05 325 22 

      
28 000 equity securities 8 456 thousand RR 0.30 22  - Forwards – domestic 

counterparties  8 462 thousand RR 28 000 equity securities 0.30  - 12 

 500 corporate eurobonds 512 thousand USD 1.02 47  - 
      
        1 929 24 859 
      
            

Derivative financial instruments  14 506 35 195 
            

 
All the above contracts mature within 3 months (December 31, 2006 – 3 months) from the balance sheet date. 
 
The fair value of the Group’s position on derivatives was calculated as follows: 
• Forward foreign exchange contracts – based on the RR/USD and RR/EUR forward rates effective as of 

December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006. 
• Forward securities contracts – based on forward rates for corporate shares and debt securities quoted or 

other appropriate market data at period-end. 
 
Interest rates, geographical, currency and maturity analyses of unpledged financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss are disclosed in Note 28. The estimated fair value of unpledged financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss is disclosed in Note 29. Information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 30. 
 
 
 

 (Intentionally blank) 
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Assets pledged under repurchase agreements (Note 17) are provided as collateral and can be repledged or resold by 
the counterparty. They comprise: 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss pledged under repurchase 
agreements December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006 
 
Trading securities 

  

Government and municipal bonds 6 668 077 8 178 989
With credit rating from A- to A+ - 3 737 954
With credit rating from BBB+ to BBB- 5 345 979 4 104 047
With credit rating from BB- to BB+ 1 248 980 141 388
With credit rating lower than B+ 15 145 195 600
Without credit rating 57 973 -
  
Corporate bonds 5  885 029 15 514 029
With credit rating from A- to A+ 1 208 732 1 285 204
With credit rating from BBB+ to BBB- 428 892 488 630
With credit rating from BB- to BB+ 2 271 338 8 855 354
With credit rating lower than B+ 1 582 113 1 894 133
Without credit rating 393 954 2 990 708
  
Marketable equity securities 343 668 953 844
With credit rating from A- to A+ 210 391 953 844
With credit rating from BBB+ to BBB- 102 301 -
Without credit rating 30 976 -
  
   
Total pledged financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 12 896 774 24 646 862
     

 
Government and municipal bonds include Eurobonds of the Russian Federation and regional and local authorities 
bonds. 
 
Eurobonds of the Russian Federation are US Dollar denominated securities issued by the Ministry of Finance of the 
Russian Federation, and are freely tradable internationally, with maturity in 2030 (December 31, 2006  – 2030). The 
annual coupon rate on these bonds is 7.5% (December 31, 2006  - 5.0%). 
 
Regional and local authorities bonds are Rouble denominated securities issued by regional and local authorities, 
with maturities between 2011 and 2014 (December 31, 2006  –  between 2008 and 2015). The annual coupon rates 
on these bonds range from 7.6% to 8.0% (December 31, 2006  - 8.0% to 11.0%). 
 
Corporate bonds represent bonds of large Russian companies and banks denominated in Roubles and US Dollars 
and credit linked notes issued by large Russian companies and banks, with maturities from 2008 to 2022 (December 
31, 2006 – from 2007 to 2016). The annual coupon rates on these bonds range from 5.7% to 12.0% (December 31, 
2006  – from 6.8% to 12.0%). 
 
Marketable equity securities consist of shares of large Russian companies. 
 
Interest rates, geographical, currency and maturity analyses of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
pledged under repurchase agreements are disclosed in Note 28. The estimated fair value of financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss pledged under repurchase agreements is disclosed in Note 29. Information on related 
party balances is disclosed in Note 30. 
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7. Amounts due from credit institutions 
 
Amounts due from credit institutions comprise: 
 
 December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
   
Term deposits 125 469 1 312 454
With credit rating AAA - 2 925
With credit rating from A- to A+ 121 374 1 187 548
With credit rating lower than B+ - 117 858
Without credit rating 4 095 4 123
  
Promissory notes 11 146 7 943
With credit rating lower than B+ 11 146 7 943
     
   
Amounts due from credit institutions 136 615 1 320 397
   

 
As of December 31, 2007 included in term deposits were deposits of RR 24 884 thousand (December 31, 2006 –         
RR 1 105 322 thousand) pledged to a counterparty bank as security for open commitments in respect of letters of 
credit. 
 
As of December 31, 2007 the Group had no counterparties with aggregated balances above 10% of shareholders’ 
equity.  
 
As of December 31, 2006 the Group had one counterparty with aggregated balances above 10% of shareholders’ 
equity. The aggregated amount of these balances was RR 1 105 322 thousand or 83.7% of amounts due from credit 
institutions. 
 
Interest rates, geographical, currency and maturity analyses of amounts due from credit institutions are disclosed in 
Note 28. The estimated fair value of amounts due from credit institutions is disclosed in Note 29. Information on 
related party balances is disclosed in Note 30. 
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8. Receivables under reverse repurchase agreements 
 

Receivables under reverse repurchase agreements comprise: 
 
 December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
   
Credit institutions  555 107 918 298
With credit rating AAA - 237 662
With credit rating from AA- to AA+ 175 857 -
With credit rating from A- to A+ 26 984 499 491
With credit rating from BBB+ to BBB- 137 308 -
With credit rating from BB- to BB+ 20 029 -
With credit rating lower than B+ 44 721 148 281
Without credit rating 150 208 32 864
  
Customers 461 356 621 195
With credit rating lower than B+ 264 667 621 195
Without credit rating  196 689  -
   
   
Total receivables under reverse repurchase agreements 1 016 463 1 539 493
  

 
The Group minimizes credit risk associated with reverse repurchase agreements by monitoring counterparty credit 
exposure and collateral values on a daily basis and requiring additional collateral to be deposited with or returned by 
the Group when deemed necessary. The fair value of financial assets taken as collateral that the Group is permitted 
to sell or repledge comprises: 
 
 December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006

  

Corporate bonds 705 678 957 830
With credit rating from A- to A+ 345 335 738 148
With credit rating from BB- to BB+ 85 090 30 659
With credit rating lower than B+ 182 095 54 228
Without credit rating 93 158 134 795
  
Marketable equity securities 374 241 968 983
With credit rating from A- to A+ 218 894 968 983
With credit rating from BBB+ to BBB- 102 345 -
With credit rating lower than B+ 22 006 -
Without credit rating 30 996 -
  
Government and municipal bonds 98 346 -
With credit rating from BB- to BB+ 98 346 -
  
   
Total collateral 1 178 265 1 926 813
     

 
 
Interest rates, geographical, currency and maturity analyses of receivables under reverse repurchase agreements are 
disclosed in Note 28. The estimated fair value of receivables under reverse repurchase agreements is disclosed in 
Note 29. Information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 30. 
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9. Financial assets available-for-sale 

 
Financial assets available-for-sale comprise: 
 
 December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
   
Investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries 10 6 168
Equity securities - 197
      
   
Financial assets available-for-sale 10 6 365
   

 
Non-consolidated subsidiaries 
 
The Group had investments in the following non-consolidated subsidiaries: 
 
Name Investments Ownership % Shareholders’ 

equity/(deficit) 
 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 
  

LLC “Trust-broker” 10 - 100.0% - 371 - 
T&IB HOLDINGS B.V. - 6 168 - 100.0% - (1 026) 

  
 
T&IB HOLDINGS B.V. is a holding company incorporated in the Netherlands. During the year ended December 
31, 2007 the company was liquidated. Loss on liquidation of RR 4 563 thousand is included in “Net (losses)/gains 
on operations with securities” in the consolidated income statement. 
 
Limited liability company “Trust-broker” is a trading and brokerage company incorporated in Russia. The 
company’s activity is consulting in finance and management. 
 
The financial position and results of operations of LLC “Trust-broker” are considered to be immaterial for the 
purposes of inclusion in the consolidated financial statements of the Group. Investment in this company is shown at 
cost. 
 
Equity securities consist of shares of Russian companies. 
 
Interest rates, geographical, currency and maturity analyses of financial assets available-for-sale are disclosed in 
Note 28. The estimated fair value of financial assets available-for-sale is disclosed in Note 29. Information on 
related party balances is disclosed in Note 30. 
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10. Loans to customers  
 

 December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006 
   
Commercial loans 1 987 124             3 322 716  
Loans to individuals 147 606                148 071  
   
   
Gross loans to customers 2 134 730             3 470 787   
Allowance for impairment (284 004) (304 463) 
   
   
Net loans to customers 1 850 726                3 166 324 
   

 
 
Loans to customers are made principally within the Russian Federation to the following economic sectors: 
 
  December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
    
Real estate construction 721 594  621 185  
Investment and finance 663 424  1 121 619
Food processing 276 127 -
Oil and gas 275 372  275 372  
Individuals               147 606               148 071 
Manufacturing 50 607  150 407  
Factoring - 963 800
Extraction                 -                  184 899
Other - 5 434
   
Loans to customers 2 134 730 3 470 787
Allowance for impairment  (284 004) (304 463)
   
  
Loans to customers (net of allowance for impairment) 1 850 726 3 166 324
   

 
The Group had a significant concentration of loans to the real estate construction industry – 33.8% of the gross loan 
portfolio as of December 31, 2007 (December 31, 2006 – 17.9%). 
 
As of December 31, 2007 the Group had no borrowers with aggregated loan balances above 10% of shareholders’ 
equity. 
 
As of December 31, 2006 the Group had one borrower with aggregated loan balances above 10% of shareholders’ 
equity. The aggregated amount of this loan was RR 963 800 thousand or 27.8% of loans to customers. 
  
As of December 31, 2007 the Group held promissory notes of JSC “Oil Company “YUKOS” with a carrying 
amount of RR 275 372 thousand (December 31, 2006 – RR 275 372 thousand) before allowance for impairment. As  
of December 31, 2007 an allowance for impairment of RR 275 372 thousand (December 31, 2006 – RR 275 372 
thousand) in relation to these promissory notes was recorded by the Group. 
 
 
 

(Intentionally blank) 
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Credit quality of loan portfolio 

The following table provides information on the credit quality of loan portfolio as at December 31, 2007:  

 Gross loans Impairment Net loans Impairment 
to gross loans 

 RR’000 RR’000 RR’000 % 
Commercial loans     
Loans for which no impairment has been identified:     
- Standard loans 1 659 794 (8 303) 1 651 491 0.5% 
 
Loans for which no impairment has been identified 1 659 794 (8 303) 1 651 491 0.5% 
Impaired loans:     

- Overdue less than 1 month 51 958 (238) 51 720 0.5% 

- Overdue more than 1 year 275 372 (275 372) - 100.0% 
 
Impaired loans  327 330 (275 610) 51 720 84.2% 
 
Total commercial loans 1 987 124 

 
(283 913) 1 703 211 14.3% 

     
Loans to individuals 
Loans for which no impairment has been identified:     
- Standard loans 147 602 (87) 147 515 0.1% 
 
Loans for which no impairment has been identified 147 602 (87) 147 515 0.1% 
Impaired loans:     
- Overdue more than 1 year 4 (4) - 100.0% 

Impaired loans  4 (4) - 100.0% 

 
Total  loans to individuals 147 606 

 
(91) 147 515 0.1% 

     
Total loans to customers 2 134 730 (284 004) 1 850 726 13.3% 
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The following table provides information on the credit quality of the commercial loan portfolio as at December 31, 
2006:  

 Gross loans Impairment Net loans Impairment 
to gross loans 

 RR’000 RR’000 RR’000 % 

Commercial loans     
Loans for which no impairment has been identified:     
- Standard loans 2 891 504 (13 633) 2 877 871 0.5% 

Loans for which no impairment has been identified 2 891 504 (13 633) 2 877 871 0.5% 
Impaired loans:     
- Watch list loans 150 407 (10 002) 140 405 6.6% 
- Overdue more than 90 days and less than 1 year 5 433 (5 433) - 100.0% 
- Overdue more than 1 year 275 372 (275 372) - 100.0% 
 
Impaired loans  431 212 (290 807) 140 405 67.4% 
     
Total commercial loans 3 322 716 (304 440) 3 018 276 9.2% 
     
Loans to individuals     
Loans for which no impairment has been identified:     
- Standard loans 148 052 (4) 148 048 0.0% 

Loans for which no impairment has been identified 148 052 (4) 148 048 0.0% 
Impaired loans:     
- Overdue more than 1 year 19 (19) - 100.0% 
 
Impaired loans  19 (19) - 100.0% 
     
Total  loans to individuals 148 071 (23) 148 048 0.0% 
     
Total loans to customers 3 470 787 (304 463) 3 166 324 8.8% 
     

 The Group has estimated the impairment on loans to customers in accordance with the accounting policy as 
described in Note 4. 
 
The Group has estimated loan impairment for commercial loans to customers based on an analysis of the future cash 
flows for impaired loans and based on its past experience of portfolios for loans for which no indications of 
impairment has been identified. 
 
In determining the impairment allowance for the loan portfolio for which no specific impairment has been 
identified, management has assumed a time lag of 1 month to identify impairment after the loss triggering event. 
 
Changes in these estimates could affect the loan impairment allowance. For example, to the extent that the net 
present value of the estimated cash flows differs by plus/minus one percent, the loan impairment allowance as of 
December 31, 2007 would be RR 18 507 thousand lower/higher (December 31, 2006  – 31 663 thousand).  
 
As of December 31, 2007 the aggregate amount of loans to customers with contractually overdue principal or 
interest was RR 327 334 thousand, and the allowance for impairment created against such loans was RR 275 614 
thousand (December 31, 2006 - RR 280 824 thousand and RR 280 824 thousand respectively)  
 
During the year ended December 31, 2007, the Group accrued RR 228 thousand of interest on impaired loans  
(December 31, 2006 - RR 501 thousand). 

During the year ended December 31, 2007 the Bank did not renegotiate any commercial loans that would otherwise 
be past due or impaired. During the year ended December 31, 2006 the Bank had renegotiated one commercial loan 
of  RR 150 407 thousand. Such restructuring activity is aimed at managing customer relationships and maximising 
collection opportunities.  
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Analysis of collateral  

The following table provides the analysis of commercial loan portfolio, before deduction of impairment, by types of 
collateral as of December 31, 2007: 

 2007 % of loan  
portfolio  

2006 % of loan  
portfolio  

     
Promissory notes issued by the Bank 226 358 11.4% 305 057 9.2% 
No collateral 1 760 766 88.6% 3 017 659 90.8% 
     
     
Total  1 987 124 100.0% 3 322 716 100.0% 
     

The amounts shown in the table above represent the carrying value of the loans, and do not necessarily represent the 
fair value of the collateral. Loans that were secured by the collateral other than promissory notes issued by the Bank 
were treated as having no collateral for the purposes of this analysis.  

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006 all impaired loans were unsecured.  

During the year ended December 31, 2007 the Group did not obtain any assets by taking control of collateral 
accepted as security for commercial loans (December 31, 2006 - nil). 

 
(Recovery of allowance)/allowances for impairment 

 
The movements in allowances for impairment were as follows: 
 

  Loans to 
customers Other assets Total 

    
December 31, 2005 323 821 3 000 326 821 
Allowances for impairment 294 989 - 294 989 
Disposal of provision as a result of disposal of loans (147 022) - (147 022) 
Write-offs (167 325)   -  (167 325) 
    
December 31, 2006 304 463 3 000 307 463 
Recovery of  allowances for impairment (13 034) (60) (13 094) 
Write-offs (7 425) (2 940) (10 365) 
    
December 31, 2007 284 004 - 284 004 
        

 
During 2006 the Group wrote off overdue loans with the carrying value of RR 167 325 thousand, collectability of 
which was considered to be unlikely. 
 
In addition, during 2006 the Group sold a non-performing loan to an unrelated  party with the carrying value of RR 
716 795 thousand. Prior to disposal, allowances for impairment of RR 147 022 thousand were created against this 
loan. 
 
Interest rates, geographical, currency and maturity analyses of loans to customers are disclosed in Note 28. The 
estimated fair value of loans to customers is disclosed in Note 29. Information on related party balances is disclosed 
in Note 30. 

 

 

 

 

 



TRUST Investment Bank   
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2007  
(Thousands of Russian Roubles except otherwise stated) 

 

29 

11. Property and equipment 
 

The movements of property and equipment during 2007 were as follows: 
 

 Furniture 
and 

fixtures 

Computers 
and 

equipment 
Motor 

vehicles 
Other fixed 

assets 
Assets under 
construction Total 

  
Cost  
December 31, 2006  65 787 271 826 6 665 49 896 129 732 523 906
Additions  159 13 934 701 6 708 10 137 31 639
Disposals (9 879) (15 938) (2 581) (403) - (28 801)
             
       
December 31, 2007  56 067 269 822 4 785 56 201 139 869 526 744
             
       
Accumulated depreciation       
December 31, 2006  31 078 133 420 3 982 22 947 - 191 427
Depreciation charge for the year  8 561 39 649 962 10 506 - 59 678
Disposals  (6 132) (14 086) (1 951) (284) - (22 453)
             
       
December 31, 2007  33 507 158 983 2 993 33 169 - 228 652
             
       
Net book value       
December 31, 2006  34 709 138 406 2 683 26 949 129 732 332 479
December 31, 2007  22 560 110 839 1 792 23 032 139 869 298 092
  

 
The movements of property and equipment during 2006 were as follows: 
 
 Furniture 

and 
fixtures 

Computers 
and 

equipment 
Motor 

vehicles 
Other fixed 

assets 
Assets under 
construction Total 

  
Cost  
December 31, 2005  69 818 298 886 6 950 51 423 132 495 559 572
Additions 5 704 12 660 1 180 490 - 20 034
Disposals (9 735) (39 720) (1 465) (2 017) (2 763) (55 700)
             
       
December 31, 2006 65 787 271 826 6 665 49 896 129 732 523 906
             
       
Accumulated depreciation       
December 31, 2005  28 890 122 013 3 273 14 451 - 168 627
Depreciation charge for the period 9 588 45 403 1 334 10 181 - 66 506
Disposals (7 400) (33 996) (625) (1 685) - (43 706)
             
       
December 31, 2006 31 078 133 420 3 982 22 947 - 191 427
             
       
Net book value       
December 31, 2005  40 928 176 873 3 677 36 972 132 495 390 945
December 31, 2006 34 709 138 406 2 683 26 949 129 732 332 479
  

 
As of December 31, 2007 the gross carrying amount of fully depreciated property and equipment that is still in use 
by the Group was RR 76 279 thousand (December 31, 2006 - RR 60 060 thousand). 
 
Geographical, currency and maturity analyses of property and equipment are disclosed in Note 28. The estimated 
fair value of property and equipment is disclosed in Note 29. Information on related party balances is disclosed in 
Note 30. 
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12. Investment property 
 
Investment property comprises: 
 

December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006 
 

Type of investment 
property 

Description Location Purpose Carrying 
value 

Fair value Carrying 
value 

Fair value 

 
Real estate  Building Ukraine, Kiev Rent 

 
446 438 

 
446 438 

 
245 303 

 
245 303 

        
 
The above building was purchased in September 2006. The fair value of investment property as of December 31, 
2006 was estimated by management based on publicly available information regarding market values of similar 
properties. As of December 31, 2007 the building was revalued by the management of the Group based on the 
results of an independent appraisal performed by LLC “Bureau of independent appraisals “INDEX”.  
 
The bases used for the appraisal were the market approach and the income capitalization approach. The market 
approach was based upon an analysis of comparable sales of similar buildings. The following key assumptions were 
used for the income capitalization approach: 
 
a. cash flows were based on a 1 year detailed projection, extended to the remaining useful life of the asset and 

using zero growth rate; 
b. the net cash flows were discounted using the average rent rate of 11%. 
 
Geographical, currency and maturity analyses of investment property are disclosed in Note 28. The estimated fair 
value of investment property is disclosed in Note 29. Information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 30. 
 

13. Intangible assets 
 

The movements of intangible assets during 2007 were as follows: 
 
 Licenses Computer 

software 
Total 

    
Cost    
December 31, 2006  1 427  223 586 225 013 
Additions - 32 516 32 516 
Write-offs - (180 338) (180 338) 
    
    
December 31, 2007  1 427 75 764 77 191 
    
    
Accumulated amortization    
December 31, 2006  724 198 117 198 841 
Amortization charge for the period  440 20 510 20 950 
Write-offs - (180 338) (180 338) 
    
    
December 31, 2007  1 164 38 289 39 453 
    
    
Net book value    
December 31, 2006  703 25 469 26 172 
December 31, 2007 263 37 475 37 738 
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The movements of intangible assets during 2006 were as follows: 
 
 Licenses Computer 

software 
Total 

    
Cost    
December 31, 2005  1 234 213 782 215 016 
Additions 193 9 804 9 997 
    
    
December 31, 2006 1 427  223 586 225 013 
    
    
Accumulated amortization    
December 31, 2005  343 169 797 170 140 
Amortization charge for the period 381 28 320 28 701 
    
    
December 31, 2006 724 198 117 198 841 
    
    
Net book value    
December 31, 2005  891 43 985 44 876 
December 31, 2006 703 25 469 26 172 
    

 
During the year ended December 31, 2007 the Group has written off fully amortized computer software with the 
gross carrying value of RR 180 338 thousand. 
 
Geographical, currency and maturity analyses of intangible assets are disclosed in Note 28. The estimated fair value 
of intangible assets is disclosed in Note 29. Information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 30. 

 
14. Other assets  

 
Other assets comprise: 
 
 December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
   
Settlements on operations with securities 111 806 185 422
Prepayments 28 369 45 792
Commission income accrued 16 214 12 294
Settlements on foreign exchange deals 5 248 -
Other 16 537 5 917
  
Other assets 178 174 249 425
Allowance for impairment (Note 10) - (3 000)
  
   
Net other assets  178 174 246 425
   

 
Settlements on operations with securities mainly represent receivables under unsettled deals with securities. 
 
Geographical, currency and maturity analyses of other assets are disclosed in Note 28. The estimated fair value of 
other assets is disclosed in Note 29. Information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 30. 
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15. Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss comprise: 
 
 December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
   
Derivative financial liabilities (Note 6) 52 484 35 195
   
Obligations to return securities received as collateral 

 
  
Credit institutions 424 496 897 540
Customers 571 748 951 844
   
   
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss              1 048 728              1 884 579
    

 
Under reverse repurchase agreements the Group obtains securities on terms that permit it to repledge or resell the 
securities to others. As of December 31, 2007 the Group received RR 1 178 265 thousand of securities at market 
value on such terms (December 31, 2006 - RR 1 926 813 thousand), of which RR 996 244 thousand were transferred 
or sold to others in connection with its financing activities or to satisfy its commitments under short sale transactions 
(December 31, 2006 – 1 849 384 thousand). 
 
Interest rates, geographical, currency and maturity analyses of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
are disclosed in Note 28. The estimated fair value of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss is 
disclosed in Note 29. Information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 30. 
 
 

16. Amounts due to credit institutions 
 

Amounts due to credit institutions comprise: 
 December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
   
Term deposits 1 795 228 3 974 254
Current accounts 127 526 9 243
     
   
Amounts due to credit institutions 1 922 754 3 983 497
     

 
As of December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, term deposits included RR 40 205 thousand and RR 108 245 
thousand, respectively, due to the CBR related to the restructuring of debts of the former Bank MENATEP 
(Moscow).  
 
As of December 31, 2007 the Group had one counterparty with aggregated balances above 10% of shareholders’ 
equity. The aggregated amount of these term deposits was RR 1 755 023 thousand or 91.3% of amounts due to 
credit institutions. 
 
As of December 31, 2006 the Group had one counterparty with aggregated balances above 10% of shareholders’ 
equity. The aggregated amount of these term deposits was RR 3 791 149 thousand or 95.2% of amounts due to 
credit institutions. 
 
Interest rates, geographical, currency and maturity analyses of amounts due to credit institutions are disclosed in 
Note 28. The estimated fair value of amounts due to credit institutions is disclosed in Note 29. Information on 
related party balances is disclosed in Note 30. 
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17.  Payables under repurchase agreements 
 

Payables under repurchase agreements comprise: 
 December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
   
Credit institutions            11 026 309            21 842 458
Customers 46 738              -
     
   
Payables under repurchase agreements 11 073 047 21 842 458
   

 
Repurchase agreements are monitored on a daily basis in order for additional collateral to be deposited by or 
returned to the Group when deemed necessary. 
 
The financial assets pledged under repurchase agreements are disclosed in Note 6. 
 
As of December 31, 2007 the Group had eight counterparties with aggregated balances above 10% of shareholders’ 
equity. The aggregated amount of these payables under repurchase agreements was RR 9 531 472 thousand or 
86.1% of amounts payables under repurchase agreements. 
 
As of December 31, 2006 the Group had twelve counterparties with aggregated balances above 10% of 
shareholders’ equity. The aggregated amount of these payables under repurchase agreements was RR 17 956 121 
thousand or 82.2% of amounts payables under repurchase agreements. 
 
Interest rates, geographical, currency and maturity analyses of payables under repurchase agreements are disclosed 
in Note 28. The estimated fair value of payables under repurchase agreements is disclosed in Note 29. Information 
on related party balances is disclosed in Note 30. 
 
 

18. Amounts due to customers 
 

Amounts due to customers comprise: 
 December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
   
Term deposits 3 791 381 3 254 173
Current accounts 2 032 055 4 644 695
   
     
Amounts due to customers 5 823 436 7 898 868
   

 
As of December 31, 2007 customer accounts of RR 431 755 thousand (December 31, 2006 - RR 1 108 317 
thousand) were held as collateral for letters of credit issued by the Group. Refer to Note 22.  
 
An analysis of customer accounts by sectors is as follows: 
 December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
  
Manufacturing 2 556 948 37 787
Investment and finance 1 233 540 112 056
Oil and gas 785 295 6 483 523
Food processing 494 524 -
Trading  250 614  494 225
Individuals 110 844 120 933
Real estate construction 88 109 127 964
Transport 35 126 39 863
Chemical industry 4 506 -
Insurance 4 462 4 683
Telecommunication 4 446 267 200
Research 2 966 15 694
Other 252 056 194 940
  
    

Amounts due to customers 5 823 436 7 898 868
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As of December 31, 2007 the Group had two groups of customer accounts with aggregated balances above 10% of 
shareholders’ equity. The aggregated amount of these amounts due to customers was RR 3 264 921 thousand or 
56.1% of amounts due to customers.  
 
As of December 31, 2006 the Group had one group of customer accounts with aggregated balances above 10% of 
shareholders’ equity. The aggregated amount of these amounts due to customers was RR 6 540 261 thousand or 
82.8% of amounts due to customers. 
 
As of December 31, 2006 customer accounts included current accounts of companies affiliated with JSC “Oil 
Company “YUKOS” of RR 6 540 261 thousand, out of which RR 527 118 thousand were current accounts of a 
restricted nature. During the year ended December 31, 2007, the above mentioned companies were sold to state 
owned oil company “Rosneft” as a result of bankruptcy proceedings. As of December 31, 2007 customer accounts 
of these companies amounted to RR 713 756 thousand, out of which RR 355 003 thousand are current accounts of a 
restricted nature. 
 
Interest rates, geographical, currency and maturity analyses of amounts due to customers are disclosed in Note 28. 
The estimated fair value of amounts due to customers is disclosed in Note 29. Information on related party balances 
is disclosed in Note 30. 
 

19. Debt securities issued 
 

Debt securities issued are as follows: 
 
 December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
   
Loan participation notes 3 478 772 3 114 016 
Promissory notes 510 506 1 799 424
     
   
Debt securities issued 3 989 278 4 913 440
   

 
As of December 31, 2007 the Group was in compliance with the 10% statutory Tier I capital ratio covenant imposed 
by the loan participation notes. 
 
In October 2006 the Group issued loan participation notes with a nominal value of USD 150 000 thousand at an 
interest rate of 9.25% with maturity on 5 October 2009. 
 
Interest rates, geographical, currency and maturity analyses of debt securities issued are disclosed in Note 28. The 
estimated fair value of debt securities issued is disclosed in Note 29. Information on related party balances is 
disclosed in Note 30. 
 

20.  Other liabilities 
 
Other liabilities comprise: 
 
 December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
  
Accrued bonuses 148 055 112 492
Settlements on operations with securities 30 865 30 873
Payables on taxes other than income tax 11 927 26 589
Settlements with suppliers 11 902 8 625
Other 16 064 1 523
  
  
Other liabilities 218 813 180 102
   

 
Settlements on operations with securities mainly represent payables under unsettled deals with securities. 
 
Geographical, currency and maturity analyses of other liabilities are disclosed in Note 28. The estimated fair value 
of other liabilities is disclosed in Note 29. Information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 30. 
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21. Share capital  
 

The share capital of the Group has been contributed by the shareholders in Russian Roubles, and they are entitled to 
dividends or other capital distribution in Russian Roubles. 
 
As of December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006 share capital of the Group consisted of 1 030 000 000 authorized, 
issued and fully paid ordinary shares with a fixed nominal value of Rouble 1. 
 
 December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006 
   
Nominal value of ordinary shares 1 030 000 1 030 000 
Inflation adjustment to share capital 2 014 581 2 014 581 
   
   
Share capital 3 044 581 3 044 581 
   

 
 
During 2007 the Group received contributions from its shareholders in the form of consideration for impaired loans 
sold of RR 162 799 thousand net of current tax of RR 39 072 thousand. In 2007 and 2006, the Group did not pay 
any dividends or other distributions to shareholders. 
 
Dividends payable are restricted to the maximum retained earnings of the Group, which are determined according to 
the legislation in the Russian Federation.  
 
 

22. Commitments and contingencies 
 
Legal 
In the ordinary course of business, the Group is subject to legal actions and complaints. The Group makes provisions 
for such matters when, in the opinion of management, it is probable that a payment will be made by the Group, and 
the amount can be reasonably estimated. In respect of such claims, management believes that the ultimate liability, if 
any, arising from such actions or complaints will not have a material adverse effect on the financial condition or the 
results of future operations of the Group.  
 
During 2005 JSC “Oil Company “YUKOS” (“YUKOS”) made a claim against the Bank for RR 2 612 809 thousand 
asserting that certain promissory notes (“PN’s of Issuers”) owned by YUKOS, and held by the Bank as custodian, 
were written-off the custodian account by the Bank based on instructions which the Bank believed to have been 
from YUKOS but which, following a lengthy court examination process, were found to have been invalid.  
 
In response, the Bank made a counter-claim to YUKOS for the full payment of the nominal value and accrued 
interest of the promissory notes issued by YUKOS of RR 3 050 264 thousand, which are held by the Bank. On 
October 6, 2006 the counter-claim to YUKOS was declined because bankruptcy proceedings against YUKOS were 
initiated. According to the decision issued by the court, the claims of YUKOS and the claims of the Bank are to be 
considered separately and can not be offset.  
 
In 2007, the issuers of the PN’s returned the PN’s to the custody of the Bank and the Bank credited the custodian 
account of YUKOS with the PN’s previously written off. The Guarantee (avals under these PN’s) in the amount of 
RR 2 262 732 thousand has also been restored in the accounting records of the Bank. On August 15, 2007 YUKOS 
has sold the abovementioned claim towards the Bank to the company OAO “Rosneft” for RR 1 793 302 thousand. 
Currently the claims made by YUKOS (now changed for OAO “Rosneft”) against the Bank are considered by the 
court of the first instance. 
  
Management expect that OAO “Rosneft” will accept these PN's and will demand payment from their issuers, or, 
should the issuers fail to make payment, from the Bank. Management of the Bank believe that should 
OAO “Rosneft” demand payment, the issuers of the PN's have the necessary financial resources and support to 
enable them to make such payments without recourse to the Bank. The possibility also exists of other actions against 
the Bank in respect of this matter, however the Bank believes that it is unlikely that such actions will result in losses 
for the Bank. For the reasons described above, the Bank has not made any provision for losses in respect of this 
matter. At the date of signing these consolidated financial statements the court has not made any decision under 
these claims. 
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As at 31 December 2007 the Bank was engaged in litigation with the tax authorities who challenged the Bank’s 
methodology of calculating the tax losses to be carried forward. The court of first instance and the court of appeal 
took decisions in favour of the Bank. However, the Federal Arbitration Court declared these decisions invalid and 
returned the case to the court of first instance. The new decisions of the court of first instance and the court of appeal 
were taken in favour of the tax authorities. Currently the Bank is going to appeal this case to the Supreme 
Arbitration Court. If the Bank is not successful in this appeal, it will not be able to utilize the deferred tax asset in 
the amount of approximately RUR 66 million and RUR 6 million arising from tax losses carried forward recognized 
as at 31 December 2007 and 2006 respectively and, the Bank will also have to write off current tax assets for the 
years ended 31 December 2007 and 2006 in the amount of approximately RUR 112 million. However, Management 
of the Bank believes that they will be successful in their appeal and in their defence of these claims. 
 
During the year ended 31 December 2007 the Bank was subject to tax audit for the tax periods ended 31 December 
2004 and 2005. As a result of this audit a claim against the Bank was made to pay additional taxes and 
corresponding fines for the total amount of RR 94 381 thousand. The Bank appealed against these claims in court. 
At the date of signing these consolidated financial statements the court has not made any decision under these 
claims. Management believes that the Bank was in full compliance with the tax laws and regulations and will be 
successful in their appeal and defence of these claims. Accordingly, no provision for the potential tax liabilities in 
relation to these claims has been recorded in the consolidated financial statements. 
 
 
Credit related commitments 
The Group’s credit related commitments comprise: 
 
  December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006 
    
Guarantees  2 577 459 38 814
Letters of credit  441 648 1 104 710
Undrawn loan commitments  - 16 067
    
    
Credit related commitments  3 019 107 1 159 591
Cash collateral held (Note 18)  (431 755) (1 108 317)
    
    
Credit related commitments (net of cash collateral held)  2 587 352 51 274
     

 
In the normal course of business, the Group makes commitments to grant loans at a specified rate of interest during 
a fixed period of time. Substantially all loan contracts contain clauses that set out certain conditions including 
changes in market rates, under which the interest rate could be reconsidered or the possibility to draw the loan could 
be cancelled. Therefore such unused loan commitments were not treated as options issued by the Group to 
borrowers to obtain loans at a specified interest rates. 
 
Credit-related commitments ensure that funds are available to a customer as required. Guarantees and standby letters 
of credit, which represent irrevocable assurances that the Group will make payments in the event that a customer 
cannot meet its obligations to third parties, carry the same credit risk as loans. Documentary and commercial letters 
of credit, which are written undertakings by the Group on behalf of a customer authorizing a third party to draw 
drafts on the Group up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions, are frequently fully or partially 
secured by funds deposited by customers and therefore bear limited credit risk. 
 
As of December 31, 2007 guarantees include avails under PN’s in the amount of RR 2 262 732 thousand which have 
been restored by the Bank (refer to “Legal” above). 
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Commitments under operating leases  
In the normal course of business the Group enters into lease agreements for office equipment and premises. Annual 
contractual lease payments under non-cancelable operating lease agreements are as follows: 
 
 December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006 
   
Not later than 1 year 160 318 34 719
  
   
Total 160 318 34 719
    

 
During the year ended December 31, 2007 RR 141 643 thousand (year ended December 31, 2006 - RR 134 874 
thousand) was recognized as an expense in the consolidated income statement in respect of operating leases. 
 
Insurance 
The Group does not have full coverage for its premises and equipment, business interruption, or third party liability 
in respect of property or environmental damage arising from accidents on Group property or relating to the Group’s 
operations. Until the Group obtains adequate insurance coverage, there is a risk that the loss or destruction of certain 
assets could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s operations and financial position. 

 
 

(Intentionally blank) 
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23. Interest income and interest expense 
 

Interest income and interest expense comprise: 
  2007  2006 
   
Interest income   
Debt securities 2 108 836 1 580 731
Loans to customers 384 651 395 063
Amounts due from credit institutions 290 735 290 223
Reverse repurchase agreements 172 572 117 184
  
   
Interest income 2 956 794 2 383 201
   
   
Interest expense   
Repurchase agreements 1 096 927 739 260
Debt securities issued 372 916 237 905
Amounts due to credit institutions 285 438 236 824
Amounts due to customers 225 813 224 849
  
  
Interest expense 1 981 094 1 438 838
     
   
Net interest income 975 700 944 363
    

 
 
 
 

(Intentionally blank) 
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24.  Fees and commission income and expense 
 

Fee and commission income and expense comprise: 
 

 2007 
 

 2006 
   
Fee and commission income   
Underwriting and other related services 355 252 220 047
Trust activities 17 591 14 612
Guarantees issued 16 208 21 174
Settlements and wire transfers 10 757 17 468
Operations with securities 8 017 8 926
Property rentals 2 003 5 549
Financial advisory fees 1 459  5 776
Other 4 884 24 840
  
    
Fee and commission income 416 171 318 392
   
   
Fee and commission expense   
Operations with securities 30 162  23 183
Settlements and wire transfers 7 465 7 274
Commissions on forex transactions 420 9 609
Other 5 031 4 731
   
    
Fee and commission expense 43 078 44 797
      
     
Net fee and commission income 373 093 273 595
   

 
 

25. Salaries and employment benefits and administrative expenses 
 

Salaries and employment benefits and administrative expenses comprise:  
 2007  2006 
   
Salaries and employment benefits   
Salaries and bonuses 814 428 880 674
Social security costs 57 086 57 078
Other employment benefits 5 801 8 611
  
   
Salaries and employment benefits 877 315 946 363
   
   
Administrative expenses   
Business development 189 331 158 325
Rent 141 643 134 874
Operating taxes 80 008 81 565
Charity 28 287 14 301
Communications 22 574 13 646
Other 26 789 23 225
  
   
Administrative expenses 488 632 425 936
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26. Taxation 
 
Corporate income tax (benefit)/expense expense comprises: 
 
 2007 2006 
   
Current tax expense 82 133 97 531
Deferred tax benefit (104 932) (10 376)
     
Income tax (benefit)/expense (22 799) 87 155
    

 
Russian legal entities must individually report taxable income and remit income taxes thereon to the appropriate 
authorities. The tax rate for banks for income other than interest income on state securities was 24%. The tax rate for 
interest income on state securities was 15%. The income tax rate for the consolidated subsidiary registered in Cyprus 
was 10%. 
 
The effective income tax rate differs from the statutory income tax rates. A reconciliation of the income tax expense 
based on statutory rates with actual is as follows: 
 
  2007 2006 
   
(Loss)/income before tax (356 292) 265 362 
Statutory tax rate 24% 24% 
   
   
Theoretical income tax (benefit)/expense at the statutory rate (85 510) 63 687 
   
Net non-deductible expenditure 86 394 87 408 
Income from state securities taxed at lower rates (30 017) (44 226) 
Tax effect of items taxed in different jurisdictions (38 661) (18 042) 
Taxation on dividend income from subsidiaries 37 500 - 
Other differences 7 495 (1 672) 
    
Income tax (benefit)/expense (22 799) 87 155 
   

 
Tax assets and liabilities consist of the following: 
 
  2007  2006
   
Current tax assets 182 816 220 908
Net deferred tax assets 172 579 67 647
   
   
Tax assets 355 395 288 555
  
   
Current tax liabilities 26 710 24 106
   
   
Tax liabilities 26 710 24 106
   

 
A temporary difference of RUR 317 983 thousand (2006: RUR 307 208 thousand) relating to investments in 
subsidiaries has not been recognised as the Group is able to control the timing of reversal of the difference, and 
reversal is not expected in the foreseeable future. The amount of the related unrecognised deferred tax liability is 
RUR 47 697 thousand (2006: RUR 46 081 thousand). 
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities comprise: 
 
 December 31, 

2005 Movement
December 31, 

2006 Movement
December 31, 

2007
  
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences  
Recognized tax loss carry forward 18 615 (12 621) 5 994 68 646 74 640
Amortization and depreciation 13 429 (676) 12 753 9 550 22 303
Allowances for impairment 16 618 51 962 68 580 (11 051) 57 529
Fair value re-measurement of derivatives 9 879 (14 961) (5 082) 13 251 8 169
Fair value re-measurement of securities  6 985 (6 985) - - -
Accrued expenses 44 957 (28 575) 16 382 13 342 29 724
Accrued income 31 858 16 715 48 573 (23 159) 25 414
Assets written-off  799 (799) - 7 968 7 968
   
  
Deferred tax assets 143 140 4 060 147 200 78 547 225 747
  
  
Tax effect of taxable temporary differences  
Hyperinflationary impact on non-monetary assets (15 345) 7 036 (8 309) 8 249 (60)
Fair value re-measurement of securities  (70 524) (720) (71 244) 68 353 (2 891)
Fair value re-measurement of investment property - - - (50 217) (50 217)
  
  
Deferred tax liabilities (85 869) 6 316 (79 553) 26 385 (53 168)
   
  
Net deferred tax assets 57 271 10 376 67 647 104 932 172 579
  

 
Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that realisation of related tax benefit is probable. 
 
Russia currently has a number of laws related to various taxes imposed by both federal and regional governmental 
authorities. Applicable taxes include value added tax, income tax, social taxes and others. Implementing regulations 
are often unclear or nonexistent and few precedents have been established. Often, different opinions regarding legal 
interpretation exist both among and within government ministries and organizations (like the Ministry of Taxes and 
Levies and its various inspectorates); thus creating uncertainties and areas of conflict. Tax declarations, together 
with other legal compliance areas (as examples, customs and currency control matters) are subject to review and 
investigation by a number of authorities that are enabled by law to impose extremely severe fines, penalties, and 
interest charges. These facts create tax risks in Russia substantially more significant than typically found in countries 
with more developed tax systems. 
 
Management believes that the Group is in substantial compliance with the tax laws affecting its operations. 
However, there is a risk that the tax authorities could take different positions with respect to certain issues and the 
effect on the financial position of the Group, should the authorities succeed in asserting such positions, could be 
significant. 
 
 

27.  Trust activities 
 
The Group provides custody, trustee, and corporate administration services to its clients, which involve the Group 
making allocation and purchase and sales decisions in relation to a wide range of financial instruments.  Those 
assets that are held in a fiduciary capacity are not included in these consolidated financial statements. As of 
December 31, 2007 the Group managed RR 8 543 thousand (December 31, 2006 – RR 21 025 thousand) of such 
assets.  
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28.  Risk management policies 
 
Management of risk is fundamental to the banking business and is an essential element of the Group’s operations.  
The Group manages risk through a set of policies and procedures tailored to the Group’s risk profile and risk taking 
activity. These policies and procedures are intended to efficiently identify, analyze and manage Group’s risk 
exposures, to set appropriate risk controls and limits, and to continuously monitor risk levels and adherence to the 
limits. Risk management policies and procedures are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in Group’s strategy, 
products and services offered, and emerging best practice. 
 
The Management Committee has overall responsibility for the oversight of the risk management framework, 
reviewing risk policies and procedures as well as approving significantly large exposures. The Management 
Committee is responsible for monitoring and implementation of risk mitigation measures and making sure that the 
Group operates within the established risk parameters. The Head of Risk is responsible for the overall risk 
management and compliance functions, ensuring the implementation of common principles and methods for 
identifying, measuring, managing and reporting both financial and non-financial risks. He reports directly to the 
Management Committee. 
 
Credit, market and liquidity risks both at portfolio and transaction levels are managed and controlled by the Credit 
Committee and Asset and Liability Management Committee (ALCO). In order to facilitate efficient decision-
making, the Group has established a hierarchy of credit committees depending on the type and amount of the 
exposure. 
 
Both external and internal risk factors are identified and managed throughout the Group’s organisational structure. 
Particular attention is given to developing risk maps that are used to identify the full range of risk factors and serve 
as a basis for determining the level of assurance over the current risk mitigation procedures. Apart from the standard 
credit and market risk analysis, the Risk Department monitors financial and non-financial risks by holding regular 
meetings with operational units in order to obtain expert judgments in their areas of expertise. 
 
The main risks inherent to the Group’s operations are those related to credit exposures, liquidity, and market 
movements in interest rates and foreign exchange rates.  A description of the Group’s risk management policies in 
relation to those risks as follows. 
 
Credit risk 
The Group is exposed to credit risk which is the risk that its counterparty will be unable to pay amounts in full when 
due. The Group has developed policies and procedures for the management of credit exposures, including guidelines 
to limit portfolio concentration and the establishment of the Credit Committee, which actively monitors the Group’s 
credit risk. The Group’s credit policy establishes: 

 Procedures for review and approval of loan/credit applications; 

 Methodology for the credit assessment of borrowers; 

 Methodology for the credit assessment of counterparties, issuers and insurance companies; 

 Methodology for the evaluation of collateral; 

 Credit documentation requirements; 

 Procedures for the ongoing monitoring of loans and other credit exposures. 

 
As described in Note 10, the Group's loan portfolio includes a significant concentration to the real estate 
construction industry. This concentration can result in increased sensitivity of the Group’s financial performance to 
short-term economic changes that may impact customers across the real estate construction industry. The Group 
actively monitors developments unique to industry or customer concentrations and anticipates that the significance 
of such concentrations will decline. The Group structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on 
the amount of risk accepted in relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers. Such risks are monitored on a 
revolving basis and are subject to frequent review. The Credit Committee approves limits on the level of credit risk 
by borrower regularly. 
 
The exposure to any one borrower including banks and brokers is further restricted by sub-limits covering on and 
off-balance sheet exposures which are set by the Credit Committee which meets once a week. Actual exposures are 
monitored against limits daily. 
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Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers to 
meet interest and principal repayment obligations and by changing these lending limits where appropriate. Exposure 
to credit risk is also managed in part by obtaining collateral and corporate and personal guarantees. 
 
The credit risk exposure on derivatives is managed as part of the overall lending limits with customers, together with 
potential exposures to market movements.  
 
The Group’s maximum exposure to on balance sheet credit risk is generally reflected in the carrying amounts of 
financial assets on the balance sheet. The impact of possible netting of assets and liabilities to reduce potential credit 
exposure is not significant. 
 
With respect to undrawn loan commitments, the Group is potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total 
amount of such commitments. However, the likely amount of loss is less than that, since most commitments are 
contingent upon certain conditions set out in the loan agreements. 
 
 
 

(Intentionally blank) 
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Geographical concentration 
The geographical concentration of monetary assets and liabilities is set out below: 

 
 December 31, 2007  
 

Russia OECD* 

CIS** and 
other 

countries Total 
     

Assets     
Cash and cash equivalents 3 147 247  876 365 22 996 4 046 608
Obligatory reserves with the CBR 209 977 - - 209 977
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  

- unpledged  8 917 962 120 026 51 082 9 089 070
- pledged under repurchase agreements 12 551 782 - 344 992 12 896 774

Amounts due from credit institutions 65 242 71 373 - 136 615
Receivables under reverse repurchase agreements 594 414 422 049 - 1 016 463
Financial assets available-for-sale 10 - - 10
Loans to customers 1 421 917 - 428 809  1 850 726
Tax assets  355 395 - - 355 395
Property and equipment 297 820 - 272 298 092
Investment property - - 446 438 446 438
Intangible assets 37 513 -  225 37 738
Other assets 65 701 63 798 48 675 178 174
         
     
Total assets 27 664 980 1 553 611 1 343 489 30 562 080
         
     
Liabilities    
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 499 599 518 314 30 815 1 048 728
Amounts due to credit institutions  1 915 481 7 237 36 1 922 754
Payables under repurchase agreements 3 016 451 8 056 596 - 11 073 047
Amounts due to customers 5 371 625 411 415 40 396 5 823 436
Debt securities issued 307 911 3 478 772 202 595 3 989 278
Tax liabilities 485 - 26 225 26 710
Other liabilities 210 568 242 8 003 218 813
        
     
Total liabilities 11 322 120 12 472 576 308 070 24 102 766
         
     
Net balance sheet position 16 342 860 (10 918 965) 1 035 419 6 459 314

    
 

* OECD - Organisation for economic co-operation and development. 
 

** CIS - Commonwealth of independent states. 
 
 
 

(Intentionally blank) 
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 December 31, 2006 
 

Russia OECD* 

CIS** and 
other 

countries Total 
    

Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 872 164 4 529 376 3 737 5 405 277
Obligatory reserves with the CBR 291 036 - - 291 036
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  

- unpledged  9 786 135 12 500 82 807 9 881 442
- pledged under repurchase agreements 24 460 666 - 186 196 24 646 862

Amounts due from credit institutions 180 423 1 139 974 - 1 320 397
Receivables under reverse repurchase agreements 181 145 737 153 621 195 1 539 493
Financial assets available-for-sale  - 6 168 197 6 365
Loans to customers 2 782 497 - 383 827 3 166 324
Tax assets 288 555 - - 288 555
Property and equipment 332 142 - 337 332 479
Investment property - - 245 303 245 303
Intangible assets 26 002 - 170 26 172
Other assets 54 032 49 833 142 560 246 425
         
     
Total assets 39 254 797 6 475 004 1 666 329 47 396 130
         
     
Liabilities     
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 176 563 740 288 967 728 1 884 579
Amounts due to credit institutions  117 355 3 866 008 134 3 983 497
Payables under repurchase agreements 11 275 501 10 540 284 26 673 21 842 458
Amounts due to customers 7 613 680 6 095 279 093 7 898 868
Debt securities issued 653 213 3 114 017 1 146 210 4 913 440
Tax liabilities 16 426 - 7 680 24 106
Other liabilities 170 647 4 617 4 838 180 102
        
     
Total liabilities 20 023 385 18 271 309 2 432 356 40 727 050
         
     
Net balance sheet position 19 231 412 (11 796 305) (766 027) 6 669 080

    
 

* OECD - Organisation for economic co-operation and development. 
** CIS - Commonwealth of independent states. 

 
 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that movements in market prices, including foreign exchange rates, interest rates, credit 
spreads and equity prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its portfolios. Market risk arises from open 
positions in interest rate, currency, equity, and derivative financial instruments, which are exposed to market 
movements and changes in the level of volatility of market prices. The objective of market risk management is to 
manage and control market risk exposures within an acceptable range, while ensuring proper return on risk. 

The Group manages its market risk by setting limits on risk measures in relation to separate portfolios, individual 
financial instruments, currency positions, interest and price Value-at-Risk (“VaR”), as well as using the stop-loss 
limits. Overall authority for market risk is vested in the ALCO. Market risk limits are approved by ALCO based on 
recommendations of the Risk Department. Management Committee monitors adherence to the limits on regular 
basis. 

In assessment of market risk, the Group focuses on historic, as well as potential future volatility. The Group 
employs VaR modelling for quantitative measurement of market risk and compliments that with stress- and scenario 
testing. A VaR model estimates maximum potential loss that could arise within a certain timeframe with a specified 
confidence level. Like any model, VaR uses numerous and significant assumptions that differ from bank to bank. 
The Group’s VaR model allows management to continuously monitor the Group’s overall, as well as specific levels 
of market risk exposure and its concentrations. Limit adherence is continuously monitored, and all excesses are 
communicated to senior management for review. 
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Although VaR is a valuable tool in measuring market risk exposures, it has a number of limitations, especially in 
less liquid markets: 

 The use of historical data as a basis for determining future events may not encompass all possible scenarios, 
particularly those which are of an extreme nature. 

 A 1 or 10-day holding period assumes that all positions can be liquidated or hedged within that period. This is 
considered to be a realistic assumption in almost all cases but may not be the case in situations in which there is 
severe market illiquidity for a prolonged period. 

 The use of a 99% confidence level does not take into account losses that may occur beyond this level. There is a 
one percent probability that the loss could exceed the VaR.  

 As VaR is only calculated on the end-of-day bases and does not necessarily reflect exposures that may arise on 
positions during the trading day. 

 The VaR measure is dependent upon the Group’s position and the volatility of market prices. The VaR of an 
unchanged position reduces if market volatility declines and vice versa.  

The Group does not solely rely on its VaR calculations in its market risk measurement due to inherent risk of usage 
of VaR as described above. The limitations of the VaR methodology are recognised by supplementing VaR limits 
with other position and sensitivity limit structures, including limits to address potential concentration risks within 
each trading portfolio, and gap analysis.  

The Group does not solely rely on its VaR calculations in its market risk measurement due to numerous assumptions 
involved. The limitations of the VaR methodology are recognised by supplementing VaR limits with other position 
and sensitivity limit structures, including limits to address potential concentration risks within each trading portfolio. 

A summary of the VaR estimates with 99% confidence level over a 10-day holding period in respect of the Group’s 
portfolio of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss as at 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006 
is as follows: 

  December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006 
    
Fixed income securities interest rate risk  208 732 307 406
Equity securities price risk  27 334 128 178
Diversification  (29 054) (136 381)
   
   
Total VaR 207 012 299 203
    

 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that movements in interest rates will affect the Group’s income or the value of its 
portfolios of financial instruments. Interest rate risk arises when the actual or forecasted assets of a given maturity 
period are either greater or less than the actual or forecasted liabilities in that maturity period. 

The Group is exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on its financial 
position and cash flows. Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes but may also reduce or create 
losses in the event that unexpected movements arise. 

An analysis of sensitivity of the Group’s net loss for the year and equity changes in the market interest rate based on 
a simplified scenario of a 100 basis point (bp) symmetrical increase or decrease in all yield curves and positions of 
interest-bearing assets and liabilities existing as at 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006. 

                     31 December 2007                     31 December 2006 
 Net loss Equity Net loss Equity 

100 bp parallel increase 56 631 56 631 114 778 114 778 
100 bp parallel decrease (56 631) (56 631) (114 778) (114 778) 
     

Interest rate risk depends mainly on volatility of bond yields in the Group’s portfolio, bond portfolio duration, as 
well as on portfolio diversification. The Group mitigates that risk by using hedging techniques, applying interest 
VaR limits and monitoring basis point values (“DV01”) of its portfolios. 
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The effective average interest rates by currencies for interest earning financial assets and liabilities were as follows:  
 
 December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006 
 Russian 

Roubles 
Foreign 

currencies 
Russian 
Roubles 

Foreign 
currencies 

     
Cash and cash equivalents 7.9% 6.0% 5.3% 5.7%
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  

- unpledged  8.5% 15.1% 8.5% 9.0%
- pledged under repurchase agreements 8.3% 7.9% 8.4% 7.8%

Amounts due from credit institutions 9.3% 4.4% 2.9% 3.8%
Receivables under reverse repurchase agreements 7.3% 5.4% -* 6.2%
Loans to customers 12.7% 12.3% 11.3% 7.1%
  
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 7.8% 7.4% -* 9.3%
Amounts due to credit institutions  8.6% 8.8% 6.2% 6.1%
Payables under repurchase agreements 6.5% 5.7% 6.4% 6.0%
Amounts due to customers 4.0% 2.6% 3.2% 0.3%
Debt securities issued 8.5% 9.6% 8.8% 8.0%

 
* - the Group did not have Russian Rouble denominated financial instruments as at the date. 
 
Price risk 

Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, 
whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or factors affecting all instruments 
traded in the market. Price risk arises when the Group takes a long or short position in a financial instrument.  

 
 
 

(Intentionally blank) 
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Currency risk 

The Group has assets and liabilities denominated in several foreign currencies. Foreign currency risk arises when the 
actual or forecasted assets in a foreign currency are either greater or less than the liabilities in that currency.  

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk is as follows: 
 December 31, 2007  
 Russian 

Roubles
Freely 

convertible 
Non-

convertible Total 
    
Assets     
Cash and cash equivalents 1 921 482 2 103 489 21 637 4 046 608
Obligatory reserves with the CBR 209 977 - - 209 977
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss   

- unpledged  5 487 114 3 601 956 - 9 089 070
- pledged under repurchase agreements 3 460 959 9 435 815 - 12 896 774

Amounts due from credit institutions 62 777 73 838 - 136 615
Receivables under reverse repurchase agreements 564 769 451 694 - 1 016 463
Financial assets available-for-sale  10 - - 10
Loans to customers 1 476 935 373 791 - 1 850 726
Tax assets 355 395 - - 355 395
Property and equipment 298 092 - - 298 092
Investment property 446 438 - - 446 438
Intangible assets 37 738 - - 37 738
Other assets 60 959 113 864 3 351 178 174
  
  
Total assets 14 382 645 16 154 447 24 988 30 562 080
  
     
Liabilities     
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 808 340 240 388 - 1 048 728
Amounts due to credit institutions  845 315 1 077 439 - 1 922 754
Payables under repurchase agreements 2 899 290 8 173 757 - 11 073 047
Amounts due to customers 3 246 839 2 576 586 11 5 823 436
Debt securities issued 510 506 3 478 772 - 3 989 278
Tax liabilities 485 26 225 - 26 710
Other liabilities 208 741 10 072 - 218 813
         
     
Total liabilities 8 519 516 15 583 239 11 24 102 766
     
     
Net balance sheet position 5 863 129 571 208 24 977 6 459 314
Less: derivative financial assets (5 653) (24 432) - (30 085)
Add: derivative financial liabilities 8 478 44 006 - 52 484
     
     
     
Net balance sheet position (net of derivatives) 5 865 954 590 782 24 977 6 481 713
     
     
Net off-balance sheet position 10 039 (32 438) - (22 399) 
     
     
Total position 5 875 993 558 344 24 977 6 459 314 
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 December 31, 2006 
 Russian 

Roubles 
Freely 

convertible 
Non-

convertible Total 
    
Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 1 860 323 3 542 264 2 690 5 405 277
Obligatory reserves with the CBR 291 036 - - 291 036
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss    

- unpledged  7 700 312 2 181 130  9 881 442
- pledged under repurchase agreements 11 728 760 12 918 102 - 24 646 862

Amounts due from credit institutions 177 126 1 143 271 - 1 320 397
Receivables under reverse repurchase agreements - 1 539 493 - 1 539 493
Financial assets available-for-sale  - 6 365 - 6 365
Loans to customers 2 985 758 180 566 - 3 166 324
Tax assets 288 555 - - 288 555
Property and equipment 332 479 - - 332 479
Investment property 245 303   245 303
Intangible assets 26 172 - - 26 172
Other assets 48 103 198 322 - 246 425
  
  
Total assets 25 683 927 21 709 513 2 690 47 396 130
    
    
Liabilities    
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 100 1 884 479 - 1 884 579
Amounts due to credit institutions  1 238 859 2 744 638 - 3 983 497
Payables under repurchase agreements 11 073 702 10 768 756 - 21 842 458
Amounts due to customers 6 175 747 1 723 110 11 7 898 868
Debt securities issued 653 216 4 260 224 - 4 913 440
Tax liabilities 16 426 7 680 - 24 106
Other liabilities 140 427 39 675 - 180 102
         
     
Total liabilities 19 298 477 21 428 562 11 40 727 050
     
     
Net balance sheet position 6 385 450 280 951 2 679 6 669 080
Less: derivative financial assets (543) (13 963) - (14 506)
Add: derivative financial liabilities 100 35 095 - 35 195
     
     
Net balance sheet position (net of derivatives) 6 385 007 302 083 2 679 6 689 769
     
     
Net off-balance sheet position 128 281 (148 970) - (20 689) 
     
     
Total position 6 513 288 153 113 2 679 6 669 080 
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Freely convertible currencies represent mainly US Dollar amounts, but also include currencies from other OECD 
countries. Non-freely convertible amounts relate to currencies of CIS countries, excluding Russia. 

An analysis of sensitivity of the Group’s net loss for the year and equity to changes in the foreign currency exchange 
rates based on positions existing as at 31 December 2007 and 2006 and a simplified scenario of a 5% change in 
USD and Euro to Russian Rouble exchange rates is as follows: 
 

 2007 2006 
 Net loss Equity Net loss Equity 

5% appreciation of USD against RUR 31 290 31 290 2 472 2 472 
5% depreciation of USD against RUR (31 290) (31 290) (2 472) (2 472) 
5% appreciation of EUR against RUR (9 808) (9 808) (1 225) (1 225) 
5% depreciation of EUR against RUR 9 808 9 808 1 225 1 225 
 
 
Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet its financial commitments. 
Liquidity risk exists when the maturities of assets and liabilities do not match. The matching and/or controlled 
mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and liabilities is fundamental to the management of the 
Group. It is unusual for financial institutions ever to be completely matched since business transacted is often of an 
uncertain term and of different types. An unmatched position potentially enhances profitability, but can also increase 
the risk of losses. 

The Group’s Treasury maintains liquidity management with the objective of ensuring that funds will be available at 
all times at acceptable rates to honor all cash flow obligations as they become due. The Group’s liquidity policy is 
reviewed and approved by the Management Committee and ALCO. 

The Group seeks to actively support a diversified and stable funding base comprising debt securities, long-term and 
short-term loans from other banks, core client deposits, accompanied by diversified portfolios of highly liquid 
assets, in order to be able to respond quickly and smoothly to unforeseen liquidity requirements.  

The liquidity management policy of the Group requires: 

• projecting cash flows by major currencies and maintaining the level of necessary liquid assets;  

• maintaining a diverse range of funding sources; 

• managing the concentration and profile of debts; 

• maintaining debt financing plans; 

• maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable assets that can easily be liquidated as protection against any 
interruption to cash flow; 

• maintaining liquidity and funding contingency plans; 

• monitoring balance sheet liquidity ratios against regulatory requirements.  

The daily liquidity position monitoring is performed by the Treasury Department. Under the normal market 
conditions, liquidity reports covering the liquidity position of the Group are presented to senior management on a 
weekly basis. Decisions on the Group’s liquidity management are made by the ALCO and implemented by the 
Treasury Department. 

The Group also calculates mandatory liquidity ratios on a daily basis in accordance with the requirement of the 
CBR. The Group was in compliance with these ratios in 2006 and 2007. 

The following table shows assets and liabilities of the Group by their remaining contractual maturity as of December 
31, 2007, with the exception of unpledged financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, which are shown 
in the category “Less than 1 month” (based on the fact that the Group’s management believes that all of these assets 
could be liquidated within one month in the normal course of business), and financial instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss pledged under repurchase agreements, which are shown according to repurchase agreement 
terms. Contractual maturity of  financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (pledged and unpledged) is 
shown below in this Note. 
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                                                        December 31, 2007 

 

On demand 
Less than 
1 month 

1 to 3  
months 

3 to 6  
months 

6 months 
to 1 year 

1 to 5  
years 

Overdue / 
No stated 
maturity 

Total 
 

  
Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 676 876 1 668 148 1 701 584 - - - - 4 046 608 
Obligatory reserves with the 
CBR 

 
- - 153 339 54 715 1 595 328 - 209 977 

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss    

- unpledged  - 9 089 070 - - - - - 9 089 070 
- pledged under 
repurchase agreements - 3 995 187 961 408 7 940 179 - - - 12 896 774 

Amounts due from credit 
institutions 8 780 6 850 9 254 - 2 748 11 146 97 837 136 615 
Receivables under reverse 
repurchase agreements - 797 254 219 209 - - - - 1 016 463 
Financial assets available-
for-sale  - - - - - - 10 10 
Loans to customers - 46 915 493 156 567 510 409 819 281 606 51 720 1 850 726 
Tax assets - - - - - 182 816 172 579 355 395 
Property and equipment - - - - - - 298 092 298 092 
Investment property - - - - - - 446 438 446 438 
Intangible assets - - - - - - 37 738 37 738 
Other assets - 149 457 10 109 3 751 1 019 7 089 6 749 178 174 
           
    
Total assets 685 656 15 752 881 3 548 059 8 566 155 415 181 482 985 1 111 163 30 562 080 
                
         
Liabilities         
Financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss - 723 416 315 946 9 366 - - - 1 048 728 
Amounts due to credit 
institutions  127 526 1 755 023 - - 40 205 - - 1 922 754 
Payables under repurchase 
agreements - 3 633 058 754 435 6 685 554 - - - 11 073 047 
Amounts due to customers 1 515 229 2 849 020 510 531 945 957 2 699 - - 5 823 436 
Debt securities issued - 20 153 202 595 278 942 - 3 487 588 - 3 989 278 
Tax liabilities - 485 - - 26 225 - - 26 710 
Other liabilities - 62 284 151 375 5 150 - 4 - 218 813 
            
    
Total liabilities 1 642 755 9 043 439 1 934 882 7 924 969 69 129 3 487 592 - 24 102 766 
            
    
Net position (957 099) 6 709 442 1 613 177 641 186 346 052 (3 004 607) 1 111 163 6 459 314 
    
    
Accumulated liquidity gap (957 099) 5 752 343 7 365 520 8 006 706 8 352 758 5 348 151  6 459 314 -
         

 
 
 
 

(Intentionally blank)   
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                                                              December 31, 2006 

 

On demand 
Less than 
1 month 

1 to 3  
months 

3 to 6  
months 

6 months 
to 1 year 

1 to 5  
years 

Overdue / 
No stated 
maturity Total 

  
Assets   
Cash and cash equivalents 719 294 4 685 983 - - - - - 5 405 277 
Obligatory reserves with the 
CBR 

 
- - 209 756 18 599 6 413 56 268 - 291 036 

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss    

- unpledged  - 9 881 442 - - - - - 9 881 442 
- pledged under 
repurchase agreements - 7 888 648 2 461 360 14 296 854 - - - 24 646 862 

Amounts due from credit 
institutions - 127 853 470 426 311 105 296 932 24 806  89 275 1 320 397 
Receivables under reverse 
repurchase agreements - 918 298 621 195 - - - - 1 539 493 
Financial assets available-for-
sale  - - - - - - 6 365 6 365 
Loans to customers - 152 677 823 408 1 179 749 547 1 009 943 - 3 166 324 
Tax assets - -  - -  - 220 908 67 647 288 555 
Property and equipment - - - - - - 332 479 332 479 
Investment property - - - - - - 245 303 245 303 
Intangible assets - - - - - - 26 172 26 172 
Other assets - 205 614 11 435 - 5 672 678 23 026 246 425 
           
    
Total assets 719 294 23 860 515 4 597 580 15 806 307 309 564 1 312 603 790 267 47 396 130 
  
  
Liabilities  
Financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss 168 922 345 962 066 - - - - 1 884 579 
Amounts due to credit 
institutions  9 243 3 791 149 74 860 - - 108 245 - 3 983 497 
Payables under repurchase 
agreements - 11 376 489 1 417 012 9 048 957 - - - 21 842 458 
Amounts due to customers 4 774 785 1 763 991 473 406 572 634 297 186 16 866 - 7 898 868 
Debt securities issued 10 048 621 060 586 528 500 748 72 929 3 122 127 - 4 913 440 
Tax liabilities - 16 426  - - 7 680 - - 24 106 
Other liabilities - 65 120 114 982 - - - - 180 102 
            
    
Total liabilities 4 794 244 18 556 580 3 628 854 10 122 339 377 795 3 247 238 - 40 727 050 
           
    
Net position (4 074 950) 5 303 935 968 726 5 683 968 (68 231) (1 934 635) 790 267 6 669 080 
    
    
Accumulated liquidity gap (4 074 950) 1 228 985 2 197 711 7 881 679 7 813 448 5 878 813 6 669 080 -
  
 
 
The maturity of the loan portfolio shows the remaining period from the balance sheet date to the contractual 
maturity. Long-term credits are generally not available in Russia. However, in the Russian marketplace, many short-
term credits are granted with the expectation of renewing the loans at maturity. Accordingly, the effective maturity 
of a loan portfolio may be longer than indicated by the classification based on contractual terms. 
 
The maturity gap analysis does not reflect the historical stability of current accounts, whose liquidation has 
historically taken place over a longer period than that indicated in the table above.  The table is based upon these 
accounts’ entitlement to withdraw on demand.  
 
Unpledged financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are shown as less then one month, however realizing 
such assets at short notice is dependent upon financial market conditions. Significant security positions may not be 
liquidated in a short period of time without adverse price effects. 

 
The following table shows financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of the Group by their remaining 
contractual maturity as of December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006. 
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  December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006 
   
On demand - 372
Less than 1 month 30 085 2 034
1 to 3 months 79 882 397 536
3 to 6 months 162 021 530 986
6 months to 1 year 286 637 204 393
1 to 5 years 8 175 438 16 227 127
Over 5 years 10 507 855 13 582 403
No stated maturity  2 743 926 3 583 453
      
   
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 21 985 844 34 528 304
   

 

The following tables show the undiscounted cash flows on the Group’s financial liabilities and unrecognized loan 
commitments on the basis of their earliest possible contractual maturity. The gross nominal inflow and outflow 
disclosed in the table is the contractual, undiscounted cash flow on the financial liability or commitment. The 
Group’s expected cash flows on these financial liabilities and unrecognized loan commitments don’t vary 
significantly from this analysis.  

                                                              December 31, 2007 
 

 
Less than 

1 month
1 to 3 

months
3 to 6 

months
6 months 
to 1 year

More then 
1 year 

Total gross 
nominal 
outflow/
(inflow)

Carrying 
 amount

 
Non-derivative liabilities   
Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss    
- obligations to return securities 
received as collateral  694 290 315 946 - - - 1 010 236 996 244
Amounts due to credit institutions   1 897 741 11 340 17 010 6 185 - 1 932 276 1 922 754
Payables under repurchase 
agreements  3 640 162 763 224 6 827 174 - - 11 230 560 11 073 047
Amounts due to customers  4 374 800 525 001 956 632 2 699 - 5 859 132 5 823 436
Debt securities issued  20 213 203 961 447 292 158 670 3 757 716 4 587 852 3 989 278
Tax liabilities  485 - - 26 225 - 26 710 26 710
Other liabilities  62 284 151 375 5 150 - 4 218 813 218 813
 
Derivative financial instruments       
- Inflow  (2 317 514) (708 092) (718 709) - - (3 744 315) (30 085)
- Outflow  2 360 632 711 840 724 327 - - 3 796 799 52 484
    
    

Total   10 733 093 1 974 595 8 258 876 193 779
 

3 757 720 24 918 063
 

24 072 681
 
 
Credit related commitments 2 587 352 - - - - 2 587 352 2 587 352
    

 

 

 

 (Intentionally blank) 
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                                                              December 31, 2006 

 

 
Less than 

1 month
1 to 3 

months
3 to 6 

months
6 months  
to 1 year 

More 
then 1 

year 

Total gross 
nominal 
outflow/
(inflow)

Carrying 
 amount

 
Non-derivative liabilities    
Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss     
- obligations to return securities 
received as collateral  900 032 951 846 - - - 1 851 878 1 849 384
Amounts due to credit institutions   3 881 136 11 340 17 010 34 020 40 205 3 983 711 3 983 497
Payables under repurchase 
agreements  11 388 581 1 464 899 9 261 527 - - 22 115 007 21 842 458
Amounts due to customers  6 539 049 473 766 581 401 298 450 16 968 7 909 634 7 898 868
Debt securities issued  631 624 593 069 646 067 217 888 3 946 163 6 034 811 4 913 440
Tax liabilities  16 426 - - 7 680 - 24 106 24 106
Other liabilities  65 120 114 982 - - - 180 102 180 102
 
Derivative financial instruments       
- Inflow  (2 009 365) (263 311) - - - (2 272 676) (14 506)
- Outflow  2 034 337 273 534 - - - 2 307 871 35 195
     
     
Total   23 446 940 3 620 125 10 506 005 558 038 4 003 336 42 134 444 40 712 544
 
 
Credit related commitments 51 274 - - - - 51 274 51 274
     

 

The total outstanding contractual amount of credit related commitments does not necessarily represent future cash 
requirements, as these commitments may expire or terminate without being funded. Consequently commitments 
listed above should not be treated as expected cash outflows. 
 
Operational risk 
 

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems, 
including system conversions and integration, and external events. The Group’s goal in operational risk management 
is to keep that risk at acceptable levels, corresponding to the Group’s financial strength, characteristics of its 
businesses, markets in which it operates, and the competitive and regulatory environment.  

 
To monitor and control operational risk, the Group maintains a system of comprehensive policies and a control 
framework designed to provide a sound and well-controlled operational environment. This is achieved mainly by 
sound operations support base, transparency of information, and efficient internal control. Addressing the scale of 
the Group network, operations control extends to branches and includes operations by their type, expenses control, 
and legal risks. 
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29.   Fair values of financial instruments 
 

Fair value is defined as the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between 
knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length transaction, other than in forced or liquidation sale. Judgment is 
necessary in arriving at fair value, based on current economic conditions and the specific risks attributable to the 
instrument.  The estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the Group could realize in 
a market exchange from the sale of its full holdings of a particular instrument.  
 
The following table summarizes the carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities. 
 
 December 31, 2007            December 31, 2006  
 Carrying 

Amount Fair Value 
Carrying 
Amount Fair Value 

     
Financial assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 4 046 608 4 046 608 5 405 277 5 405 277
Obligatory reserves with the CBR 209 977 207 395 291 036 273 011
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  

- unpledged  9 089 070 9 089 070 9 881 442 9 881 442
- pledged under repurchase agreements 12 896 774 12 896 774 24 646 862 24 646 862

Amounts due from credit institutions 136 615 136 615 1 320 397 1 320 397
Receivables under reverse repurchase agreements 1 016 463 1 016 463 1 539 493 1 539 493
Financial assets available-for-sale  10 10 6 365 6 365
Loans to customers 1 850 726 1 850 726 3 166 324 3 166 324
Other assets 178 174 178 174 246 425 246 425
   
Financial liabilities   
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 1 048 728 1 048 728 1 884 579 1 884 579
Amounts due to credit institutions  1 922 754 1 921 919 3 983 497 3 977 961
Payables under repurchase agreements 11 073 047 11 073 047 21 842 458 21 842 458
Amounts due to customers 5 823 436 5 823 436 7 898 868 7 898 868
Debt securities issued 3 989 278 3 762 950 4 913 440 4 875 944
Other liabilities 218 813 218 813 180 102 180 102
     

 
The following methods and assumptions are used by the Group to estimate the fair value of these financial 
instruments: 
 
Cash and cash equivalents and obligatory reserves with the CBR 
For liquid instruments, the carrying amount is a reasonable estimate of fair value. Reserve deposits with the CBR are 
non-interest bearing and are estimated to mature as the underlying deposits and other balances in respect of which 
those deposits are maintained mature. 
 
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss  
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value. The fair value of financial 
instruments at fair value through profit or loss is determined with reference to an active market. 
 
Amounts due from and due to credit institutions  
For assets maturing within one month, the carrying amount approximates fair value due to the relatively short-term 
maturity of these financial instruments. For longer-term deposits, the interest rates applicable reflect market rates 
and, consequently, the fair value approximates the carrying amounts.  
 
Receivables and payables under  repurchase agreements and obligations to return securities received as 
collateral  
For these assets and liabilities the carrying amount is a reasonable estimate of fair value due to their relatively short-
term nature. 
 
Financial assets available-for-sale 
Corporate shares are estimated based on quoted market prices or pricing models that take into account the current 
market and contractual prices of the underlying instruments and other relevant factors. 
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Loans to customers 
The fair value of loans to customers represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be 
received, and is based on the credit and interest rate characteristics of the individual loans within each sector of the 
portfolio. The estimation of the allowance for loan impairment includes consideration of risk premiums applicable to 
various types of loans based on factors such as the current situation of the economic sector in which each borrower 
operates, the economic situation of each borrower and guarantees obtained. 
 
Amounts due to customers 
For balances maturing within one month, the carrying amount approximates fair value due to the relatively short-
term maturity of these financial instruments. For longer-term fixed interest bearing deposits and other borrowings 
the estimated fair value is based on discounted cash flows using interest rates for new debts with similar remaining 
maturity. 
 
Debt securities issued 
The estimated fair values of debt securities issued is based on discounted cash flows and discount rates for a similar 
instruments at the balance sheet date. The fair value of loan participation notes was estimated based on quoted 
market prices. 
 
Other financial assets and liabilities 
The carrying amounts of other financial assets and other financial liabilities approximate their fair values due to the 
relatively short-term maturity of these financial instruments. 
 
 
 

(Intentionally blank) 
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30.  Related Party Transactions 
 

For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, parties are considered to be related if one party has the 
ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial or 
operational decisions as defined by IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”. In considering each possible related party 
relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, not merely the legal form.  
 
As of December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006 the Group had the following transactions outstanding with  
related parties: 
 
 December 31, 2007 
 

Transactions 
with 

shareholders 

Transactions 
with non-

consolidated 
subsidiaries 

Transactions 
with key 

management 
personnel 

Transactions 
with group 

NBT* 
Total

category 
    
Cash and cash equivalents (RR – 0.0%, Foreign 
Currency – 0.0%) - - - 54 310 4 046 608
Financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss  

- unpledged (Foreign Currency:  – 10.0%) 13 006 - - - 9 089 070
- pledged under repurchase agreements 
(Foreign Currency – 9.4%) - - - 157 187 12 896 774

Amounts due from credit institutions (RR – 
9.3%, Foreign Currency – 7.3%) - - - 11 146 136 615
Financial assets available-for-sale (RR – 0.0%) - 10 - - 10
Receivables under reverse repurchase 
agreements (Foreign Currency – 6.7%) - 8 498 1 016 463
Loans to customers (RR – 0.0%, Foreign 
Currency – 9.0%) 187 075  7 356 - 1 850 726
Other assets - - - 162 178 174
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss 

- derivative liabilities 19 197 -
 

- 10 479 52 484
Amounts due to credit institutions (RR – 0.0%) - - - 4 753 1 922 754
Amounts due to customers (RR – 0.0%, Foreign 
Currency – 0.0%) 3 068 - 6 34 642 5 823 436
Debt securities issued (RR – 11.0%) - - - 8 816 3 989 278
Other liabilities   - - - 5 199 218 813
Guarantees received** 1 535 651 - - - 1 535 651
Guarantees issued 2 748 - - 35 151 2 577 459
  
 

*group NBT represents companies which are under common control with the Group, i.e. National Bank TRUST and 
its subsidiaries. 
**the Group has received the guarantees from the shareholders in respect of its remote liabilities. 
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 December 31, 2006 
 

Transactions 
with 

shareholders 

Transactions 
with non-

consolidated 
subsidiaries 

Transactions 
with key 

management 
personnel 

Transactions 
with group 

NBT* 
Total

category 
    
Cash and cash equivalents (RR – 0.0%, Foreign 
Currency – 0.0%) - - - 1 729 5 405 277
Financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss  

- unpledged (RR – 0.0%) - - - 77 9 881 442
Amounts due from credit institutions (RR – 
2.5%) - - - 125 801 1 320 397
Financial assets available-for-sale (RR – 0.0%) - 6 168 - - 6 365
Loans to customers (RR – 11.0%, Foreign 
Currency – 9.0%) 618 801 - 7 293 - 3 166 324
Other assets  10 - 5 - 246 425
      
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss 

- derivative liabilities 10 223 -
 

- 25 35 195
Amounts due to credit institutions (RR – 0.0%, 
Foreign Currency – 0.0%) - - - 7 647 3 983 497
Amounts due to customers (RR – 0.0%, Foreign 
Currency – 0.0%) 26 074  - 29 - 7 898 868
Debt securities issued (Foreign Currency – 6.0%) 1 146 210 - - - 4 913 440
Other liabilities 10 - - - 180 102
Guarantees issued 2 897 - - 35 917 38 814
  
 

*group NBT represents companies which are under common control with the Group, i.e. National Bank TRUST and 
its subsidiaries. 
 
The existing accounting system of the Group does not accumulate the amounts of income and expense from related 
party transactions. 
 
During the period ended December 31, 2007 the total remuneration of members of management, including pension 
contributions, and discretionary compensation amounted to RR 288 538 thousand (the year ended December 31, 
2006 - RR 415 307 thousand). 
 
 

31. Capital management 
 

The Group’s lead regulator (the CBR) sets and monitors capital requirements for both the Bank and the Group as a 
whole. 
 
In implementing current capital requirements the CBR requires the Group to maintain the ratio of total capital to 
total risk-weighted assets at or above the minimum level of 10%. The ratio is calculated based on financial 
statements prepared in accordance with Russian Banking Accounting Standards (RBAS) and the risk weighting is 
determined in accordance with the CBR’s credit risk ratios specific for individual classes of assets. The Group was 
in compliance with the statutory capital ratio during the years ended 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2007. 
 

(End) 
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